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key accomplishments at a glance 

safety: to be a safety leader

• Safety lead/lag ratio target exceeded (ratio of safety observations to incidents).

• Lost-time injuries reduced 50% over 2010.

• Safe Workplace Observation Program (SWOP) reporting reached 6,883 SWOPs.

• Hydro’s Work Protection Code implemented and 100% of required personnel trained.

environment: to be an environmental leader

• Churchill Falls completed 100% of its Environmental Management System targets 

and milestones.

• takeCHARGE energy efficiency programs resulted in almost seven gigawatt hours 

of energy savings from Hydro retail customers and its own facilities.

Business excellence: through operational excellence, provide exceptional 
value to all consumers of our energy

• Implemented new asset management plan and structure.

• Hydro achieved almost 98% winter availability for key electricity generating assets. 

• Hydro achieved overall customer satisfaction rating of 92%, up from 91% in 2009.

• Long-term plan started in Churchill Falls for the renewal of production assets.

• The White Rose Growth Project – North Amethyst field commenced production 

from the first of its subsea wells. 

• Completed drilling of two onshore exploration wells in Parsons Pond, reaching a 

record depth of 3,160 metres.

• Arrangements concluded to develop the Muskrat Falls generating facility, the 

Labrador-Island Transmission Link and the Maritime Link, including execution of 

a Term Sheet with Emera.

• Initialled the Lower Churchill Impacts and Benefits Agreement and Upper Churchill 

Redress with the Innu Nation of Labrador. 

people: to ensure a highly skilled and motivated team of employees who 
are committed to nalcor energy’s success and future direction

• Signed collective agreements with International Brotherhood of Electrical 

Workers Locals 1615 (Hydro) and 2351 (Churchill Falls).

• Achieved 3.74 Employee Opinion Score, exceeding the target score of 3.65.

• Employee recognition programs resulted in 2,400 peer recognitions and 11 

employees presented with prestigious President’s Awards. 

• Rolled out new Code of Conduct and Business Ethics policy across the company.

community: to be a valued corporate citizen in newfoundland and labrador

• Awarded over $40,000 in scholarships to Newfoundland and Labrador youth.

• Nalcor and Hydro made major financial commitments to the Libra House 

emergency shelter, Ronald McDonald House Newfoundland and Labrador, 

provincial winter games and many other charitable organizations.

• Employees donated more than $50,000 to charitable organizations, supported by 

the company’s Employee Matching and Volunteer Contribution Programs.

nalcorenergy.com
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*

legend 
Hydroelectric 
Generation Station 

Thermal Plant

Diesel Plant

Wind Generation

Industrial Fabrication 

Offshore and Onshore 
Oil Projects

* Operated under license from the 
Government of Newfoundland 
and Labrador

key financial highlights

Years ended December 31 (millions of dollars)	 2010	 2009

Revenues		 620.1		 572.6

Net	income	 77.5			 60.0

Capital	assets,	net	 2,237.9	 2,095.5

Long-term	debt	 1,136.7		 1,141.6

Shareholder’s	equity	 1,265.4	 1,142.0

Dividends	 -	 	 -

Capital	Expenditures	 196.3		 178.1

Debt	to	capital	 42.5%	 46.7%

Return	on	capital	employed	 8.7%	 7.7%

Funds	from	operations	to	debt	 13.6%	 10.2%

Vision: Our vision is to build a strong economic future for successive 

generations of Newfoundlanders and Labradorians. 

Values: At Nalcor Energy, our employees share a set of values that shape 

how we do business every day. Our core values set common direction on 

how to make decisions with a sense of pride and leadership. We recognize 

that it is not only what we achieve, but how we achieve it that truly makes 

us proud of our accomplishments. We believe our core values develop a 

culture based on high standards and expectations. We feel empowered to 

challenge the norms and seize new opportunities while working towards  

our corporate vision. 

Nalcor Energy is a proud, diverse energy company, whose people are 

committed to building a bright future for Newfoundland and Labrador, unified 

by our core values. 

Open communication - Fostering an environment where information moves 

freely in a timely manner

accountability - Holding ourselves responsible for our actions and performance

safety - Relentless commitment to protecting ourselves, our colleagues and 

our community

honesty and trust - Being sincere in everything we say and do

teamwork - Sharing our ideas in an open and supportive manner to 

achieve excellence

Respect and Dignity - Appreciating the individuality of others by our words 

and actions

leadership - Empowering individuals to help guide and inspire others
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Message froM the Chair

2010 was a year of important milestones for nalcor energy, from first oil 

from the White Rose Growth project — north amethyst field to finalizing 

an agreement that will result in significant growth of our renewable 

energy portfolio. our safety performance also improved over 2009. 

nalcor’s Board of directors is committed to continuing to build a strong 

and sustainable company — one that is well-positioned to meet our 

vision to build a strong economic future for successive generations of 

newfoundlanders and labradorians. 

the Board continues to focus on our business excellence and growth 

initiatives. this is exemplified by the decision to proceed with phase 1 

of the lower churchill project, Muskrat Falls, plus the labrador-island 

transmission link and the Maritime transmission link, including the 

execution of a term sheet with emera. 

 

as nalcor pursues new opportunities in the energy sector, one of the Board’s roles is to establish acceptable levels 

of risk. prudent risk management is a key component of nalcor’s business operations and decisions are considered 

using a risk management framework whereby business risks are continually assessed and practices refined. in 2010, 

the Board approved a five-year enterprise Risk Management plan for nalcor, which includes the endorsement of a 

framework that will be consistent with the iso/csa 3100 Risk Management – principles and Guidelines standard. 

Reinforcing the company’s strong governance foundation remains a priority for the Board. throughout the year, the 

Board reviewed nalcor’s future operations plans and provided guidance through the audit, corporate Governance, 

compensation and, safety, Health and environment committees.

in 2010, the Board adopted the code of Business conduct and ethics for employees to reinforce the company’s 

commitment to professional and ethical business practices. nalcor’s reputation rests on the confidence and trust 

customers, government and the public have that nalcor’s employees and directors will conduct themselves to the 

highest standards of integrity and professionalism. the code guides how those relationships are managed through 

sound business practices and respectable behaviour. While reaching business goals is critical to success, how they 

are achieved is equally important. 

on March 30, 2011, i stepped down as chair of the Board of directors. i thank my colleagues for their hard work and 

support over the last three years. i thank our management team and all nalcor employees for their efforts. the nalcor 

team is highly capable, energized and committed to the goals and priorities of the company. to our shareholder, the 

province of newfoundland and labrador, the Board thanks you for your confidence and continued support.

the next few years will be exciting for nalcor, but not without its challenges and risks; and the Board is committed 

to providing sound governance and leadership. 

John Ottenheimer
chair, Board of directors



nalcor energy’s corporate strategy sets the stage 

for performance and guides our direction year 

over year. our long-term vision has proven to be 

a successful guide for our company. each year 

we set challenging, yet achievable targets to 

leverage our strengths and grow our business for 

newfoundlanders and labradorians. 

our corporate strategy focuses on five key areas. 

We want to improve our safety, environmental and 

operational performance, grow a team of skilled 

employees and contribute to our communities in a 

meaningful way. through our corporate goals, we 

drive performance excellence from both our lines of 

business and our functional support teams. 

Driven by Safety 
nalcor’s relentless commitment to safety is the 

true passion of our lines of business. our pursuit 

of safety excellence encompasses the safety of our 

employees, contractors and the general public. 

safety reporting continued to increase in 2010. We also 

achieved a 50 per cent reduction in lost-time injuries, 

and the severity of these injuries dropped almost  

50 per cent — to a rate below the previous five-

year average. i believe this can be attributed 

to how deeply safety has become rooted in our 

organization — how safety has become personal to 

everyone from our leaders to front-line workers and 

their families. We are making progress throughout 

nalcor to build a world-class safety culture. We  

have seen encouraging results from the safety 

culture survey that demonstrates we are headed in 

the right direction, but i believe there is still room 

for improvement and we will continue pushing for 

zero harm. 

Building for the Future 
nalcor manages and operates a large asset base 

and our current operations and growth plans are 

anchored in our asset management framework. 

in 2010, we implemented a new organizational 

plan and a dedicated office for asset management, 

which are essential components for nalcor to 

continue meeting the demands of our customers 

and stakeholders. 

in 2010, we also celebrated a historical milestone. 

the White Rose Growth project — north amethyst 

field, in which nalcor has a five per cent working 

interest, commenced production from the first of its 

subsea wells. We will continue to re-invest a portion 

of our oil and gas revenues in onshore and offshore 

exploration based on our tolerance for risk, prudent 

planning and accepted industry principles. these 

investments are being made for the long-term 

benefit of our province.

Our People: The Energy Behind our Energy
our employees are vital to our success. that is true 

of all businesses, but it is especially important in an 

energy company like ours, with a valuable, wide 

base of assets that must be managed over a long 

period by highly-skilled workers. 

in the fall of 2010, we reached four-year agreements 

with both our international Brotherhood of electrical 

Workers locals 1615 and 2351, representing 

employees from our Hydro and churchill Falls lines of 

Message froM the Ceo
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business. their members, the majority of our front-

line employees, are critical to the success of our 

operations and we value their continued commitment. 

leadership training continues to be an area of focus 

for nalcor. Just as it is critical to maintain our physical 

assets, we also need to support and grow our 

people. the talent and dedication of our employees 

is something i take pride in. 

as we grow, our employees know the importance of 

not only building a strong company, but also strong 

communities. through our community investment 

program, nalcor and Hydro continued to give back 

to our communities supporting a variety of groups 

and organizations. We also increased our focus on 

our employees volunteer efforts and donations 

throughout the year. 

Powering our Province 
in 2010 we announced our decision to proceed 

with the phase 1 of the lower churchill project, 

Muskrat Falls, plus the labrador-island transmission 

link and the Maritime transmission link, including 

the execution of a term sheet with emera. nalcor 

completed substantial work and analysis on the project 

and we are confident this is the least-cost, long-term 

option for meeting our growing provincial electricity 

demand. With the displacement of oil-fired electricity 

from the Holyrood Generating station, the province  

will be powered by 98 per cent stable, clean 

renewable energy — a claim that can be made by 

few areas around the world.  

For 40 years, the Holyrood plant has played a critical 

role in meeting the island’s electricity needs, and 

it will continue to do so until around 2020 when 

it will no longer generate electricity or emissions. 

the plant is the workplace for over 100 employees 

who have been dedicated to providing power for 

the province. as we transition to electricity from  

the lower churchill development, we are committed 

to working with our staff in Holyrood to ensure 

that any impacts are minimized. together we will 

reach solutions that work for our employees and  

the company. 

the province’s energy plan was clear that we would 

seek long-term rate stability for electricity consumers 

and acquire a secure and environmentally-friendly 

source of electricity. the development of Muskrat 

Falls accomplishes this. it will provide long-term rate 

stability, avoiding the volatility of oil-fired power 

generated at Holyrood. 

in addition, the economic benefits to the province 

from the project are substantial. during construction, 

the Muskrat Falls development will see significant 

employment, more than 75 per cent of which 

will take place directly in labrador. the Benefits 

strategy for the project provides first consideration 

to members of labrador’s innu nation, then qualified 

residents of labrador and then people from other 

areas of the province. We are committed to using the 

Benefits strategy to guide and ensure the successful 

development of the lower churchill project in the 

best interest of our province.

Looking Ahead 
i thank the Board of directors, our shareholder, 

particularly the department of natural Resources. on 

March 30, 2011, Mr. John ottenheimer stepped down 

as chair of the Board of directors. i thank him for 

his contribution to our company and the province. i 

look forward to 2011 as we continue to build on our 

accomplishments in 2010.

Ed Martin
president and ceo



Focused on sustainable growth, the company is 

leading the development of the province’s energy 

resources and has a corporate-wide framework 

which facilitates the prudent management of its 

assets while continuing an unwavering focus on the 

safety of its workers and the public.

nalcor has five lines of business: newfoundland 

and labrador Hydro, churchill Falls, lower churchill 

project, oil and Gas and Bull arm Fabrication. 

Newfoundland and Labrador Hydro
as the province’s main electricity provider, Hydro 

is focused on providing a safe, reliable and 

cost-effective electricity supply to meet current 

electricity needs and accommodate future growth. 

Hydro’s primary business is to generate and deliver 

electricity in newfoundland and labrador to utility, 

industrial, residential and commercial customers in 

over 200 communities across the province.

Churchill Falls
nalcor’s flagship operation in churchill Falls is one of 

the largest underground hydroelectric powerhouses 

in the world with a rated capacity of 5,428 megawatts. 

the churchill Falls generating station provides clean, 

renewable electricity to millions of consumers 

throughout north america. a significant portion 

of that electricity is being sold to Hydro-Québec 

through a long-term power purchase agreement 

with additional sales to Hydro and twin Falls power 

corporation to meet the needs of residential and 

industrial customers on the labrador interconnected 

electricity system.

nalcor energy’s business includes the 

development, generation, transmission 

and sale of electricity; the exploration, 

development, production and sale of 

oil and gas; industrial fabrication; and  

energy marketing. 

Corporate profile
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churchill Falls focuses on safety excellence, delivering 

reliable electricity to customers and ensuring future 

generations benefit from this world-class resource 

through long-term asset management.

Oil and Gas
nalcor is currently a partner in three developments in 

the newfoundland and labrador offshore oil and gas 

industry: the Hebron oil field, the province’s fourth 

offshore oil project; the White Rose Growth project; 

and the Hibernia southern extension. nalcor is also 

the majority owner and operator of an onshore 

exploration program on the province’s west coast.

Lower Churchill Project
the lower churchill project is the most attractive 

undeveloped hydroelectric project in north america 

and is a key component of the province’s energy 

warehouse. the project’s two proposed installations 

at Muskrat Falls and Gull island will have a combined 

capacity of over 3,000 megawatts and can provide 

16.7 terawatt hours of electricity per year. the clean, 

stable, renewable electricity 

provides the opportunity 

for the province to meet its 

own domestic and industrial 

needs in an environmentally-

sustainable way, and also 

export electricity to other 

jurisdictions where the 

demand for clean, renewable 

energy continues to grow. 

Bull Arm Fabrication
the Bull arm Fabrication site is atlantic canada’s 

largest fabrication site.  close to international shipping 

lanes and europe, this site has unobstructed, deep 

water access to the atlantic ocean. this world-class 

facility spans over 2,560 hectares and has integrated 

and comprehensive infrastructure to support 

fabrication and assembly in three project areas 

simultaneously, in three separate theatres: topsides 

Fabrication and assembly; drydock Fabrication and 

construction; and the deepwater site.
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For more than 50 years, Hydro employees have been 

keeping the lights on for newfoundlanders and 

labradorians. it is no small feat operating diverse 

electricity assets spread across a broad geographic 

area, including hydroelectric plants, a large oil-

fired plant, gas turbines, 22 isolated diesel systems 

and thousands of kilometres of transmission 

and distribution lines. Hydro also maintains the 

communication and control systems that manage 

these assets. 

to ensure a safe and reliable electricity system, 

Hydro makes significant investments annually 

in the provincial electricity grid — investing over 

$55 million in 2010. the company maintains the 

operation of its electricity infrastructure through 

routine maintenance, and replacing or upgrading 

aging assets. these investments are made in concert 

with Hydro’s comprehensive, long-term asset 

management strategy.

a key corporate measure of performance and 

reliability for Hydro’s generating assets is availability 

during the winter season. in 2010, the island 

generating facilities achieved almost 98 per cent 

winter availability. strategic investments, combined 

with ongoing replacement of aging insulators and 

wood pole management program directly benefited 

consumers. this was evident in september, when 

hurricane igor caused destruction across much of the 

island of newfoundland. although the magnitude of 

igor’s impact was substantial, Hydro’s assets and 

customers were minimally impacted.  

in an effort to eliminate electrical contacts by heavy 

equipment operators and members of the public, the 

most significant public exposure related to Hydro’s 

electricity facilities, the company continued to educate 

the public about the hazards of electrical contacts. 

in 2010, Hydro, in conjunction with newfoundland 

power, developed a power line hazards information 

booklet for employers that work around power lines. 

Hydro also continued its public safety campaign 

Back it up and website, Hydrosafety.ca, which helps 

people make safer decisions at work and home.

Hydro forecasts provincial electricity requirements 

and advances the long-term, least-cost option to meet 

Hydro ensures there is a safe, reliable and 

cost-effective electricity supply to meet 

current demand and future growth for 

newfoundland and labrador.

NewfouNdlaNd  
aNd labrador hydro
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these requirements. in 2015, 

the island of newfoundland 

will reach a capacity deficit 

and reserve capacity will fall 

below the minimum level 

set by Hydro to ensure an 

adequate electricity supply 

to meet firm demand on the 

island. Hydro evaluated the 

options for new generation 

sources to avoid this deficit and the development of 

Muskrat Falls with a transmission link from labrador 

to the island was determined to be the least-cost, 

long-term option for electricity consumers.

the company is also investigating renewable 

energy sources for diesel communities. in late 2010, 

the Government of newfoundland and labrador 

announced $2.5 million to further study small-scale 

hydroelectric projects for some labrador coastal 

communities. over the next two years, Hydro 

will complete further analysis of potential hydro 

generation sites in this region.

2010 was also the first full year of activity for the 

takecHaRGe energy efficiency program, which 

provides rebates for eneRGY staR® windows, 

insulation and thermostat upgrades and commercial 

lighting. Hydro also launched its industrial energy 

efficiency program, providing a customized approach 

to energy savings for industrial customers, and took 

steps to create energy savings in its own facilities. 

Hydro’s energy conservation programs resulted in 

almost seven gigawatt hours of energy savings from 

Hydro retail customers and its own facilities in 2010.  

over the past six years, Hydro has maintained 

a consistently high customer satisfaction rating, 

and was 92 per cent in 2010. Bills that are easy to  

read, concern for public safety, and friendly and 

courteous employees were noted as the top three 

strengths for customer satisfaction in 2010. this 

feedback helps Hydro focus on those areas most 

important to customers to ensure a high level of 

customer satisfaction.

Hydro’s commitment to its customers extends 

beyond customer service and into the community. 

Hydro’s community investment program is part of 

its commitment to help sustain vibrant and healthy 

communities. an example is Hydro’s investment of 

$180,000 to libra House, an emergency crisis shelter 

in Happy Valley-Goose Bay for women and children. 

Hydro, and its parent company nalcor, also awarded 

over $40,000 in scholarships in 2010 to help young 

people pursue higher education. 
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in 2011, churchill Falls will celebrate 40 years of 

electricity generation. the commitment of churchill 

Falls today continues to be a focus on safety 

excellence, asset management and environmental 

stewardship. this dedication ensures future 

generations benefit from this resource. 

With the churchill Falls generating plant and related 

infrastructure approaching 40 years of operation, 

rigorous asset management is critical to keep the 

aging assets in quality operating condition. this will 

ensure quality service for the long-term and that 

assets are fully functional well beyond the expiry of 

the power purchase agreement in 2041. 

the company’s strategy is focused on continued 

performance through comprehensive planning and 

strategic investment. churchill Falls has completed a 

long-term asset plan for capital investment based on 

thorough assessments of asset condition, operating 

and maintenance experience, and other key 

inputs. the strategy reflects the plant’s operating 

requirements. in 2011, churchill Falls will develop  

and refresh its five-year capital plan and complete 

planned asset investments.

2010 marked an important achievement for churchill 

Falls as the company made its final debt repayment 

for the original $1 billion construction costs in 

1969. the company will now focus funds on capital 

improvements to upgrade the facility and ensure its 

continued safe and reliable operation. 

on the environmental front, for the past 10 years, 

iso 14001 certified environmental Management 

systems (eMs) have governed the environmental 

activities of the churchill Falls operations. each year, 

the company identifies opportunities for continual 

improvement of its environmental performance and 

establishes targets and milestones to accomplish this 

work. in 2010, for a third consecutive year, churchill  

Falls successfully completed 100 per cent of its eMs 

targets and milestones. 

the churchill Falls Generating station is one 

of the largest underground powerhouses 

in the world. on average, every year, the 

facility generates over 34 terawatt hours of 

energy. this power is used by millions of 

consumers in north america. 

ChurChill falls
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While generation of reliable electricity is essential 

year round at churchill Falls, november to March 

is a critical operating period. in 1998, churchill 

Falls entered into a Guaranteed Winter availability 

contract (GWac) with Hydro-Québec to supplement 

revenue from the 1969 power contract. the 

GWac requirements are in addition to the original 

requirements of the power contract and the power 

used to supply customers in labrador. in 2010, 

churchill Falls achieved a five-month average of  

95 per cent of maximum additional revenue. this 

was less than one year after repairs were made as a 

result of significant damage to two generating units 

from a cable fire in late-2008.

under the terms of the 1969 power contract, a 

significant amount of the energy from the churchill 

Falls facility is sold to Hydro-Québec. presently 

the purchase price under the power contract is  

one-quarter of one cent per kilowatt hour and the 

automatic renewal clause fixes the purchase price at 

one-fifth of one cent for the 25-year period beginning 

in 2016. this will mean, for the remainder of the 

contract, power will be sold to Hydro-Québec for less 

than five per cent of its recent commercial value. 

in 2009, churchill Falls 

(labrador) corporation  

(cF(l)co) formally  requested 

that Hydro-Québec enter 

into discussions to amend 

the pricing terms for the 

remainder of the 1969 

power contract. Hydro-

Québec did not respond 

and therefore, in early 2010  

cF(l)co filed a motion against Hydro-Québec in 

Québec superior court seeking to change, as of 

november 2009, the pricing terms for the remaining 

term of the power contract. it is the position of  

cF(l)co that the change in circumstances since the 

original contract was signed has resulted in a gross 

inequity in the distribution of contractual benefits. 

cF(l)co believes this situation, combined with the 

obligation under the Québec civil code to act in 

good faith throughout the term of a contract, obliges 

Hydro-Québec to renegotiate the terms of the 

contract to re-establish the equilibrium of benefits. 

court has set a trial date of fall 2013.
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nalcor has a working interest in two other offshore 

developments — the Hebron oil field, holding a 4.9 

per cent working interest, and the Hibernia southern 

extension, with a 10 per cent working interest in the 

subsea tie-back project. nalcor also has an average 

of 67 per cent gross working interest in three onshore 

exploration permits in the parsons pond area, on the 

island’s West coast. 

in addition to the economic value provided through 

equity ownership, nalcor’s joint venture participation 

provides knowledge, insight and influence that 

ensures alignment between the provincial interest 

and project partners. throughout the life of each 

project, nalcor will work through its rights under 

joint venture agreements to pursue issues of interest 

to the company and the province, and establish 

work plans and budgets that preserve key project 

milestones and economic value.

in 2010, nalcor completed the drilling of two 

onshore exploration wells in the parsons pond area 

— seamus and Finnegan, and completed testing 

of the seamus well. nalcor encountered natural 

gas during drilling on both wells and gathered 

one of the most extensive datasets that exists in 

the province’s onshore, drilling to a record depth 

of 3,160 metres. in February 2011, nalcor and its 

partners announced their intention not to drill 

the planned third well. analysis of both well and 

seismic data indicated that similar results were most 

likely and that limited additional information about 

this area’s oil potential would be revealed. nalcor 

achieved its main objective in this program, to 

gain valuable information from this basin to enable 

further insight and assessment of the geology and 

petroleum potential of the area. 

on May 31, 2010, the White Rose Growth 

project — north amethyst field, in which 

nalcor energy has a five per cent working 

interest, commenced production from the 

first of its subsea wells. First oil at north 

amethyst is a significant achievement for 

nalcor and the province, and establishes 

the company as an emerging state-owned 

upstream oil and gas player in the atlantic 

continental margin. 

oil aNd gas



the program was completed without any major 

safety incidents and nalcor maintained the highest 

environmental standards, taking the necessary 

precautions to protect the environment in the 

drilling areas. 

oil and gas exploration represents the first piece of 

the petroleum value chain that, when successful, 

can lead to significant discoveries. the availability 

of quality well and seismic data is a critical step 

to exploration and is required to understand 

the prospectivity of the province’s onshore and  

offshore basins. 

in late 2010, nalcor announced it is undertaking a 

regional oil seep mapping and interpretation study 

of offshore newfoundland and labrador. the data 

acquired is valuable in detecting natural seepage and 

discovering potential new exploration areas. seep 

detection is a cost-effective tool to assist in analyzing 

the prospectivity for both under-explored and mature 

offshore basins, and to help focus future exploration 

efforts. the study will cover all offshore areas of 

newfoundland and labrador, linking into southwest 

Greenland. Where natural oil seeps are found, seismic 

data gathering can be targeted, reducing the geologic 

uncertainty and reducing 

overall exploration risk.

nalcor’s goal is to maximize 

the benefits of the oil and 

gas opportunities and 

resources in the province. 

the company’s strategy 

includes re-investment of a 

portion of its revenues from 

oil and gas investments in onshore and offshore 

exploration based on tolerance for risk, prudent 

planning and accepted industry principles. nalcor’s 

exploration activities are focused on facilitating and 

advancing oil and gas exploration in newfoundland 

and labrador, and hopefully, increased exploration 

activity will ultimately lead to the next major 

resource discoveries. 

the province’s oil and gas industry is experiencing 

a period of expansion; however, more investment 

in the industry is needed to arrest the inevitable 

decline of current production. nalcor’s investment 

will help determine the resource potential available 

in the province and ensure it is harnessed for the 

future benefit of newfoundlanders and labradorians.
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in 2010, nalcor energy progressed the lower  

churchill project, reaching several milestones. like 

any project of this magnitude, there are many 

components to be addressed: aboriginal affairs, 

environmental assessment, engineering, financing 

and market access. 

in november 2010, nalcor announced its decision to 

proceed with phase one of the lower churchill project, 

Muskrat Falls, the labrador-island transmission link 

and the Maritime transmission link to nova scotia, 

including the execution of a term sheet with emera. 

nalcor and emera expect final legal agreements will 

be signed by the end of 2011.

the Muskrat Falls generation facility and the labrador-

island transmission link have been identified by 

Hydro as providing the least-cost alternative for 

meeting provincial electricity demand and long-

term rate stability. not only will the project meet 

the province’s own electricity needs, the Maritime 

transmission link provides nalcor with access to 

markets outside the province to monetize electricity 

that is not required to meet domestic demand.  

in 2010, nalcor, the Government of newfoundland 

and labrador, innu nation and innu Band councils 

initialled the lower churchill impacts and Benefits 

agreement (iBa) and upper churchill Redress 

agreement. in March 2011, the federal government 

and innu nation reached a financial agreement, 

marking a significant step forward in reaching a land 

claims agreement for the innu; and a step towards 

the ratification process for the iBa.

in early 2010, nalcor, the provincial and federal 

governments, and labrador’s three aboriginal 

groups, established the labrador aboriginal training 

partnership, contributing $30 million to support 

training initiatives of aboriginal groups who are 

currently under-represented in the workforce. there 

is a need for a skilled labour force for the lower 

churchill project and other major projects in the 

province. this partnership will help build stronger, 

more sustainable communities throughout labrador. 

the churchill River in labrador is a significant 

source of renewable, clean electricity. 

the energy from the Muskrat Falls and 

Gull island generating sites will meet 

newfoundland and labrador’s electricity 

needs and enable the province to benefit 

from the export of power.

lower ChurChill 
projeCt
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significant progress was also made in the 

environmental assessment (ea) process for the 

generation project — consisting of Muskrat Falls 

and Gull island. in 2009, following consultations 

throughout the province, nalcor submitted the 

environmental impact statement for the lower 

churchill Hydroelectric Generation project. in January 

2011, the Joint Review panel, an independent 

body appointed by both provincial and federal 

governments to carry out the ea process, announced 

it would proceed to public panel hearings for the 

generation project. the 45-day public hearings, 

administered by the panel, commenced on March 3 

and recommendations are expected in 2011.

 

significant engineering work has also been 

completed for the generation project and labrador-

island transmission link. in late 2010, nalcor selected 

snc-lavalin for the engineering, procurement 

and construction management for the Muskrat 

Falls generating facility and the labrador-island 

transmission link. the contract aligns with the project’s 

Benefits strategy, which ensures newfoundlanders 

and labradorians are the primary beneficiaries of the 

lower churchill project.

in addition to the Maritime transmission link, nalcor 

also continues to advance market access to the 

Hydro-Québec transmission 

system for exporting excess 

power. as a result of a 

refusal of nalcor’s 2006 

application to Hydro-Québec 

transÉnergie to export 

power across the Québec 

transmission system, nalcor 

filed complaints with the 

Régie de l’énergie (Régie) 

based on the principles of open access and non-

discrimination. in May 2010, following the hearings, 

the Régie ruled solely in favour of Hydro-Québec, 

nalcor appealed the decision. in april 2011, the Régie 

upheld the May 2010 decision to deny transmission 

access across the Québec transmission system to 

newfoundland and labrador. nalcor is reviewing this 

decision and assessing its options. this decision has 

no implications for phase one of the lower churchill 

project, however, is one of the key considerations for 

phase two, Gull island.

the benefits of the lower churchill project for the 

province are significant.  in 2011, nalcor will continue 

to progress both phase one, Muskrat Falls, and phase 

two, Gull island, of the lower churchill project.
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throughout 2010, Bull arm Fabrication continued 

its focus on safety and maintenance, asset 

management and environmental stewardship. a 

cornerstone of nalcor energy and its lines of business 

is a commitment to asset management. during the 

year, Bull arm Fabrication took steps to ensure the 

continued performance of the Bull arm site through 

its asset management processes and strategic 

investment. Maintaining assets at the Bull arm site 

is critical to ensure the continued success of the site 

over the longer-term.

in 2010, Bull arm Fabrication entered into lease 

finalization discussions with exxonMobil canada 

properties (exxonMobil canada) for the Bull arm site. 

When the lease is finalized and Hebron activities 

begin, the plan is for exxonMobil canada to use the 

site from 2011 to 2017 for construction, integration 

and commissioning of the Gravity Base structure for 

the Hebron project, the province’s fourth offshore 

oil project. these negotiations are focused on 

establishing lease arrangements that will facilitate 

the success of the Hebron project and support the 

long-term success of the Bull arm site.  

extensive preparations took place throughout 

2010 at the Bull arm site to ensure it is ready 

to accommodate the Hebron project. ongoing 

maintenance and site clean-up were a priority, and 

two public auctions were held in 2010 to remove 

excess materials from the site. in addition to the sale 

of goods through the auction, Bull arm Fabrication 

donated surplus materials to local communities, 

schools and fire departments. donations made to 

volunteer fire departments in sunnyside, norman’s 

cove, swift current and north Harbour included 

the Bull arm Fabrication site, the largest 

industrial fabrication site in atlantic 

canada, is an important asset for industrial 

development in newfoundland and 

labrador. the site has played a key role 

in advancing the province’s fabrication 

capability through participation in major 

projects, including the Hibernia, terra nova 

and White Rose oil projects.

bull arM 
fabriCatioN
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an ambulance, bunker suits and various safety and 

health-related equipment. 

like all nalcor companies, Bull arm Fabrication 

is committed to supporting its neighbouring 

communities and is proud to contribute to local 

events, schools and organizations throughout the 

year.  in august 2010, employees joined the town 

of southern Harbour for a clean-up of Bottom Beach. 

close to 30 people, including nalcor volunteers and 

members of the community, demonstrated their 

commitment to environmental conservation and 

preserving the beauty of newfoundland’s coastline. 

While nalcor will obtain value from the Bull arm site 

during the lease period with exxonMobil canada, the 

company is also driving to enhance the asset during 

and beyond the lease period. 

over the next seven years, nalcor will establish  

and implement processes to monitor key lease 

obligations related to asset management and 

environmental protection.

nalcor is focused on 

utilization of the Bull 

arm site during the short 

to medium-term for the 

Hebron project. 2011 will be 

a transition year at the Bull 

arm site when exxonMobil 

canada is scheduled to  

assume operations of the  

site for the duration of the 

Hebron construction period. nalcor is committed to 

working cooperatively with exxonMobil canada and 

ensuring a smooth transition of site operatorship.  

in addition to managing the lease with exxonMobil 

canada for the Hebron project, nalcor will also 

continue to advance its long-term strategy for Bull 

arm Fabrication. the strategy will position the site 

to maximize the benefits to the province from future 

construction and fabrication projects in newfoundland 

and labrador and around the world. 
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Energy Marketing 
in 2009, nalcor established an energy marketing 

team to sell electricity from existing and future 

developments and build expertise in competitive 

energy markets in canada and the united states. the 

current portfolio includes recall power not required 

by Hydro to meet demand in labrador. in 2010, 

nalcor’s energy marketing focus was maximizing 

the value of current assets, building reputation and 

expertise and positioning the team to meet nalcor’s 

longer-term energy marketing needs.

nalcor’s energy portfolio will continue to grow over 

the coming years with the development of the lower 

churchill project and increased production from 

nalcor’s offshore oil and gas interests. nalcor will 

continue to develop its energy marketing capability 

and pursue opportunities to increase overall value of 

its current portfolio. 

Exploits Generation
since december 2008, nalcor has managed and 

operated the hydroelectric facilities on the exploits 

River on behalf of the provincial government. 

nalcor’s focus at exploits Generation is to ensure 

a smooth transition of the hydroelectric assets. 

Key elements of this transition are a commitment 

to safety, the environment and operational 

performance of these assets. significant progress 

was achieved across all these areas in 2010. 

exploits Generation employees worked throughout 

the year with no recordable safety incidents or 

injuries — a safety milestone also achieved by 

several other areas across nalcor. as well, gap 

analyses were completed and actions identified 

for the implementation of nalcor’s Work protection 

code, iso 14001 environmental Management 

system and asset management plan. in conjunction 

with ongoing analysis and capital reinvestment 

planning, these activities will lay the foundation for 

long-term success of the facility.

in 2010, nalcor continued execution of the highly 

successful exploits River salmon Management 

program. this past year saw record returns of 

atlantic salmon, with over 45,000 adult salmon 

passing through the fish ladder at Bishop’s Falls.

in addition to nalcor energy’s five lines 

of business, the company is involved in 

other energy activities and opportunities, 

including energy marketing, non-regulated 

electricity generation, wind energy and 

research and development.

other eNergy 
aCtivities



Menihek Generation
in 2010, nalcor’s continued 

safety training and 

environmental management 

work with its operating 

contractor resulted in a full 

year of no recordable safety 

incidents or injuries. the 

company also completed 

all of its environmental 

initiatives for 2010 identified in the 2008 

environmental audit for Menihek. 

nalcor applies the iso 14001 environmental 

Management system (eMs) to its Hydro and churchill 

Falls subsidiaries to drive continual improvement of 

the company’s environmental performance. nalcor is 

also committed to the use of the eMs for its other lines 

of business. in 2010, a gap analysis was completed 

for Menihek operations and actions were identified 

for the implementation of nalcor’s eMs.

Wind-Hydrogen-Diesel Energy Project
While the province has an abundance of renewable 

resources, many coastal isolated communities rely 

on diesel-fueled generation systems for electricity 

generation. in its efforts to reduce reliance on fuel-

fired generation, nalcor has built one of the first 

projects in the world to integrate generation from 

wind, hydrogen and diesel in an isolated electricity 

system. the Wind-Hydrogen-diesel energy project in 

Ramea is a research and development project that 

uses renewable energy sources to supplement the 

diesel requirements of the island community. 

this unique project has attracted attention from 

around the world, and in 2010, nalcor, in conjunction 

with the north atlantic Hydrogen association, hosted 

an international conference. Following a one-day 

wind-hydrogen workshop, participants travelled  

to Ramea for a tour and demonstration of the  

energy project. 

in 2010, nalcor completed the construction of the 

project; individually commissioned all equipment 

and continued to design and build the energy 

Management system. this system will automatically 

control and monitor the equipment to safely and 

reliably deliver electricity to customers in Ramea. 

in 2011, final commissioning will be completed and 

nalcor will embark on the demonstration phase of 

the project. this multi-year phase involves studying 

the operation of the facility, analyzing collected 

data and considering issues around the role this 

technology can play in an isolated electricity system.
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the following discussion and analysis is the 

responsibility of management and is as of 

april 1, 2011.

MaNageMeNt’s 
disCussioN & aNalysis

Nalcor Energy maintains appropriate systems of 

internal control, policies, and procedures that provide 

management with reasonable assurance that assets 

are safeguarded and that its financial information 

is reliable. The Board of Directors carries out its 

responsibility for review of this disclosure principally 

through its Audit Committee, comprised exclusively 

of independent directors. The Audit Committee 

has reviewed and approved this Management’s 

Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This MD&A should 

be read in conjunction with the Consolidated 

Financial Statements of Nalcor Energy (Nalcor, or the 

Corporation) for the years ended and included in this 

Business and Financial Report, as well as the notes, 

for the respective years.

Certain statements in this MD&A are forward-looking 

statements subject to risks and uncertainties. 

Statements containing words such as “could”, 

“expect“, “may“, “anticipate“, “believe“, “intend“, 

“estimate“, “plan“ and similar expressions constitute 

forward-looking statements. These statements are 

based on certain factors and assumptions, including: 

foreign exchange rates, expected growth, results 

of operations, performance and business prospects 

and opportunities. While Nalcor considers these 

factors and assumptions to be reasonable based 

on information currently available, they may prove 

to be incorrect. A number of factors could cause 

actual results to differ materially from those in 

the forward-looking statements, including, but 

not limited to: fluctuations in supply and demand 

in electricity markets, changes in capital markets, 

changes in currency and exchange rates, unexpected 

environmental conditions, fluctuations in future fuel 

and electricity prices, changes in oil reserves and 

government or regulatory policy changes. Nalcor 

assumes no obligation to update or revise any 

forward-looking statements, whether as a result of 

new information, future events or any other reason.
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SECTION 1: CORPORATE OVERVIEW 
 AND STRATEGY

nalcor energy (nalcor or the corporation) is a crown 

corporation that was established in 2007. nalcor’s 

legal structure at december 31, 2010, included 

four wholly-owned subsidiaries, newfoundland 

and labrador Hydro (Hydro), nalcor energy - oil 

and Gas inc. (oil and Gas), nalcor energy - Bull arm 

Fabrication inc. (Bull arm Fabrication or Bull arm) 

and Gull island power corporation (Gipco). Hydro 

holds investments in two entities: 65.8% of churchill 

Falls (labrador) corporation (churchill Falls) and 51% 

of lower churchill development corporation (lcdc). 

churchill Falls holds a 33.3% investment in twin Falls 

power corporation (twin Falls).

nalcor’s business includes the development, 

generation, transmission and sale of electricity; the 

exploration, development, production and sale of oil 

and gas; industrial fabrication; and energy marketing. 

nalcor has implemented a corporate-wide framework 

and organizational design which facilitates prudent, 

safe management and stewardship of its assets.

nalcor’s reporting segments allow senior management 

to evaluate the operational performance and assess 
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the overall contribution of each segment to nalcor’s 

long-term objectives. the following summary 

describes the operations included in each of the 

corporation’s reportable segments.

Hydro Regulated
Hydro Regulated is the regulated portion of Hydro 

that generates, transmits and distributes electricity 

to customers throughout newfoundland and 

labrador. Hydro Regulated ensures there is a safe, 

reliable and cost-effective electricity supply available 

to meet current demand and future growth. Hydro 

Regulated’s operations consist of sales of electricity 

to three primary customer groups:

• newfoundland power, an investor-owned utility 

that distributes electricity to over 243,000 

customers on the island portion of the province, 

with Hydro Regulated supplying 93% of their 

energy requirements comprising 76.8% of 

regulated revenue (2009 - 77.6%).

•  over 36,000 residential and commercial customers 

in rural newfoundland and labrador comprising 

14.4% of regulated revenue (2009 - 13.7%).

•  Major industrial customers primarily in the pulp and 

paper, mining and oil refining industries comprising 

4.5% of regulated revenue (2009 - 4.7%).
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Hydro Regulated is regulated by the newfoundland 

and labrador Board of commissioners of public 

utilities (puB). Rates are set through periodic 

general rate applications using a cost of service (cos) 

methodology whereby Hydro Regulated is entitled to 

recover, through customer rates, all reasonable and 

prudent costs incurred in providing electricity service 

to its customers including a return on rate base. 

in 2009, the Government of newfoundland and 

labrador (Government) issued an order in council 

which provided Hydro Regulated with the ability to 

earn a rate of return equal to the rate approved from 

time to time by the puB for newfoundland power, 

effective following the next general rate application.  

currently, Hydro Regulated earns a return on rate 

base equal to 4.47% for the purpose of determining 

its cost of capital. this level of return is based on a 

previous puB decision which established the return 

on equity (Roe) at a rate equal to the long-term 

marginal cost of debt. Hydro Regulated has not 

yet filed a general rate application to reflect the 

new Roe. the ability to earn a comparable Roe to 

newfoundland power and most regulated utilities 

across canada, in conjunction with the $100 million 

in equity received in 2009, provides a foundation for 

improved future financial performance. 

Hydro Regulated’s generating assets, with a total 

capacity of 1,637 megawatts (MW), consist of nine 

hydroelectric plants (939 MW), one oil-fired plant 

(490 MW), four gas turbines (150 MW) and 25 diesel 

plants (58 MW). in addition, Hydro Regulated has 

entered into a number of power purchase agreements 

with non-utility generators to supplement its own 

generation capacity. 

Hydro Regulated’s business strategy is to manage 

its assets in a manner that optimizes total cost of 

operation and maintenance while delivering safe, 

reliable service.

Churchill Falls
the churchill Falls Generating station is one of the 

largest underground powerhouses in the world with 

a rated capacity of 5,428 MW. a power contract with 

Hydro-Québec dated May 12, 1969, provides for the 

sale of the majority of the electricity from this facility 

[approximately 30 terawatt hours (tWh)] until 2041. 

churchill Falls sells 300 MW annually, the maximum 

provided for under the power contract, to Hydro for 

use in labrador and export sales (recall energy). 

churchill Falls also sells 225 MW (approximately 1.8 

tWh) to twin Falls to service the mining industry 

in labrador West. in addition, churchill Falls earns 

revenues from Hydro-Québec under a Guaranteed 

Winter availability contract (GWac). the GWac was 

signed with Hydro-Québec in 1998 and provides 

additional revenue for the sale of up to 682 MW of 

seasonal availability to Hydro-Québec during the 

months of november through March until the end of 

the power contract in 2041. 

the strategy for churchill Falls focuses on safely 

operating and maintaining its assets to optimize long-

term value while meeting all contractual obligations. 

nalcor, through its subsidiary, Hydro, holds a 65.8% 

interest in churchill Falls, with Hydro-Québec holding 

the remainder. in 1999, as a result of the shareholders’ 

agreement between Hydro, Hydro-Québec and 

churchill Falls, Hydro commenced accounting for  

its investment in churchill Falls as a joint venture  

(see note 2 to the consolidated Financial statements) 

and includes 65.8% of the revenues, expenses,  

assets and liabilities of churchill Falls in the 

consolidated accounts.

Energy Marketing
the revenue and earnings in this segment are derived 

primarily from electricity sales from the portion of the 

300 MW recall energy not required to meet electricity 

needs in labrador. on March 31, 2009, nalcor, 
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through its subsidiary, Hydro, signed a transmission 

service agreement with Hydro-Québec transÉnergie 

(HQt) under HQt’s open access transmission tariff for  

265 MW of long-term electricity transmission capacity 

from labrador through Québec to the canada-united 

states border. under this arrangement, electricity is 

sold on the canadian side of the border to a third-

party energy marketer. nalcor also has arrangements 

to sell electricity directly into the Maritimes. 

Oil and Gas
oil and Gas is a partner in three developments in 

the newfoundland and labrador offshore oil and gas 

industry – the Hebron oil field, the province’s fourth 

offshore oil project, currently in the pre-development 

stage; the White Rose Growth project, which produced 

first oil  from the north amethyst field in May 2010; 

and the Hibernia southern extension unit, which 

is expected to produce first oil in the latter half of 

2011. oil and Gas is also active in exploration, having 

acquired a working interest averaging approximately 

67% in three onshore exploration permits in the 

parsons pond area on the Great northern peninsula.  

in 2010, nalcor completed the drilling of two 

onshore exploration wells in the parsons pond area. 

in February 2011, nalcor and its partners announced 

their intention not to drill the planned third well, 

as analysis of both well and seismic data indicated 

that limited additional information about this area’s 

oil potential would be obtained. oil and Gas will 

continue to assess additional growth opportunities. 

Other
this business segment includes the lower churchill 

hydroelectric development, the most attractive 

undeveloped hydroelectric project in north america. 

its two potential installations at Gull island and 

Muskrat Falls will have a combined capacity of over 

3,000 MW and can provide 16.7 tWh of electricity 

per year. the Bull arm Fabrication site, atlantic 

canada’s largest industrial fabrication site, is also 

included.  this facility spans over 2,560 hectares and 

has an integrated and comprehensive infrastructure 

to support fabrication and assembly. also included 

in this business segment are certain non-regulated 

activities of Hydro including sales to industrial 

customers in labrador, the operations of the Menihek 

Generating station as well as business development 

and corporate activities. 
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SECTION 2: PERFORMANCE

Financial Highlights
this section provides an overview of nalcor’s financial 

performance based on its audited consolidated 

Financial statements.    

 
millions of dollars 2010 2009

revenue  $	 620.1  $  590.1   

expenses  542.6   530.1   

Net income  $		 77.5  $  60.0   

    

Key	Financial	Performance	Indicators	 	 	 	

Cash flow from operations  $	 	146.4  $  116.3 

return on equity  6.4%  5.8%

percentage equity  57.5%  53.3%

return on Capital employed  8.7%  7.7%

    

Description of performance indicators    

Cash flow from operations - Cash flow from operations 
before working Capital adjustments
return on equity (roe) - Net income/average equity  
return on Capital employed (roCe) - Net income plus 
interest/average debt plus equity (adjusted for assets 
under development)
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to 
comply with the current year’s presentation
   

 

overall net income for 2010 was $77.5 million, an 

increase of $17.5 million from the $60.0 million 

reported for 2009. the primary reasons for the 

increase in net income were an increase in energy 

Marketing earnings of $14.9 million, and an increase 

in earnings from the churchill Falls segment of  

$15.1 million. these increases were offset by a 

reduction in earnings from Hydro of $11.4 million 

and an increase in the loss from other activities of  

$1.0 million. these items are outlined below  

and discussed in more detail in the Business  

segment Review.     

• Revenue: Revenue was $620.1 million, an 

increase of $30.0 million in 2010 compared to 

2009, primarily due to increased revenue from 

energy Marketing activities and oil and Gas sales.

• Fuels: Fuel expense was $140.4 million 

compared to $155.2 million in 2009, a decrease 

of $14.8 million, primarily due to fuel price 

adjustments resulting from the Rate stabilization 

plan (Rsp).

• Power purchased: power purchased costs were 

$44.4 million, a decrease of $2.7 million in 2010 

over 2009 costs of $47.1 million, primarily due to 

reduced purchases from non-utility generators.

• Amortization and depletion: amortization and 

depletion was $67.5 million, an increase of  

$12.6 million over 2009. the increase was 

primarily the result of the inclusion of 

$ 12.6

$ 11.3
$ 2.8$ 3.3

$ 60.0

$ 30.0
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depletion expense of $10.6 million in oil and 

Gas commensurate with first oil production. in 

addition, increasing levels of property, plant and 

equipment and marginally higher amortization 

levels each year as a result of the sinking fund 

method of amortization resulted in higher 

amortization expense. 

• Operations and administration: operations and 

administration costs were $182.6 million, an 

increase of $11.3 million over 2009, primarily the 

result of increased transmission rental costs of 

$5.4 million, salary related costs of $4.3 million 

and  oil and Gas production costs of $3.2 million. 

• Other gains and losses: other gains and losses 

include $3.4 million in losses from electricity 

price swaps offset by gains of $0.8 million 

related to foreign exchange forward contracts. 

• Interest and finance charges: interest was 

$105.1 million, an increase of $2.8 million 

compared to $102.3 million in 2009. this 

increase is primarily related to additional 

interest expense due to the balance in the Rsp.

• Capital expenditures: capital expenditures were 

$196.3 million, an increase of $18.2 million over 

2009 levels as depicted below:

   
millions of dollars 2010 2009

oil and gas  $	 82.8  $  82.6 

hydro regulated    55.5    54.1 

Churchill falls (65.8%)   9.9    3.7 

other    48.1    37.7 

 $		 196.3  $  178.1 

the primary reason for the increased expenditures 

relate to the increased capital program in churchill 

Falls and expenditures related to the lower  

churchill project.

cash flow from operations for 2010 was $146.4 million, 

up from $116.3 million, an increase of $30.1 million 

due to increased cash generated from oil and Gas and 

energy Marketing activities. Roe improved due to the 

increase in earnings compared with a slight increase 

in equity. nalcor’s percentage of equity improved 

due to debt repayments and equity injections from 

the Government. Return on capital employed (Roce) 

improved largely due to the impact of increased 

earnings on an average capital employed base that 

increased marginally from the previous year. 

Business Segment Review
in 2010, nalcor reported its financial results in five 

business segments: Hydro Regulated, churchill Falls, 

energy Marketing, oil and Gas and other. these 

business segments include the five lines of business 

of nalcor and are differentiated on the basis of 

regulatory status and management accountability. 

the 2010 financial results by business segment are 

shown in the following table:

segment earnings   

millions of dollars 2010 2009

hydro regulated  $		 6.5  $  17.9 

Churchill falls   26.8    11.7 

energy Marketing   48.9    34.0 

oil and gas   (2.5)   (2.4)

other   (2.2)   (1.2)

total  $		 77.5  $  60.0   



MaNageMeNt’s disCussioN & aNalysis

Hydro Regulated 
the operations of Hydro Regulated are influenced 

by many external factors, primarily, the domestic 

economy, weather patterns and fuel costs. during 

2010, warmer weather and continued contraction in 

the pulp and paper industry resulted in a reduction in 

demand for electricity. 

the demand for electricity is met through a 

combination of hydroelectric generation, thermal 

generation and power purchases including wind 

generation. in addition, Hydro Regulated utilizes 

the Rsp both as a means to smooth rate impacts 

for island electricity consumers and also to protect 

Hydro Regulated’s net income from variations in the 

Holyrood thermal Generating station fuel costs. Fuel 

costs fluctuate as a result of variations in energy 

sales, fuel prices and hydraulic production from the 

levels that were in effect when revenue rates were 

set in 2007. Resulting variations are deferred into the 

Rsp to be collected from, or refunded to, electricity 

consumers in the annual Rsp rate adjustment.

net income for 2010 was $6.5 million, a decrease 

of $11.4 million over the 2009 net income of  

$17.9 million. the factors affecting the 2010 decreased 

earnings are depicted in the following chart: 

   

Revenue by major customer category is outlined 

below:

millions of dollars 2010 2009

Newfoundland power  $		 334.6  $  358.7 

rural customers   62.7    63.3 

industrial customers   19.8    21.8 

interest, finance and other income  18.4    18.6 

total revenue  $		 435.5  $  462.4   

total revenue from newfoundland power decreased 

overall by $24.1 million due to decreased sales 

and a reduction in Rsp recovery. electricity sales to 

newfoundland power decreased by 95 gigawatt 

hours (GWh), mainly as a result of a warmer than 

normal winter resulting in a decrease in revenue of 

$8.1 million. in addition, there was $16.0 million less 

revenue recovered from customers through the Rsp due 

to the reduction in demand and Rsp rate differences.

sales to industrial customers decreased by 25.2 GWh. 

this reduction in energy requirement resulted in a 

$4.7 million reduction in revenue. on the island, sales 

to the pulp and paper industrial sector were down 

due to a reduction in electricity demand from the 

industry. secondary sales to cFB Goose Bay increased 

by 37 GWh resulting in an increase in revenue 

of $2.7 million over 2009 levels. activity at cFB  

$ 26.6
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$ 17.9

$ 17.5

$ 3.1

2009
Segment Earnings

Fuel and Power
Purchased

Operations and
Administration

Revenue
(Net of Interest)

Net Interest Depreciation 2010
Segment Earnings

$ 6.5

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

 $ 40.0

hydro regulated - 2010 vs. 2009 segment earnings ($ milions)



NewfouNdlaNd aNd labrador Hydro        CHurCHill falls        oil aNd Gas        lower CHurCHill ProjeCt       bull arm fabriCatioN  

2010 Business and Financial RepoRt                    24 | 25  

Goose Bay in 2009 was decreased due to extended 

boiler maintenance which resulted in reduced sales.

 

electricity rates for Hydro Regulated’s rural customers 

increased 1.7% effective July 1, 2010, due to 

changes in newfoundland power’s rates attributed 

to the operation of newfoundland power’s Rate 

stabilization adjustment. this rate increase combined 

with reduced energy sales resulted in a slight decline 

in revenue from Hydro Regulated’s rural customers 

of $0.6 million. 

the Rsp was established in 1986 to mitigate the 

impact of volatile fuel prices and quantities on 

consumers’ electricity rates and Hydro Regulated’s 

earnings. the difference between the actual cost 

of fuel consumed to generate electricity and the 

cost upon which electricity rates are based (cost of 

service) accumulates in the Rsp. Balances in the Rsp 

are recovered or refunded in the following year, with 

the exception of the hydraulic variation, which is 

recovered or refunded at a rate of 25% annually.

the hydraulic variation has been positive in 

recent years and results from higher than average 

hydroelectric production, enabled by lower reservoir 

storage requirement for drought protection due to 

reduced loads. this higher hydraulic production has 

reduced the need for thermal generation and related 

fuel costs. the balance in the Rsp is also increasing 

due to reduced loads from industrial customers 

and variations in the fuel rider rates. the increased 

balance results in higher interest costs as interest is 

accrued on the outstanding balance based on the 

weighted average cost of capital of 7.6%. Rates are 

also adjusted annually based on forecast fuel prices 

through a fuel rider. the fuel rider and rate adjustment 

for the accumulated Rsp balances becomes effective 

annually on July 1 for newfoundland power and on 

January 1 for industrial customers. the Rsp balance 

due to customers as at december 31, 2010 was 

$159.2 million (2009 - $122.0 million). 

Hydro Regulated utilizes no. 6 fuel oil at the 490 MW 

Holyrood thermal Generating station and diesel fuel 

at its diesel plants. the following table summarizes 

fuel consumed at the Holyrood plant and the average 

price per barrel.

 2010 2009

No. 6 fuel   

   Consumption (millions   1.4    1.5
  of barrels)   

   average price (Cad $/bbl)  $		 73.9  $  52.5  



MaNageMeNt’s disCussioN & aNalysis

Fuel expense includes the cost of no. 6 fuel, diesel 

fuel and adjustments to the fuel cost resulting  

from the operation of the Rsp. Fuel costs are 

summarized below: 

millions of dollars 2010 2009

No. 6 fuel/rsp/other  $		 128.1  $  142.6   

diesel   12.2    12.6 

total fuel expense  $		 140.3  $  155.2 

no. 6 fuel/Rsp/other costs declined by $14.5 million 

due to a number of factors. despite a decrease in 

thermal dased production for the Holyrood plant,  

no. 6 fuel costs increased by $20.1 million primarily 

due to increased fuel prices during the year. 

Fuel cost increases were offset primarily through 

the Rsp mechanism resulting in a decrease in fuel 

expense of $18.9 million over 2009. in addition, fuel 

expense amortized from the Rsp was $16.0 million 

lower compared to 2009. 

to supplement Hydro Regulated’s electricity generation 

on the island, Hydro Regulated purchases power under 

long-term agreements with non-utility generators 

(see note 19(f) to the consolidated Financial 

statements). in labrador, on the interconnected grid, 

Hydro Regulated purchases substantially all of its 

energy requirements from churchill Falls. 

total purchased power decreased from $46.8 million 

in 2009 to $44.2 million in 2010. this decrease is 

primarily due to reduced purchases from hydro 

generators of $4.2 million offset by increases in 

purchases of wind energy of $1.6 million. 

Hydro Regulated’s net interest expense increased 

by $3.3 million from $83.5 million in 2009 to  

$86.8 million in 2010. the increase is primarily 

related to interest accumulating on an increasing Rsp 

balance owing to customers. 

Hydro Regulated’s 2010 operating costs comprised 

54% (2009 - 59%) of consolidated operating costs 

as outlined below:

millions of dollars 2010 2009

salaries   63.1    60.4 

Maintenance   21.7    22.1 

other   13.0    18.4 

total   97.8    100.9 

total operating costs decreased by $3.1 million over 

the 2009 level. salaries and benefits increased by 

$2.7 million due to normal cost of living adjustment 

increases, negotiated union wage settlements and 

increases associated with employee future benefits  

offset by an increase in capitalized labour. other costs 

decreased by $5.4 million primarily due to bad debt 

expenses of $3.7 million that were incurred in 2009 

related to the closure of the abitibi Bowater Grand 

Falls Mill. 
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Hydro Regulated’s amortization expense was  

$43.8 million, an increase of $2.1 million over 

2009, primarily the result of increasing levels of 

property, plant and equipment and marginally higher 

amortization levels each year as a result of using the 

sinking fund method of amortization.

Hydro Regulated made $55.5 million in 

capital investments and upgrades in 2010  

(2009 - $54.1 million) to ensure continued reliability 

of the electricity system. investments were made in 

the following categories:

millions of dollars 2010 2009

generation  $		 16.2  $  9.6 

distribution   17.8    21.9 

other    10.5    11.5 

transmission   11.0    11.1 

 $		 55.5  $  54.1 

during 2010, Hydro Regulated recognized an asset 

retirement obligation related to the Holyrood 

generating station in the amount of $11.4 million. 

this obligation will cover the estimated costs of 

decommissioning certain portions of the Holyrood 

plant.  Management’s intention is that the generating 

units will remain in operation and will be converted 

to run as synchronous condensers to help manage 

transmission system voltages once Muskrat Falls and 

labrador-island transmission link are in service.

the timing of the decommissioning activities is based 

on the proposed timelines for the development of 

the Muskrat Falls generating plant, and the labrador 

– island transmission link which are part of the 

lower churchill project. First power from this project 

is planned for late 2016 and the decommissioning 

will likely begin three to four years later. 

also in 2010, the Government continued to waive 

the payment of the debt guarantee fee ($9.1 million) 

which impacted favorably on Hydro Regulated’s net 

income. the guarantee fee is based on 1% of the total 

debt outstanding (net of sinking funds) guaranteed by 

the Government, as at the preceding december 31.

Hydro Regulated maintains a capital structure 

comprised of 75% debt and 25% equity and 

accordingly, during 2010, Hydro Regulated paid  

$30.9 million in dividends to nalcor.
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Churchill Falls
in 2010, churchill Falls segment earnings were 

$26.8 million, an increase of $15.1 million compared 

to 2009. Factors contributing to this increase were 

primarily an increase in electricity sales to Hydro-

Québec of $5.1 million; an increase in GWac 

revenue of $9.9 million; and an increase in preferred 

dividends of $2.2 million. GWac revenue in 2009  

was negatively impacted by the cable fire that 

occurred in 2008 which reduced availability in 2009. 

all repairs were completed by october 2009 resulting 

in a return to full commercial operation. churchill Falls 

achieved a five-month average of 95% of maximum 

additional revenue in 2010. the factors affecting  

the 2010 increased earnings are depicted in the  

following chart:   

churchill Falls’ requirements for capital in the future 

are expected to increase, coincident with the aging 

of the plant and related infrastructure. during 

2010, churchill Falls began work on the long-term 

asset management plan and invested $15.1 million  

(2009 - $5.7 million). in accordance with the 1999 
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shareholders agreement, churchill Falls has created 

a segregated fund to contribute towards the funding 

of capital expenditures related to the replacement of 

existing facilities. as at december 31, 2010, this fund 

had a balance of $59.7 million (2009 - $52.9 million). 

in addition, on december 15, 2010, the credit facility 

with the Bank of nova scotia was repaid in full and 

as a result the capital structure is now comprised 

entirely of equity. 

on February 23, 2010, churchill Falls filed a motion 

against Hydro-Québec in the Québec superior court. 

the motion is seeking a modification to the pricing 

terms of the 1969 power contract as of november 

30, 2009. the outcome of this motion is not 

determinable at this time. on February 3, 2010, the 

Government established the churchill Falls (labrador) 

corporation trust (trust) with churchill Falls as the 

beneficiary. the purpose of the trust is to fund the 

external costs incurred as a result of the motion  

filed by churchill Falls and to date, $1.0 million in 

costs has been incurred in relation to this matter. 
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Energy Marketing
in 2010, energy Marketing revenue was $77.5 million 

compared to $54.7 million in 2009 and segment 

earnings were $48.9 million, an increase of  

$14.9 million from 2009. the primary reason for 

this increase was the higher than normal demand 

experienced during the summer season due to 

warmer than normal weather which increased the 

market price of electricity. energy markets were 

depressed in 2009 due to a downturn in the us 

economy resulting in lower energy demand in the 

northeast united states industrial markets, and 

lower natural gas prices, thereby creating downward 

pressure on electricity pricing. details of the year 

over year change in energy Marketing earnings are 

noted in the following chart:

$ 5.4 $ 3.2

$ 34.0

$ 22.8

$ 0.7

2009
Segment Earnings

Revenue Marketing
and Other

Transmission
Rental

Interest
and Other

2010
Segment Earnings

$ 48.9

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

 $ 70.0

energy Marketing - 2010 vs. 2009 segment earnings ($ milions)



MaNageMeNt’s disCussioN & aNalysis

a combination of fixed price contracts, spot and 

day-ahead sales provides nalcor with a diversified 

sales portfolio. performance of the energy marketing 

group is evaluated based on benchmark pricing at 

an interface in the new York independent system 

operator (nYiso) which corresponds to the delivery 

point of nalcor’s firm annual transmission booking. 

in 2010, nalcor’s net revenue from energy Marketing 

activities exceeded the nYiso pricing benchmark by 

33% (2009 – 25%).

energy Marketing revenues are denominated 

primarily in us dollars (usd) and in 2009 nalcor 

entered into a series of forward foreign exchange 

contracts to mitigate the impact of currency 

fluctuations on earnings. these forward contracts 

are accounted for as hedges and revenue for 2010 

includes $5.9 million in gains resulting from the 

qualifying hedges. in 2010, nalcor also entered into a 

series of commodity swap contracts to minimize the 

impact of fluctuations in electricity prices. in 2010, 

other gains and losses includes $3.4 million of losses 

resulting from these swap contracts.

Oil and Gas
oil and Gas had first oil from the north amethyst 

field in May 2010. total production in 2010 was 

185 thousand barrels (mbbls) and total sales were 

$15.3 million. during 2010, oil and Gas transitioned 

to an oil producing business and cash flow from 

operations was $8.4 million. net loss for 2010, was 

$2.5 million on par with the loss of $2.4 million in 

2009. the primary reason for the loss in 2010 relates 

to depletion expense of $10.6 million. details are 

depicted in the following chart:
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during 2010, oil and Gas completed a $30.0 million 

purchase of a 10% equity interest in the Hibernia 

southern extension project. the Hibernia southern 

extension unit is expected to produce first oil in the 

latter half of 2011. 

in 2009, oil and Gas acquired an average 67% 

working interest in three onshore exploration 

permits on the West coast of newfoundland for  

$0.6 million. in 2010, nalcor completed the drilling 

of two onshore exploration wells in the parsons pond 

area. nalcor successfully achieved its main operational 

objective in this exploration program, which was to 

gain valuable information from this basin which will 

enable further insight and assessment of the geology 

and petroleum potential of the area.   

during 2010, costs capitalized as petroleum and 

natural gas properties totalled $82.7 million  

(2009 - $81.7 million) and include, in addition 

to direct acquisition costs, pre-development, 

development and drilling costs, legal fees, 

environmental consulting and project management. 

in addition, during 2010, oil and Gas recognized 

an asset retirement obligation in the amount of  

$3.5 million and accretion of $0.1 million for oil and 

Gas’ net ownership share of retirement obligations 

associated with the White Rose Growth project. 

oil and Gas Reserves

nalcor engaged independent qualified reserve 

evaluators to evaluate and prepare reports on oil 

and Gas’ oil reserves according to the canadian oil 

and Gas evaluation Handbook reserve definitions  

and standards. 

Reserves as at december 31, 2010:

  light and Medium oil
thousands of barrels gross Net

developed 531 504

undeveloped 5,550 4,118

total proved 6,081 4,622

probable 16,631 10,605

total proved plus probable 22,712 15,227

Reconciliation of Gross Reserves (before royalty) 
2010 vs 2009:

  light and Medium oil
 gross  gross
thousands of barrels proved probable

december 31, 2009 1,390 4,057

extensions - -

improved recovery - -

infill drilling 660 (660)

technical revisions 216 (1,011)

discoveries - 300

acquisitions 4,000 13,945

dispositions - -

economic factors - -

production (185) -

December	31,	2010	 6,081	 16,631

depletion, depreciation and amortization (dd&a)

under the full cost method of accounting for oil and 

gas activities, dd&a is calculated on a country-by-

country basis. the dd&a rate is calculated by dividing 

the capital costs subject to dd&a by the proved oil 

and gas reserves expressed as equivalent barrels 

(boe). the resultant dollar per boe is assigned to 

each boe of production to determine the dd&a 

expense for the period.

in 2010, dd&a expense related to oil and gas properties 

was $10.6 million. during 2009, no dd&a expense 

was recorded as there had been no production.

 

at december 31, 2010, capital costs in respect of 

unproved properties and major development projects 

were $139.3 million compared with $117.0 million 

at the end of 2009. these costs are excluded from 

the dd&a calculation until the unproved properties 

are evaluated and proved reserves are attributed to 

the project or the project is deemed to be impaired.
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Other
Lower Churchill Project: the lower churchill River 

is the most attractive undeveloped hydroelectric 

project in north america. the project’s two proposed 

installations at Gull island and Muskrat Falls will 

have a combined capacity of over 3,000 MW and can 

provide 16.7 tWh of electricity per year. 

in november, 2010, nalcor concluded arrangements, 

including the execution of a term sheet with emera 

inc, to develop phase 1 of the lower churchill 

project. phase 1 includes: Muskrat Falls, an 824 MW 

hydroelectric development on the lower churchill 

river in labrador; a new transmission line (the 

labrador-island transmission link) to be constructed 

from labrador across the strait of Belle isle to the 

avalon peninsula on the island of newfoundland; and 

the development of a new transmission system (the 

Maritime transmission link) from newfoundland to 

nova scotia. the Maritime link will allow the provision 

of power to emera in nova scotia and the provision 

of market access for nalcor. nalcor will also obtain 

transmission access in nova scotia, new Brunswick 

and Maine from emera as part of the agreement.

the Muskrat Falls generation facility and the 

transmission link from labrador to the island of 

newfoundland has been identified by newfoundland 

and labrador Hydro as the least-cost, long-term 

option for meeting the province’s growing electricity 

demand. nalcor will use production from the Muskrat 

Falls generating facility to displace oil-fired generation 

from the Holyrood thermal Generating station, 

providing long-term rate stability. power will also be 

available for industrial development in labrador.

the project has a total estimated capital cost of  

$6.2 billion (excluding capitalized financing costs). 

emera will fund an estimated $1.8 billion representing  

a 49% interest in the transmission assets. the remaining 

estimated $4.4 billion will be funded by nalcor 

representing a 100% interest in the Muskrat Falls 

generating facility and its interest in the transmission 

assets. the parties continue to work towards final 

agreements. completion of engineering, financing 

activities and regulatory approvals are required in 

order to make a final decision to proceed.

in 2010, nalcor, the Government of newfoundland 

and labrador, innu nation and innu Band councils 

initialled the lower churchill impacts and Benefits 

agreement and the upper churchill Redress 

agreement. these agreements are subject to 

ratification by the innu nation.

in 2009, nalcor submitted the environmental impact 

statement (eis) for the lower churchill Generation 

project – consisting of Muskrat Falls and Gull 
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island. in January 2011, the Joint Review panel, an 

independent body appointed by both provincial and 

federal governments to carry out the environmental 

assessment process, announced it would proceed to 

public panel hearings for the generation project. the 

45-day public hearings, administered by the panel, 

commenced on March 3, 2011, and recommendations 

are expected in 2011.

throughout 2010, nalcor continued its preparation 

for the eis for the labrador - island transmission link 

project and in 2011, nalcor received the eis guidelines 

for this project. nalcor plans to file the eis late in 2011.

significant engineering work has also been completed 

for the generation and labrador-island transmission 

link projects. in late 2010, nalcor selected snc-lavalin 

for the engineering, procurement and construction 

management for the Muskrat Falls generating facility 

and the labrador-island transmission link. 

nalcor continues to advance market access to 

the Hydro-Québec transmission system for future 

developments. in 2006, nalcor made application to 

Hydro-Québec transÉnergie for transmission service 

from the labrador/Québec border to markets in 

Québec, ontario, the Maritime provinces and the 

northeastern united states. as a result of the 

subsequent refusal by Hydro-Québec to provide fair 

access, nalcor filed complaints with the Régie de 

l’énergie (Régie), Québec’s energy regulator, for a 

hearing based on the principles of open access and 

non-discrimination. in May 2010, the Régie ruled 

solely in favour of Hydro-Québec and dismissed 

all arguments presented by nalcor. the following 

month, nalcor filed an application for administrative 

Revision with the Régie, the first step to appeal the 

decision. public hearings regarding the administrative 

revision were held in late 2010, and as of the date of 

this Md&a a decision is pending. 

the proposed lower churchill development 

shares the churchill River with the churchill Falls 

hydroelectric generation plant. in accordance with 

the electrical power control act, 1994, the puB 

issued a Board order on March 9, 2010 establishing a 

water management agreement between nalcor and 

churchill Falls.  Following development of the lower 

churchill Hydroelectric development, these two 

parties will share use of the churchill River as the 

common water resource for their respective power 

production. the water management agreement will 

optimize power production on the river.

Bull Arm Fabrication: the Bull arm Fabrication site is 

a strategic asset and has facilitated the advancement 

of the province’s fabrication capability through 

participation in major projects including Hibernia, 

terra nova and White Rose oil projects. the Bull arm 

site was originally developed in the 1990s to construct 

the 600,000-tonne Gravity Base structure (GBs) 

platform and topside components for the Hibernia 

project. in august 2008, the Government announced 

the transfer of the Bull arm site corporation to nalcor 

and the transfer was completed on March 31, 2009. 

during 2010, earnings from the activities at the Bull 

arm site were $1.1 million (2009 – $3.1 million). 

in 2010, nalcor entered into lease finalization 

discussions for the Bull arm site with exxonMobil 

canada properties (exxonMobil canada) who will 

use the site for the Hebron project. When the lease 

is finalized and Hebron activities begin, the site will 

be used from 2011 to 2017 for the construction, 

integration and commissioning of the GBs for Hebron.

Menihek Operations: in 2007, Hydro assumed 

ownership of the Menihek  Generating station from 

the iron ore company of canada and entered into 

a 40-year power purchase agreement to supply 

electricity from this facility to Hydro-Québec for its 

customers in the schefferville region.  ownership of 

the plant was subsequently transferred from Hydro 

to nalcor in late 2009. Revenue was $1.3 million for 

both 2010 and 2009 and with certain cost recoveries 

from Hydro-Québec, resulted in net income of  

$1.5 million (2009 - $1.5 million). 
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Electricity Sales to Mining Industry: sales to the 

iron ore industry in labrador are from two sources. 

the first is through churchill Falls’ joint venture, 

twin Falls, and the second is through direct sales by 

Hydro sourced from recall power. these direct sales 

in 2010 were $5.5 million compared to $4.6 million 

in 2009. net earnings were $3.0 million in 2010 and  

$1.9 million in 2009.

Business Development: Business development 

includes activities related to wind development, 

research and development and other business 

opportunities. during 2010, the Business 

development group continued activity associated 

with the Wind-Hydrogen-diesel energy project in 

Ramea. this research and development project uses 

wind and hydrogen technology to supplement the 

diesel requirements of this isolated community and 

has the potential to offset diesel with zero-emission 

power. the project aims to develop a wind-hydrogen-

diesel energy solution designed for small-scale 

energy production in isolated locations. 

in 2010, none of these activities were in a  

commercial stage and as a result did not produce  

any revenues. costs expensed and capitalized in 

2010 were $1.1 million (2009 - $1.7 million) and 

$2.2 million (2009 - $2.8 million), respectively.  

Other: investments in lcdc and Gipco are included in 

this category. Both companies are inactive and had 

minimal transactions in 2010 and 2009. 

Corporate Costs: costs associated with the operation 

of nalcor, the parent company, are recorded in this 

category. in 2010, operating and other costs were 

$5.2 million, a slight decrease of $0.2 million over 

2009 costs of $5.4 million. 

also included in this category are the operations of 

the star lake, Grand Falls and Bishop’s Falls facilities 

(exploits Generation). on december 16, 2008, 

the Government licensed nalcor to manage and 

operate hydro facilities on behalf of the province of 

newfoundland and labrador. nalcor is operating the 

star lake, Grand Falls and Bishop’s Falls  facilities on a 

cost recovery basis. the power purchase agreements 

that previously applied to these facilities have been 

cancelled through legislation.

FINANCIAL CONDITION REVIEW
Assets
total assets were $2,804.8 million at december 

31, 2010, an increase of $174.1 million or 6.6% 

over december 31, 2009. there were a number of 

contributing factors to the increase in assets. nalcor 

invested $82.7 million related to the acquisition  

and development of oil and gas properties  

(2009 - $81.7 million). in addition, the company 

invested $113.6 million in property, plant and 

equipment (2009 - $96.4 million).

additions to property, plant and equipment were, 

in part, offset by amortization of $56.9 million  

(2008 - $54.9 million) and depletion of $10.6 million 

(2009 - nil). cash and cash equivalents increased 

by $30.5 million, sinking fund investments by 

$28.8 and the fourth payment to the Reserve 

Fund of $4.2 million (nalcor’s 65.8% share of the  

$8.0 million contribution by churchill Falls net of 

interest) made in 2010. these increases were offset 

by a decrease in regulatory assets, primarily the 

amortization of deferred charges of $4.4 million 

(2009 - $5.5 million) and a reduction in short-term 

investments of $33.5 million. 

Liabilities
total liabilities increased by $50.7 million from 

$1,488.7 million at december 31, 2009, to  

$1,539.4 million at december 31, 2010. the increase 

in liabilities was primarily due to an increase in 

regulatory liabilities of $37.2 million, the addition 

of asset retirement obligations of $14.8 million 

and an increase in accrued liabilities primarily 

related to oil and gas expenditures in the amount of  

$17.2 million and $10.8 million related to the lower 

churchill Hydroelectric development. these increases 

were offset by the repayment of the Bank of nova 
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scotia credit facility in churchill Falls in full, in the 

amount of $29.3 million. 

Equity
total shareholder’s equity increased by $123.4 million 

from $1,142.0 million to $1,265.4 million in 2010. 

this increase is due primarily to the 2010 earnings 

of $77.5 million and an increase in equity due to an 

injection of contributed capital by the Government of 

$40.6 million. 

LIquIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOuRCES
Sources and uses of Cash
liquidity requirements are met through a variety 

of sources, including funds from operations, short-

term borrowings, issuance of long-term debt and 

contributed equity capital.

cash flows relating to operating, investing and financing 

activities are summarized in the following table:

millions of dollars 2010 2009

Cash provided by (used in)

operating activities  $		 210.9  $  212.3 

financing activities   11.1    (15.7)

investing activities   (191.5)   (232.4)

Net increase (decrease)  $		 30.5  $  (35.8) 
 in cash

nalcor’s primary uses of funds during 2010 were 

operating expenses, capital spending, including 

expenditures for the lower churchill Hydroelectric 

development and oil and gas properties, and interest 

and principal payments on its debt. cash from 

operating activities of $210.9 million was consistent 

with the previous year and includes net earnings and 

other non-cash items as well as changes in working 

capital. investing activities included $113.6 million 

in plant and equipment; $82.7 million related to oil 

and gas investments; sinking fund and reserve fund 

investments of $33.3 million and a reduction in short-

term investments of $33.5 million. cash generated  

from financing activities of $11.1 million was 

primarily due to an equity injection of $40.6 million 

of contributed capital offset by long-term debt 

retirement of $29.3 million. 

throughout 2010, nalcor maintained an unsecured 

revolving short-term credit facility with a limit of 

$150.0 million, with covenants that restricted the 

issuance of debt such that the unconsolidated debt to 

total capitalization ratio could not exceed 70%. the 

covenants further stipulated that the debt service 

coverage Ratio should at all times be greater than 

1.5 to 1.0 on an unconsolidated basis. at december 

31, 2010, nalcor was in compliance with these  

ratios. the facility was unencumbered at the end of 

2010 with the exception of a $1.5 million letter of 

credit outstanding. 

subsequent to year end, nalcor renegotiated the 

terms of the credit facility to achieve realignment 

with the corporation’s revised short-term working 

capital needs. the facility has been converted 

to a demand operating facility with a limit of  

$100.0 million, with no change in the financial 

covenants. the restructuring will reduce standby 

fees on unused portions of the credit facility. 

nalcor’s subsidiary, Hydro, maintains a short-term 

promissory note program for funding its ongoing 

requirements. this program has an authorized limit of 

$300.0 million and is guaranteed by the Government. 

the current credit rating of R1 (low) assigned to this 

program by dominion Bond Rating service (dBRs), 

combined with the Government guarantee, allows 

Hydro access to short-term funds in the canadian 

Money Market at attractive rates. at december 31, 

2010, there were no short-term notes outstanding.  

unsecured bank credit facilities are also in place for 

$50.0 million and with the exception of letters of 

credit outstanding of $18.9 million, this bank credit 

facility was unencumbered at the end of 2010. 

capital markets are the principal source of longer-

term funding for Hydro. Hydro’s debenture issues are 

currently assigned an “a“ credit rating by dBRs, and 
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are also fully guaranteed by the Government. Hydro’s 

total borrowings outstanding, net of sinking funds 

and exclusive of borrowings pertaining to churchill 

Falls, are limited by legislation to $1.6 billion. as of 

december 31, 2010, $936.5 million was outstanding 

(2009 - $999.5 million). 

the operations of churchill Falls are financed by 

cash from operations. during 2010, churchill Falls 

used cash balances to repay, in full, the debt held 

in the 4.4% fixed rate credit facility and to make the 

scheduled $8.0 million contribution to the capital 

reserve fund. unsecured bank credit facilities are 

also in place in the amount of $10.0 million and 

with the exception of a letter of credit outstanding  

of $1.0 million, this bank credit facility was 

unencumbered at the end of 2010.

the operating and capital requirements of oil and Gas 

are financed by funds from operations and injections 

of equity capital from nalcor, and oil ans Gas is 100% 

equity financed. during 2010, revenue from the sale 

of crude oil was realized from the White Rose Growth 

project. these revenues, in conjunction with equity 

injections from nalcor, were used to offset operating 

costs and investments in oil and gas assets. until 

such time as oil and Gas has an earnings and credit 

profile sufficient to support entry into either the 

money markets or the capital markets, any financing 

required to supplement earnings from operations will 

occur from the parent company in the form of equity 

injections. at such time, management will review the 

funding strategy to ensure continued appropriateness.  

Bull arm Fabrication’s short-term liquidity 

requirements are met by a combination of cash and 

cash equivalents on hand and funds from operations. 

Access to Working Capital 
cash flow from operations and the availability of 

short-term funding under nalcor’s new $100.0 million 

demand operating facility are considered sufficient to 

meet working capital requirements. covenants under 

the credit facility are intact and draw downs to date 

have been without incident. Borrowing costs under 

the credit facility are based on Banker’s acceptance 

(Ba) rates plus a stamping fee of 50 basis points or  

the prime Rate, depending on which borrowing 

option is chosen.

Hydro’s short-term debt is rated as R1 (low) by 

dBRs and a-1 mid by standard and poors. Both are 

investment grade credit ratings that facilitate Hydro’s 

access to short-term capital markets. Hydro sells a 

large portion of its energy to newfoundland power, 

which is a regulated distribution utility in the province 

and whose First Mortgage Bonds are rated by dBRs 

as an “a” credit. Hydro continues to obtain short-

term funding through its promissory note program. 

the notes issued under this program are guaranteed 

by the Government. due to cash surpluses in 2010, 

Hydro’s short-term promissory note program was  

less active as compared to previous years, with only 

$12.0 million in promissory notes issued during 

the first half of the year (2009 - $421.0 million). 

on March 15, 2011, Hydro issued $6.0 million in 

promissory notes.  

churchill Falls’ primary revenue stream is fixed 

at pricing under a long-term power contract with 

Hydro-Québec. churchill Falls’ cash requirements 

are funded by cash from operations with periodic 

working capital needs met through ready access to 

cash and high quality short-term investments. at year 

end, churchill Falls had access to $26.3 million in cash 

and highly-liquid short-term investments. it also had 

access to a reserve fund totalling $59.7 million for 

use in meeting unanticipated capital expenditures. 

to date, working capital requirements of oil and 

Gas have been met through contributions of equity 

capital from nalcor. during 2010, this funding 

source was augmented by funds from oil and Gas 

operations which consisted almost entirely of sales 

from White Rose production. consequently, these 

funds from operations were subject to fluctuations in 

both the market price of crude oil and the us/canada 

currency exchange rate. this exposure was managed 
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in accordance with nalcor’s corporate Financial Risk 

Management policy. in February 2011, a series of 

11 commodity swaps were executed to hedge price 

fluctuations associated with the sale of crude oil for 

the coming year.

 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
nalcor’s debt and equity and related ratios are shown 

in the following table:  

millions of dollars	 2010	 2009

Short-term	debt		 $  -  	 	 $		 -			

Current	portion	long-term	debt	 		 8.2		 	 		 37.5	

Long-term	debt	(net	of		 	 928.3		 	 		 962.0
	 sinking	funds)	

Total	debt		 $  936.5		 	 $		 999.5	

Shareholder’s	equity		 $  1,265.4		 	 $		 1,142.0	

Total	debt	to	capital	(1)	 	 42.5%	 	 46.7%

Fixed	rate	debt	as	a	percentage		 	 100%		 	 	 100%	
	 of	total	indebtedness	(2)

EBIT	to	interest	coverage	(3)	 	 2.0	 	 	 1.8

FFO	to	debt	(4)	 	 14.0%	 	 10.0%

	 	 	
(1)  Debt to captial - Total debt (promissory notes, long-term 

debt including current portion less sinking funds), divided 
by debt plus shareholders equity   

(2)  Long-term debt divided by total debt   

(3)  EBIT divided by gross interest. Earnings before interest 
and taxes includes interest income net of guarantee fees. 
Gross interest is interest expense before interest income, 
guarantee fees, capitalized interest, accretion and foreign 
exchange provision.    

(4)  FFO to debt- Funds from operations (cash flow from operations 
less post retirement benefits paid less capitalized interest 
plus or minus changes in working capital) divided by Debt 
(total debt less post retirement benefit obligations less 
accrued interest)   

nalcor’s primary objectives when managing capital 

are to minimize its cost of capital within the confines 

of established risk parameters, and to safeguard 

nalcor’s ability to continue as a going concern. nalcor’s 

approach to capital management is performed on a 

consolidated basis. Management monitors the capital 

requirement for each subsidiary individually.

nalcor uses the key measures of debt to capital, 

earnings before interest and tax (eBit) to interest 

coverage, weighted average term to maturity and 

the fixed to floating rate debt ratio to monitor its 

capital structure. Both the weighted average term 

to maturity and the fixed to floating debt ratio are 

periodically compared to utility industry benchmarks 

and if deemed appropriate, adjustments to the capital 

structure are made. during 2009 and 2010, nalcor 

realized a significant improvement in the debt to 

capital ratio as a direct result of contributed capital 

received from the Government of $182.6 million 

over two years. this equity funding, combined with a 

policy to reinvest all earnings, resulted in a significant 

reduction in leverage in nalcor’s capital structure. eBit 

to interest coverage improved year over year due to 

increased earnings with relatively stable interest 

costs. during 2010, nalcor began to measure Funds 

from operations to debt as an indicator of its ability 

to cover debt with cash generated on an annual basis. 

the proportion of fixed rate debt as a percentage 

of total indebtedness remained at 100% at the end 

of 2010. the stability of fixed rate percentage year 

over year was due to cash management activity that 

resulted in positive cash balances throughout the 

year. this resulted in a reduction in floating rate debt 

as there were no promissory notes outstanding at 

the year end.
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OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS
obligations and commitments for the five-year period 2011 to 2015 are as follows:

millions of dollars 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

debt repayments (1)  $  -   $  -   $  -   $  125.0  $  -   

sinking fund installements  8.2  8.2  8.2  8.2  8.2 

reserve fund payments (2)  5.3  5.3       

power purchase agreements (3)  23.9  24.5  25.1  25.6  26.1 

transmission capacity (4)  19.4  19.4  19.4  4.8  - 

total   $  56.8  $  57.4  $  52.7  $  163.6  $  34.3 

         
(1)  Includes repayment of long-term debt.         

(2)  In accordance with the shareholder’s agreement, Churchill Falls is required to establish a $75.0 million Reserve Fund for major repairs, 
which commenced with an initial payment January 2007. The amount represents Nalcor’s 65.8% share of the payment.         

(3)  Hydro has entered into a number of power purchase agreements with remaining terms ranging from 15 to 25 years.         

(4)  Hydro has the right to renew its transmission service contract at the end of the contract term.               

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
nalcor enters into various transactions with its parent, subsidiaries and other affiliates. these transactions occur 

within the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of 

consideration agreed to by the related parties. nalcor transacts with the following related parties:  

Related	party	 Relationship

the province 100% shareholder of Nalcor.

Churchill falls jointly controlled subsidiary of hydro.

twin falls jointly controlled subsidiary of Churchill falls.

the trust 100% owned by the province of Newfoundland and labrador with Chruchill falls as beneficiary.

pub agency of the province
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intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation. the amounts included in the 

consolidated Financial statements for related party transactions are as follows:

    the   other  
   province affiliates total 

millions of dollars   2010

revenue   7.2		 	 -	 	 7.2

expenses   16.3		 	 1.3		 17.6

accounts receivable   0.9		 	 1.8	 2.7

accounts payable and accrued liabilities   10.5		 	 0.1		 10.6

deferred credits   2.5		 	 -	 	 2.5 

millions of dollars        2009

revenue   3.9   -  3.9

expenses   18.0   1.6  19.6

accounts receivable   0.1   0.6  0.7

accounts payable and accrued liabilities   9.5   0.1  9.6

deferred credits   1.1   -  1.1

the related party transactions included in the financial statements are described in note 20 of the consolidated 

Financial statements. 

SECTION 3:  RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

nalcor’s leadership team provides senior 

management oversight of risk in the corporation.  

nalcor focuses on an execution of risk management 

and mitigation strategies in each line of business 

utilizing a common risk framework and toolset.  

the corporate treasurer and chief Risk officer is 

responsible for the ongoing monitoring and review 

of the risk profile and practices and also chairs an 

enterprise Risk Management (eRM) committee that 

assists in this activity. this committee consists of 

membership across the various lines of business. in 

addition, a risk representative, who is responsible for 

ensuring that risk management policy and related 

mitigation strategies are carried out, has been 

appointed in each line of business.

Risks are identified at the business unit level 

and rated according to severity and likelihood of 

occurrence. Mitigation strategies are devised for 

highly-rated risks and these strategies form an 

integral part of the related business plan. Mitigation 

strategies include initiatives such as insurance 

contracts, hedging transactions, asset management 

and capital improvements. 

Risk management is viewed not only as a means 

by which risks are identified and mitigated as 

appropriate, but also as a means by which business 

opportunities can be identified and assessed.  

While recognizing that some acceptance of risk is a 

necessary part of doing business, nalcor endeavors to 

accept only those risks that help ensure competitive 

advantage and that are within its capability to 

withstand. the Board of directors is regularly updated 

on higher profile risks and their status, and during 

2010 approved a five-year eRM plan for nalcor which 

included endorsement of a framework that will be 

consistent with Risk Management Guidelines and 

principles per iso/csa 31000.  

the internal audit function also assists nalcor in 

achieving its objectives by providing a systematic 

evaluation of the effectiveness of risk management, 

cost control and governance processes. opportunities 
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for improving management control may also be 

identified during the audits.

nalcor has identified four major categories of risk: 

strategic, operational, financial and compliance 

related risks.

STRATEGIC RISK
the leadership team has identified key strategic 

risks within each line of business and accepted 

those that might provide competitive advantage. 

others have been analyzed in the context of nalcor’s 

ability to withstand the attendant risk and mitigation 

strategies have been formulated for risks carrying a 

higher rating. strategic opportunities and mitigation 

strategies identified as a result of this process are 

integrated with the corporate planning process.

OPERATIONAL RISK
Risks are identified and assessed based on the 

probability and severity of a potential occurrence. 

events that could have a significant impact on 

corporate strategic goals are identified and mitigation 

procedures are effected to provide reasonable 

assurance that such events will not prevent 

achievement of corporate goals and objectives. 

through continual updating of risk management 

practices, nalcor ensures the protection of all physical 

and financial assets. 

this category of risk includes: major damage to 

critical assets; interruption of electrical service; and 

liability to third parties arising from property damage 

or loss, bodily injury or loss of life. to eliminate or 

lessen the impact of this risk, nalcor has developed 

regular maintenance, inspection and insurance 

programs and initiated redundancy of critical assets. 

the corporate insurance program, covering all assets 

and specified liabilities, is reviewed and updated 

annually. the review focuses on exposures to loss, 

insurable values, coverage limits, deductibles, self-

insured retentions and loss analysis. statistics and 

information compiled during the annual review 

are utilized to develop renewal strategies resulting 

in the acquisition of comprehensive coverage at 

competitive cost.

each operational area and facility within nalcor has 

developed comprehensive response plans to provide 

guidance and contingency processes in the event of 

emergency. the plans are based on consideration of 

adverse events that each area or facility might be 

subject to in the course of their operations such as fire, 

explosion, equipment failure, and natural events such 

as floods and ice storms. nalcor has also established 

emergency response plans at the corporate level, 

which provides for executive level and functional 

support from service areas such as safety, health, 

environment, human resources, engineering and 

communications. in addition to contingency planning 

for response at the time of occurrence and in the 

immediate post-emergency time frame, longer-term 

planning for business continuity related issues is also 

an on-going priority.

nalcor has established an office of asset Management 

to ensure it manages its assets effectively and 

consistently to maximize plant availability and 

minimize cost through a consistent framework and 

process across the corporation.

Safety
the pursuit of safety excellence is a critical focus at 

nalcor and all its lines of business. safety is reinforced 

throughout the organization and as evidenced by  

the delivery of safety culture change Workshops to 

employees; the development of a set of core values; a 

safety credo; and formal documentation of an internal 

Responsibility system for safety. Key safety processes 

are continuously reviewed and updated including: 

work protection code, work method development, 

contractor safety management, safety performance 

communication and personal hazard assessment.
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Information Technology
information technology affects all aspects of 

nalcor’s operations. Major risk exposures in this 

environment relate to information security (e.g., loss 

of processing capability due to hardware/software 

failure or threat of virus attacks) and availability of 

information (e.g., loss of communication across the 

wide area network).

With respect to information security, nalcor has 

retained a service provider to help restore critical 

business systems. the service provider supplies a 

back-up site along with all the necessary hardware 

and communication links. nalcor maintains a disaster 

Recovery plan that details actual recovery procedures 

and processes and is updated and tested on a periodic 

basis. the energy Management system that controls 

Hydro’s generation and transmission activities has a 

backup energy control centre in a separate facility.

external threats to nalcor’s computer systems are 

mitigated through the use of firewalls, anti-virus 

tools and detection/intrusion prevention appliances. 

internet access is tightly controlled and managed 

by a web-filtering device that reduces the risk of 

potential computer viruses. 

Environmental
the number and diversity of environmental risks 

facing nalcor requires a structured and consistent 

management approach. nalcor applies the iso 14001 

environmental Management system (eMs) standard 

developed by the international organization for 

standardization to its Hydro and churchill Falls 

subsidiaries to drive continual improvement in 

mitigating environmental risks, while providing 

customers with safe, reliable electricity.

targets for improvements in environmental 

performance for these lines of business are 

established and monitored as part of the corporate 

goals and objectives. nalcor mitigates environmental 

risk through adherence to the various principles of the 

eMs, which include periodic internal environmental 

compliance audits, surveillance audits by an outside 

contractor  and recertification as iso 14001 compliant. 

Regulatory
Rates that Hydro Regulated charges for the provision 

of electrical service are established by the puB. the 

ability to recover the actual costs of providing service 

depends on achieving forecasts established in the 

rate setting process. during 2009, the Government 
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issued an order in council which provided Hydro 

with the ability to earn a rate of return equal to 

the rate approved from time to time by the puB for 

newfoundland power. Hydro has yet to file a general 

rate application to obtain this rate of return.

Growth Activities
as nalcor considers future growth activities in the 

energy sector, it may be subject to a number of risks. 

as investment opportunities are evaluated, strategies 

will be devised to mitigate identified risks. 

FINANCIAL RISK
nalcor operates in an environment with various forms 

of financial risk, including credit, liquidity and market 

risk. in compliance with Board-approved Financial 

Risk Management policy, nalcor utilizes a combination 

of derivative financial instruments, portfolio 

management, counter-party credit monitoring and 

financing activities to manage these risks.

Credit Risk
nalcor is exposed to credit risk in the event of 

non-performance by counterparties to its financial 

instruments. procedures and practices designed 

to manage the credit risks associated with the 

various business activities throughout nalcor  

include assessment and monitoring of counter-party 

creditworthiness, setting of credit limits and various 

forms of credit assurance. the majority of receivables 

are from regulated utilities and retail consumers, 

which minimizes credit risk. 

nalcor manages its cash investment credit risk 

exposure by restricting its investments to high-quality 

securities. investments held within the reserved fund 

portfolio of churchill Falls do not exceed 10% with any 

one institution with the exception of the Government of 

canada. derivative transactions are executed with only 

highly-rated banking institutions. credit risk related to 

the sale of recall power is managed through contractual 

arrangements with creditworthy counter parties, 

supported by credit enhancements as appropriate.

Liquidity Risk
nalcor is exposed to liquidity risk with respect to 

its contractual obligations and financial liabilities. 

short-term liquidity is provided by cash and cash 

equivalents, funds from operations and maintenance 

of borrowing facilities sufficient to cover both 

anticipated and unexpected fluctuations within its 

operations. cash flows are monitored continuously. 

long-term liquidity is provided through the issuance 

of debentures in the capital markets and injections of 

equity capital in support of large project investments.  

the funding obligations associated with the longer-

term debentures are managed through a balanced 

approach to debt maturity and a program of sinking 

fund investment. debt maturities are managed to 

avoid overly demanding funding requirements in any 

given year. 

Market Risk
interest Rates

nalcor has a $100.0 million demand operating 

facility. Hydro’s short-term funding is managed under 

a provincially-guaranteed promissory note program 

having a $300.0 million limit and a $50.0 million 

unsecured credit facility with its banker. churchill 

Falls maintains a short-term investment portfolio that 

serves its working capital needs. an unsecured credit 

facility of $10.0 million is available but has rarely 

been utilized. credit capacity is made available to oil 

and Gas through nalcor and as such, is not directly 

exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. 

nalcor annually establishes clear guidelines for 

exposure to short-term interest rates. these 

exposure limits are reset annually based on ongoing 

benchmarking against key indices, coupled with the 

performance of sensitivity analysis against established 

risk tolerance levels for each subsidiary. in this 

manner, nalcor attempts to minimize the likelihood 

of a material impact on net income resulting from an 

unexpected change in interest rates. 
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Foreign exchange and commodity prices

nalcor’s primary exposure to both foreign exchange 

and commodity price risk arises from: Hydro’s 

purchases of no. 6 fuel for consumption at its Holyrood 

thermal Generating station; the sale of recall power 

at usd market rates; and, usd denominated sales 

of crude oil by oil and Gas. Management of foreign 

exchange risk and commodity price risk is governed 

by the Financial Risk Management policy approved 

by the Board of directors.

Hydro Regulated’s exposure on the purchase of  

no. 6 fuel is mitigated through the operation of the 

Rsp. Hydro Regulated employs the periodic use of 

forward currency contracts as a means by which future 

exposure to exchange rate fluctuations on any given 

day can be avoided. as at december 31, 2010, there 

were no forward contracts outstanding in connection 

with no. 6 fuel purchases. 

Foreign exchange and commodity price exposures 

on sales of recall power are managed through a 

combination of portfolio management and derivative 

hedging instruments, including forward exchange 

contracts and commodity price swaps. during 2009, 

Hydro executed usd/cad currency trades on a total 

notional value of usd $87.8 million covering the 

24-month period from april 2009 to March 2011.  

as at december 31, 2010 the total notional value of 

currency trades outstanding was usd $11.5 million 

(2009 - $59.1 million). in 2010 commodity hedge 

trades with a total notional value of usd $24.7 million 

covering the nine-month period from april 2010 to 

december 2010 were executed. as at december 31, 

2010 the total notional value of commodity trades 

outstanding was usd $1.1 million.

exposure to both foreign exchange and commodity 

price risk arose in oil and Gas due to us denominated 

sales of crude oil which commenced in 2010. due 

to uncertainty surrounding the production profile and 

schedule, it was determined that a hedge strategy 

in relation to these sales was not prudent for 2010.

commodity price and foreign exchange risks, 

as it pertains to both energy sales and oil and 

gas investments, are managed in a manner that 

considers nalcor’s earnings quality and planned 

objectives. as added foreign exchange and 

commodity price exposures emerge, they will be 

managed in accordance with the Financial Risk 

Management policy.

COMPLIANCE RISK
nalcor is exposed to varying aspects of compliance 

risk across its lines of business. each line of business 

is required to assess their risk of non-compliance and 

to consider mitigation strategies in instances that 

have a high pre-mitigation risk rating. these include 

compliance with provincial legislation, regulatory 

directives, environmental standards, debt covenants, 

accounting standards and with a wide variety of 

contractual arrangements affecting both revenues 

and expenditures. 

in all these risk areas, nalcor has identified, rated 

and mitigated each risk as appropriate and ensured 

their consideration as part of the corporate business 

planning process. 
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SECTION 4: CRITICAL ACCOuNTING   
 ESTIMATES

nalcor’s discussion and analysis of its financial 

condition and results of operations are based on its 

audited consolidated Financial statements, which 

have been prepared in accordance with canadian 

Generally accepted accounting principles (Gaap). 

significant accounting policies are contained in 

note 2 to the audited consolidated Financial 

statements. some of these policies involve critical 

accounting estimates requiring subjective or complex 

judgments that are inherently uncertain which 

could result in materially different amounts under 

different conditions or using different assumptions. 

Management has discussed the development, 

selection, and application of its key accounting 

policies and the critical accounting estimates and 

assumptions they involve, with the audit committee 

of the Board of directors, and it has reviewed the 

disclosures described in this section.

the following section discusses the critical accounting 

estimates and assumptions that management has 

made and how they affect the amounts reported 

in the audited consolidated Financial statements. 

nalcor considers these estimates to be an important 

part of understanding its financial statements. 

Employee Future Benefits
nalcor provides pensions and other retirement 

benefits for most of its employees. nalcor believes 

the accounting estimates related to its employee 

benefit plan costs are critical accounting estimates 

because the derived estimates are based on the use 

of various key assumptions and differences in actual 

results or changes in assumptions could materially 

affect nalcor’s consolidated Financial statements.

due to the long-term nature of these plans, the 

calculation of expenses and obligations depends on 

various assumptions such as: discount rates, health 

care cost trend rates, projected salary increases, 

retirement age, mortality and termination rates.  

these assumptions are determined by management 

and are reviewed by nalcor’s actuaries.

the discount rate reflects the weighted average interest 

rate at which the other post-retirement liabilities could 

be effectively settled using high-quality bonds at the 

measurement date. Based on employee demographics 

and expected future benefit and medical claims, 

payments are measured and discounted to determine 

the present value of the expected future cash flows. 

the cash flows are discounted using yields on high-

quality aa-rated non-callable bonds with cash flows 

of similar timing. other assumptions are based on 

actual experience and best estimates.

actual results that differ from the assumptions are 

accumulated and amortized over future periods and, 

therefore, generally affect recognized expense and 

the recorded obligation in future periods. these 

differences relate primarily to actual actuarial gains/

losses incurred on the benefit obligation versus 

those expected, as recognized in the consolidated 

Financial statements. For further details on the 

annual expense and obligation, see note 11 to the 

consolidated Financial statements.

Asset Retirement Obligations
nalcor recognizes asset retirement obligations in the 

period in which they are incurred if a reasonable 

estimate of fair value can be determined. determining 

asset retirement obligations requires estimates in 

relation to the expected life of the asset and the costs of 

demolition, dismantlement, restoration and remedial 

work that would be required. during 2010, nalcor 

recognized an $11.4 million liability associated with 

the retirement of portions of the Holyrood thermal 

Generating station and $3.8 million of retirement 

obligations associated with nalcor’s net ownership 

interest in petroleum and natural gas properties. 

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
nalcor reviews the carrying value of its development 

projects at the end of each accounting period. nalcor 
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reviews the carrying value of its other property, 

plant and equipment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount 

may not be recoverable. When applicable, an 

impairment loss would be recognized equal to the 

amount by which the carrying amount exceeds 

the fair value. Various assumptions and accounting 

estimates are required to determine whether an 

impairment loss should be recognized and if so, the 

value of such loss. this includes factors such as short-

term and long-term forecasts of the future market 

price of electricity and fuel, the demand and supply 

of electricity and fuel, the in-service dates of new 

generating stations, inflation, capital expenditures 

and station lives. the amount of future net cash 

flow that nalcor expects to receive from its property,  

plant and equipment could differ materially from  

the net book values recorded in its consolidated 

Financial statements.

Full Cost Accounting for Petroleum  
and Natural Gas Properties
nalcor reviews the carrying value of its development 

projects at the end of each accounting period.  the 

carrying value of petroleum and natural gas properties, 

as well as the corresponding dd&a expense, is based 

on estimates of costs to develop proved undeveloped 

reserves, proved oil and gas reserves and future net 

cash flows from proved reserves.

Regulation
Generally, the accounting policies applicable to 

Hydro are subject to examination and approval by 

the puB. these accounting policies may differ from 

those used by entities not subject to rate regulation. 

the timing of the recognition of certain assets, 

liabilities, revenues and expenses may differ from 

that otherwise expected using canadian Gaap for 

entities not subject to rate regulation. Regulatory 

assets and regulatory liabilities arise as a result of 

the rate-setting process and have been recorded 

based on previous, existing or expected future 

regulatory orders. certain estimates are necessary 

until these amounts are finalized pursuant to 

regulatory decisions or other regulatory proceedings. 

the final amounts approved by the puB for deferral 

as regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities and 

the approved recovery or settlement periods may 

differ from those originally expected. any resulting 

adjustments to original estimates are reported in 

earnings in the period in which they become known. 

as at december 31, 2010, Hydro Regulated had  

$69.7 million in current and long-term regulatory 

assets (2009 - $74.1 million) and $159.8 million 

in current and long-term regulatory liabilities  

(2009 - $122.6 million). the nature of Hydro Regulated’s 

regulatory assets and liabilities is described in note 5 

to the consolidated Financial statements.

useful Life of Capital Assets
property, plant and equipment are amortized over 

their estimated service lives. estimated service lives 

are determined based on the anticipated physical life 

of the asset, technological obsolescence, and past 

experience, and are reviewed regularly to ensure 

that they continue to be appropriate.

amortization is an estimate based primarily on 

the anticipated useful life of assets that reflects 

current facts and historical information. nalcor’s 

consolidated property, plant and equipment 

represents approximately 70% of total consolidated 

assets as at december 31, 2010 (2009 - 72%). 

amortization expense associated with property,  

plant and equipment was $56.9 million during 

2010 (2009 - $54.9 million). due to the size of 

nalcor’s property, plant and equipment, changes in 

amortization rates can have a significant impact on 

amortization expense.

during 2010, Hydro Regulated completed an 

amortization study as a follow-up to the 2005 study 

conducted pursuant to order no. p.u. 7 (2002 - 2003) 

the scope of this study included a review of Hydro’s 

amortization methods as well as a statistical 

analysis of service life estimates and calculation 

of appropriate amortization rates and annual  

and accrued amortization balances as at  
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december 31, 2009. Based on the results of this 

study, management currently estimates that 

switching from the use of the sinking fund rather 

than straight-line amortization for hydroelectric and 

transmission assets as well as changing from unit 

based amortization to a group based method on 

remaining life basis will result in minimal change in 

the annual amortization expense. 

Capitalized Overhead
as approved by the puB, Hydro Regulated capitalizes 

overhead costs that are not directly attributable  

to specific capital assets but which relate to the 

overall capital program. this capital overhead is 

allocated to property, plant and equipment and 

amortized over their estimated service life. in 2010, 

$2.1 million (2009 - $2.5 million) was allocated. 

any change in the methodology of calculating and 

allocating general overhead costs to property, plant 

and equipment could have a significant impact on 

the amount recorded as operating expenses and 

property, plant and equipment assets. 

Contingencies
nalcor is subject to various legal proceedings and 

claims associated with the ordinary course of 

business operations. it is management’s judgment 

that the amount of liability, if any, from these actions 

would not have a material adverse effect on nalcor’s 

financial position or results of operations. 

SECTION 5: ACCOuNTING CHANGES

Conversion to International Financial  
Reporting Standards (IFRS)
on February 13, 2008, the accounting standards 

Board (acsB) confirmed that publicly-accountable 

enterprises will be required to adopt international 

Financial Reporting standards (iFRs) for interim 

and annual financial statements for fiscal years 

beginning on or after January 1, 2011. as a result of 

recent changes to part i of the canadian institute of 

chartered accountants (cica) Handbook – accounting, 

by the acsB, certain rate-regulated entities can defer 

the adoption of iFRs by one year to January 1, 2012. 

nalcor meets the criteria for deferral and as such has 

chosen to adopt iFRs effective January 1, 2012.

nalcor commenced its iFRs conversion project in 

2008 and established a formal project governance 

structure which includes a steering committee 

consisting of senior levels of management from 

various disciplines as appropriate. Regular reporting 

is provided to the leadership team and the audit 

committee of the Board of directors. in addition 

to dedicated internal resources, nalcor has also 

engaged an external advisor to assist in the iFRs 

conversion project.

nalcor is currently finalizing and implementing 

system and process changes, preparing comparative 

financial information, finalizing and obtaining audit 

committee approval of iFRs compliant financial 

statements as well as providing further training and 

communication to affected stakeholders.  

Accounting Policy Decisions and Impacts
the following discussion provides further information 

about nalcor’s policy choices upon transition to iFRs. 

at this time, nalcor has not reached a conclusion 
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on all its accounting policy choices and, since the 

iasB continues to issue new accounting standards, 

nalcor’s final accounting policy decision will only be 

determined once all applicable standards are known 

prior to January 1, 2012 transition date.

 the areas with the highest potential to significantly 

impact nalcor upon conversion to iFRs, identified 

during the scoping phase, are regulatory assets 

and liabilities, property, plant and equipment and 

petroleum and natural gas properties.

Regulatory assets and liabilities

nalcor currently uses certain accounting policies 

specific to rate-regulated activities under Gaap 

which permit the recognition of regulatory assets 

and liabilities. the concept of rate regulatory 

accounting does not exist under current iFRs. 

the inability to recognize regulatory assets and 

liabilities after implementing iFRs in 2012 may have 

a significant impact on nalcor’s earnings due to  

a change in the timing of recognition of revenues 

and expenses.

property, plant and equipment

international accounting standard (ias) 16 – property, 

plant & equipment, requires that significant parts 

of an asset be depreciated separately. nalcor has 

completed a review of its asset records and made 

modifications where necessary, to ensure compliance 

with ias 16. ias 16 also permits property, plant and 

equipment to be measured using the fair value 

model or the cost model. nalcor has chosen to adopt 

the cost model which results in no change from the 

current measurement policy under Gaap.

ias 16 also requires the cost of an asset to be reduced 

by the systematic allocation of depreciation over  

the assets useful economic life. nalcor has determined 

that sinking fund depreciation used on certain  

assets in Hydro Regulated is not appropriate under  

iFRs and will adopt the straight-line method  

upon transition.

in May 2010, the iasB amended iFRs 1 such that 

entities with rate-regulated activities could elect to use 

the carrying amount of items of property, plant and 

equipment as deemed cost at the date of transition to 

iFRs. nalcor currently intends to apply this exemption.

petroleum and natural Gas properties

under canadian Gaap, nalcor follows the cica’s 

guideline on full cost accounting in which all costs 

directly associated with the acquisition of, exploration 

for, and development of oil and gas reserves are 

capitalized on a country-by-country cost centre basis. 

costs accumulated within each country are depleted 

using the unit-of-production method based on 

proved reserves. 

under iFRs, nalcor will continue to deplete capitalized 

costs using the unit-of-production method; however, 

nalcor has chosen to deplete these costs based on 

proved plus probable reserves. 

under iFRs, nalcor will also adopt new accounting 

policies associated with pre-exploration costs, 

exploration and evaluation costs and development 

costs. under canadian Gaap pre-exploration 

costs are capitalized and depleted within the cost 

centre. under iFRs these costs must be expensed. 

exploration and evaluation costs will continue to be 

capitalized under iFRs until the project is determined 

to be technically feasible and commercially viable, 

at which point the costs would be transferred 

to property, plant and equipment. under iFRs, 

nalcor will continue to capitalize development 

costs, however, these costs will be depleted on a  

unit-of-production method over a cash generating 

unit level instead of the country cost centre level. 

during 2011, nalcor will continue to review all 

proposed and continuing projects of the iasB, 

closely monitor any international Financial Reporting 

interpretations committee initiatives with potential 

to impact financial reporting and will participate in 

related initiatives as appropriate.



MaNageMeNt report

the accompanying consolidated Financial statements of nalcor energy, and all information in the Business and 

Financial Report, are the responsibility of Management and have been approved by the Board of directors.

the consolidated Financial statements have been prepared by Management in accordance with canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles, applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year. the preparation of 

financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on Management’s judgement, particularly 

when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized with certainty until future periods. 

the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality and in light of 

information available up to april 1, 2011. Financial information presented elsewhere in the Business and Financial 

Report is consistent with that in the consolidated Financial statements.

Management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are 

safeguarded and that reliable financial information is available on a timely basis. the system includes formal 

policies and procedures and an organizational structure that provides for the appropriate delegation of authority 

and segregation of responsibilities. an internal audit department independently evaluates the effectiveness of 

these internal controls on an ongoing basis, and reports its findings to Management and to the audit committee 

of the Board of directors.

the responsibility of the external auditor, deloitte & touche llp, is to express an independent, professional opinion 

on whether the consolidated Financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles. the auditors’ Report outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion.

the Board of directors, through its audit committee, is responsible for ensuring that Management fulfills its 

responsibility for financial reporting and internal controls. the audit committee meets regularly with Management, 

the internal auditors and the external auditors to satisfy itself that each group has properly discharged its respective 

responsibility and to review the consolidated Financial statements before recommending approval by the Board 

of directors. the internal and external auditors have full and free access to the audit committee, with and without 

the presence of Management.

Ed Martin                  Derrick Sturge 
president and chief executive officer Vice president, Finance and chief Financial officer



iNdepeNdeNt auditors’ report

to the lieutenant-Governor in council

Province of Newfoundland and Labrador

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of nalcor energy, which comprise the 

consolidated balance sheet as at december 31, 2010, and the consolidated statements of income and retained 

earnings, comprehensive income and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with canadian generally accepted auditing standards. those standards require 

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. in making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 

fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  

audit opinion. 

Opinion
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

nalcor energy as at december 31, 2010, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

chartered accountants

st. John’s, nl

canada

april 1, 2011
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CoNsolidated balaNCe sheet

As at December 31 (millions of dollars)  2010 2009

assets    
Current assets     

 Cash and cash equivalents  44.5 14.0

 short-term investments   15.7  49.2

 accounts receivable  93.9 88.9

 Current portion of regulatory assets (Note 5)  3.8 4.8

 inventory  63.0 59.5

 prepaid expenses   4.7  3.3

 derivative assets  2.0 5.7

   227.6 225.4

property, plant and equipment (Note 3)  1,968.7 1,901.7

petroleum and natural gas properties (Note 4)  269.2 193.8

regulatory assets (Note 5)  65.9 69.3

other long-term assets (Note 6)  273.4 240.5

   2,804.8  2,630.7

liabilities     
Current liabilities 

 accounts payable and accrued liabilities  152.1 125.2

 Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8)   8.2  37.5

 Current portion of regulatory liabilities (Note 5)  118.9 89.8

 deferred credits  2.6 3.1

 derivative liabilities  0.3 -

   282.1	 255.6

long-term debt (Note 8)   1,136.7  1,141.6

regulatory liabilities (Note 5)  40.9 32.8

asset retirement obligations (Note 9)  14.8 -

long-term payable (Note 10)  4.6 4.3

employee future benefits (Note 11)   60.3  54.4

   1,539.4 1,488.7

shareholder’s eQuity    
 share capital (Note 12)  122.5 122.5

 Contributed capital (Note 12)  374.1  333.5

   496.6 456.0

 accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 13)  27.3 22.0

 retained earnings  741.5 664.0

   768.8 686.0

   1,265.4 1,142.0

   2,804.8 2,630.7

Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)    

subsequent events (Note 23)   
    
See accompanying notes

on Behalf of the Board

	 	 	 	

ed Martin                  gerald shortall 
director    director



CoNsolidated stateMeNt of iNCoMe 
aNd retaiNed earNiNgs
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CoNsolidated stateMeNt of 
CoMpreheNsive iNCoMe

For the year ended December 31 (millions of dollars)  2010 2009

revenue 

 energy sales  588.8  561.6

 interest and finance income (Note 16)  18.0  18.2

 other revenue  13.3  10.3

   620.1	 590.1

expenses       

 fuels  140.4  155.2

 power purchased  44.4  47.1

 operations and administration   182.6  171.3

 interest and finance charges (Note 16)   105.1  102.3

 amortization and depletion   67.5  54.9

 other gains and losses  2.6 (0.7)

    542.6  530.1                                              

Net income   77.5  60.0

retained earnings, beginning of year  664.0  604.0

retained earnings, end of year   741.5  664.0
     
See accompanying notes

For the year ended December 31 (millions of dollars)  2010 2009

Net income   77.5  60.0

other comprehensive income     

 Change in fair value of available for sale financial instruments  20.6 9.8

 Change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges 1.1  9.2

 amounts recognized in net income   (16.4)  (13.5)

Comprehensive income  82.8 65.5
     
See accompanying notes



CoNsolidated stateMeNt of Cash flows

For the year ended December 31 (millions of dollars)  2010 2009

Cash provided by (used in)        

operating activities        

 Net income  77.5   60.0

 adjusted for items not involving a cash flow        

 amortization and depletion  67.5  54.9

 accretion of long-term debt  0.4  0.4

 loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  0.7  1.8

 unrealized loss (gain) on derivative instruments  0.3  (0.8)

   146.4  116.3

Changes in non-cash operating working capital balances (Note 17) 64.5  96.0

   210.9  212.3

financing activities        

 long-term debt repaid  (29.3	) (0.9)

 increase in contributed capital   40.6  142.0

 (decrease) increase in deferred credits  (0.5	) 2.6

 increase in long-term payable  0.3  3.6

 decrease in promissory notes  -  (163.0)

   11.1  (15.7)

investing activities        

 additions to property, plant and equipment  (113.6	) (96.4)

 additions to petroleum and natural gas properties  (82.7	) (81.7)

 increase in other long-term assets  (29.2	) (31.1)

 decrease (increase) in short-term investments  33.5  (24.6)

 proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  0.5  1.4

   (191.5	) (232.4)

Net increase (decrease) in cash  30.5  (35.8)

Cash position, beginning of year  14.0  49.8

Cash position, end of year  44.5  14.0

Cash position is represented by        

 Cash (bank indebtedness)  44.3  (3.0)

 Cash equivalents  0.2  17.0

   44.5  14.0

supplementary cash flow information (Note 17)        

See accompanying notes
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Notes to CoNsolidated fiNaNCial stateMeNts

1. DESCRIPTION OF BuSINESS 
 
nalcor energy (nalcor) is incorporated under a special act of the legislature of the province of newfoundland and 

labrador (province) as a crown corporation and its business includes the development, generation and sale of 

electricity, oil and gas, wind energy, industrial fabrication and energy marketing.

nalcor holds interests in the following subsidiaries and jointly controlled companies:

newfoundland and labrador Hydro (Hydro) is incorporated under a special act of the legislature of the province.  

the principal activity of Hydro is the generation, transmission and sale of electricity. Hydro’s operations include both 

regulated and non-regulated activities.

churchill Falls (labrador) corporation limited (churchill Falls) is incorporated under the laws of canada and owns 

and operates a hydroelectric generating plant and related transmission facilities situated in labrador which has a 

rated capacity of 5,428 megawatts (MW). 

twin Falls power corporation (twin Falls) is incorporated under the laws of canada and has developed a 225 MW 

hydroelectric generating plant on the unknown River in labrador. the plant has been inoperative since 1974. 

nalcor energy oil and Gas inc. (oil and Gas) is incorporated under the corporations act of newfoundland and 

labrador. oil and Gas has a broad mandate to engage in upstream and downstream sectors of the oil and gas 

industry including exploration, development, production, transportation and processing.

nalcor energy Bull arm Fabrication inc. (Bull arm Fabrication) is incorporated under the corporations act of 

newfoundland and labrador. Bull arm Fabrication is atlantic canada’s largest industrial fabrication site and has 

a fully integrated infrastructure to support large scale fabrication and assembly. its facilities include onshore 

fabrication halls and shops, a dry-dock and a deepwater site. 

nalcor also has two inactive subsidiaries, Gull island power corporation (Gipco) and lower churchill development 

corporation (lcdc). 

nalcor and its subsidiaries and jointly controlled companies, other than twin Falls, are exempt from paying income 

taxes under section 149 (1) (d) of the income tax act.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOuNTING POLICIES 

the consolidated Financial statements have been prepared in accordance with canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles. 

the province transferred its ownership interest in Bull arm Fabrication to nalcor effective March 31, 2009. the 

transfer has been accounted for using the continuity of interests method which resulted in a restatement to include 

Bull arm Fabrication’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows as if Bull arm Fabrication had been 

combined since its inception.



Principles of Consolidation
the consolidated Financial statements include the financial statements of nalcor and its subsidiary companies: 

Hydro (100% owned), oil and Gas (100% owned), Bull arm Fabrication (100% owned), Gipco (100% owned) and 

lcdc (51% owned). intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation.

effective June 18, 1999, Hydro, churchill Falls and Hydro-Québec entered into a shareholders’ agreement which 

provided, among other matters, that certain of the strategic operating, financing and investing policies of churchill 

Falls be subject to approval jointly by representatives of Hydro and Hydro-Québec on the Board of directors of churchill 

Falls. although Hydro retains its 65.8% ownership interest, the agreement changed the nature of the relationship 

between Hydro and Hydro-Québec, with respect to churchill Falls, from that of majority and minority shareholders, 

respectively, to that of joint venturers. accordingly, Hydro has applied the proportionate consolidation method of 

accounting for its interest in churchill Falls subsequent to the effective date of the shareholders’ agreement.

churchill Falls holds 33.33% of the equity share capital of twin Falls and is a party with other shareholders in a 

participation agreement which gives churchill Falls joint control of twin Falls. this investment is accounted for by the 

proportionate consolidation method.

substantially all of oil and Gas’ activities are conducted jointly with others and accordingly these statements reflect 

only nalcor’s proportionate interest in such activities.

use of Estimates
preparation of these consolidated Financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect 

the amounts reported and disclosed in these statements and related notes. Key areas where management has 

made complex or subjective judgements include the fair value and recoverability of assets, the reported amounts of 

revenue and expenses, litigation, environmental and asset retirement obligations, amortization, property, plant and 

equipment, the valuation of oil and gas reserves and related depletion  and other employee future benefits. actual 

results may differ from these estimates, including changes as a result of future decisions made by the newfoundland 

and labrador Board of commissioners of public utilities (puB), and these differences could be material.

Rates and Regulations
Hydro’s revenues from its electrical sales to most customers within the province are subject to rate regulation by the 

puB. Hydro’s borrowing and capital expenditure programs are also subject to review and approval by the puB. Rates 

are set through periodic general rate applications utilizing a cost of service (cos) methodology. the allowed rate of 

return on rate base is 7.4% (2009 - 7.4%).  Hydro applies various accounting policies that differ from enterprises that 

do not operate in a rate regulated environment. Generally these policies result in the deferral and amortization of 

costs or credits which will be recovered or refunded in future rates.  in the absence of rate regulation these amounts 

would be included in the determination of net income in the year the amounts are incurred. the effects of rate 

regulation on the consolidated Financial statements are more fully disclosed in note 5.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments consist primarily of canadian treasury Bills and Banker’s 

acceptances (Bas). those with original maturities at date of purchase of three months or less are classified as cash 

equivalents whereas those with original maturities beyond three months and less than 12 months are classified as 

Notes to CoNsolidated fiNaNCial stateMeNts



NewfouNdlaNd aNd labrador Hydro        CHurCHill falls        oil aNd Gas        lower CHurCHill ProjeCt       bull arm fabriCatioN  

2010 Business and Financial RepoRt                    54 | 55  

short-term investments. the short-term investments bear interest rates of 0.40% to 1.35% (2009 - 0.25% to 1.57%) 

per annum. cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are measured at fair value. 

Inventory
inventory is recorded at the lower of average cost and net realizable value.

Property, Plant and Equipment 
property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, which comprises materials, labour, contracted services, other 

costs directly related to construction and an allocation of certain overhead costs. expenditures for additions and 

betterments are capitalized and normal expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations. the 

cost of property, plant and equipment under construction is transferred to property, plant and equipment in service 

when construction is completed and facilities are commissioned, at which point amortization commences.

contributions in aid of construction are funds received from customers and governments toward the incurred cost of 

property, plant and equipment, or the fair value of assets contributed. contributions are recorded as a reduction to 

property, plant and equipment and the net property, plant and equipment is amortized.

Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are recognized in income as incurred.

nalcor, oil and Gas and Bull arm Fabrication

amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over service lives ranging from four to 30 years.

Hydro

construction in progress includes the costs incurred in engineering and construction of new generation, transmission 

and distribution facilities. interest is charged to construction in progress at rates equivalent to Hydro’s weighted 

average cost of capital.

amortization is calculated on hydroelectric generating plant and on transmission plant in service on the sinking fund 

method using interest factors ranging from 5.25% to 15.79%. amortization on distribution system and other plant 

in service is calculated on the straight-line method. these methods are designed to fully amortize the cost of the 

facilities, after deducting contributions in aid of construction, over their estimated service lives.

 

estimated service lives of the major assets are as follows:

generation plant

 hydroelectric 50, 75 and 100 years

 thermal 25 and 30 years

 diesel 20 years

transmission 

 lines 40 and 50 years

 switching stations 40 years

distribution system 30 years

other 3 to 50 years



Hydroelectric generation plant includes the powerhouse, turbines, governors and generators, as well as water 

conveying and control structures, including dams, dykes, tailrace, penstock and intake structures.  thermal generation 

plant is comprised of the powerhouse, turbines and generators, boilers, oil storage tanks, stacks and auxiliary 

systems. diesel generation plant includes the buildings, engines, generators, switchgear, fuel storage and transfer 

systems, dykes and liners and cooling systems.

transmission lines include the support structures, foundations and insulators associated with lines at voltages of 

230, 138 and 69 kilovolt (kV). switching stations assets are used to step up voltages of electricity from generating 

to transmission and to step down voltages for distribution.   

distribution system assets include poles, transformers, insulators and conductors.

other assets include telecontrol, computer software, buildings, vehicles, furniture, tools and equipment.

churchill Falls 

amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

   
hydroelectric generation plant 67 years

transmission and terminals 67 years

service facilities 67 years

other 5 to 100 years

Capitalized Interest
interest is charged to construction in progress until the project is complete at rates equivalent to the weighted 

average cost of debt or the last approved weighted average cost of capital for regulated assets. capitalized interest 

cannot exceed actual interest incurred.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets
nalcor reviews the carrying value of its oil and gas properties and development projects at the end of each accounting 

period. nalcor reviews the carrying value of its other property, plant and equipment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. an impairment loss corresponding to the 

amount by which the carrying value exceeds fair value is recognized, if applicable.

Petroleum and Natural Gas Properties
nalcor employs the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas interests whereby all costs related to the 

acquisition, exploration for and development of petroleum and natural gas reserves are capitalized. such costs 

include land acquisition costs, geological and geophysical costs, carrying charges of non-producing properties, 

drilling of productive and non-productive wells, the cost of petroleum and natural gas production equipment and 

administrative costs directly related to exploration and development activities.

under the full cost method, capitalized costs, together with estimated future capital costs associated with proved 

reserves, are depleted and depreciated using the unit-of-production method based on estimated gross proved 

reserves at future prices and costs as determined by independent reservoir engineers.
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costs of acquiring and evaluating unproved properties and certain costs associated with major development 

projects are not subject to depletion until proved reserves are attributable to the property, production commences 

or impairment occurs. the carrying value of petroleum and natural gas properties is assessed annually or as 

circumstances dictate.  

impairment losses are recognized when the carrying value exceeds the sum of:

• the undiscounted future net cash flows from production of proved reserves based on forecast prices and costs;

• the costs of unproved properties, less impairment; and

• the costs of major development projects, less impairment.

the amount of impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the sum of:

• the fair value of proved and probable reserves; and

• the cost, less impairment, of unproved properties and major development projects.

Asset Retirement Obligations
the fair value of the future expenditures required to settle legal obligations associated with the retirement of 

property, plant and equipment, is recognized to the extent that they are reasonably estimable.  asset retirement 

obligations are recorded as a liability at fair value, with a corresponding increase to property, plant and equipment.  

accretion of asset retirement obligations is included in net income through amortization and depletion. differences 

between the recorded asset retirement obligation and the actual retirement costs incurred are recorded as a gain 

or loss in the settlement period.

Employee Future Benefits
employees participate in the province’s public service pension plan, a multi-employer defined benefit plan.  the 

employer’s contributions are expensed as incurred. 

nalcor provides group life insurance and health care benefits on a cost-shared basis to retired employees, in addition 

to a severance payment upon retirement. the expected cost of providing these other employee future benefits is 

accounted for on an accrual basis and has been actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated 

on service and management’s best estimate of salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and expected 

health care costs.  the excess of net cumulative actuarial gains and losses over 10% of the accrued benefit obligation 

is amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the employee group.

Revenue Recognition
electricity sales

Revenue is recognized on the accrual basis, as power deliveries are made, and includes an estimate of the value 

of electricity consumed by customers in the year, but billed subsequent to year-end. sales within the province are 

primarily at rates approved by the puB, whereas export sales and sales to certain major industrial customers are 

either at rates under the terms of the applicable contracts, or at market rates.



a power contract with Hydro-Québec, dated May 12, 1969 (“the power contract”) provides for the sale of a significant 

amount of the energy from churchill Falls until 2041. the power contract has a 40-year term to 2016 which then 

renews for a further term of 25 years. the rate is predetermined in the power contract and decreases from the 

existing rate of 2.5426 mills per kilowatt hour (kWh) to 2.0 mills per kWh upon renewal in 2016.

churchill Falls receives revenues from Hydro-Québec, under a guaranteed winter availability contract (GWac) through 

2041. the GWac provides for the sale of 682 MW of guaranteed seasonal availability to Hydro-Québec during the 

months of november through March in each of the remaining years until the end of the power contract.

the value of differences between energy delivered and the annual energy Base (aeB), as defined in the power 

contract, is tracked over a four-year period and then either recovered from or refunded to Hydro-Québec over the 

subsequent four-year period, unless the balance is less than $1.0 million in which case it is recovered or refunded 

immediately. these long-term receivables or long-term payables are subject to interest at 7% per annum (2009 - 7%). 

oil sales

Revenue from the sale of crude oil is recognized under the accrual method when the significant risks and rewards 

of ownership have passed and collection is reasonably assured. transfer of risks and rewards are considered to have 

occurred when title to the product passes to the customer.

Revenue from properties in which the company has an interest with other producers is recognized on the basis of 

the oil and Gas’ net working interest using the entitlement method.  under this method, crude oil produced and sold 

below or above the oil and Gas’ net working interest results in an underlift or overlift position.  underlift or overlift 

positions are measured at market value and recorded as an asset or liability respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated into their canadian dollar equivalent as follows: 

(a) at the transaction date, each asset, liability, revenue or expense is translated using exchange rates in effect 

at that date. 

(b) at the date of settlement and at each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities are adjusted to 

reflect exchange rates in effect at that date. any resulting gain or loss is reflected in income, except gains or 

losses on purchases of fuel which are included in the cost of fuel inventory.

Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet when nalcor becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument and are initially measured at fair value. subsequent measurement is based 

on classification. nalcor has classified each of its financial instruments into the following categories: financial assets 

and liabilities held for trading; loans and receivables; financial assets held to maturity; financial assets available for 

sale; and other financial liabilities.
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nalcor has classified its financial instruments as follows:
 

Cash and cash equivalents held for trading

short-term investments available for sale

accounts receivable loans and receivables

derivative assets held for trading

sinking funds - investments in same hydro issue held to maturity

sinking funds - other investments available for sale

reserve fund available for sale

long-term receivables loans and receivables

accounts payable and accrued liabilities other liabilities

derivative liabilities held for trading 

long-term debt other liabilities

long-term payable other liabilities

each of these financial instruments is measured at amortized cost, except for cash and cash equivalents, short-term 

investments, sinking funds – other investments, reserve fund, derivative assets and derivative liabilities which are 

measured at fair value.

transaction costs related to financial assets and financial liabilities are included as part of the cost of the instrument, 

with the exception of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments which are expensed as incurred through 

interest and finance charges, based upon the pricing obtained during the quotation process. discounts and premiums 

on financial instruments are amortized to income over the life of the instrument. 

derivative instruments and Hedging activities

derivative instruments are utilized by nalcor to manage market risk. nalcor’s policy is not to utilize derivative 

instruments for speculative purposes. nalcor may choose to designate derivative instruments as hedges and apply 

hedge accounting if there is a high degree of correlation between price movements in the derivative instruments 

and the hedged items. nalcor formally documents all hedges and the risk management objectives at the inception 

of the hedge. derivative instruments that have been designated and qualify for hedge accounting are classified as 

either cash flow or fair value hedges.

nalcor has designated foreign exchange forward contracts as cash flow hedges (notes 6(d) and 15). in a cash flow 

hedge relationship, the portion of gains or losses on the hedging item that is determined to be an effective hedge 

is recognized in other comprehensive income (oci), while the ineffective portion is recorded in net income. the 

amounts recognized in oci are reclassified in net income when the hedged item affects net income. 

nalcor had no fair value hedges in place at december 31, 2010 or 2009.

Future Accounting Changes 
in october 2009, the accounting standards Board (acsB) issued a third and final omnibus exposure draft 

confirming that publically accountable enterprises in canada will be required to apply international Financial 

Reporting standards (iFRs), as issued by the international accounting standards Board (iasB), in full and 



without modification, for interim and annual financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 

as a result of recent changes to part 1 of the canadian insitiute of chartered accountants (cica) Handbook 

– accounting, by the acsB, certain rate-regulated entities can defer the adoption of iFRs by one year to 

January 1, 2012. nalcor meets the acsB’s criteria for the deferral and has chosen to adopt iFRs effective  

January 1, 2012.

nalcor is continuing to assess the financial reporting impacts of the adoption of iFRs; however, the impact of iFRs will 

depend on the iFRs standards in effect at the time of conversion on January 1, 2012 and the accounting elections made. 

the iasB has deferred its work on rate-regulated activities accounting project and has not provided interim guidance 

for the recognition and measurement of regulatory assets and liabilities. accordingly, nalcor continues to assess 

existing iFRs guidance to determine the impact of differences that will apply to accounting for rate-regulated 

activities upon adoption of iFRs on January 1, 2012.

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EquIPMENT

   Contributions
    in aid of   accumulated  Net book
  Cost Construction amortization value 

(millions of dollars)    2010

electric – generation 1,767.6			 29.5			 	 615.9		 1,122.2 

electric – transmission and distribution 849.0			 67.9			 	 280.4		 500.7 

development projects 240.1	 	 -	 	 	 -	 		 240.1 

other 309.4		 24.0			 	 179.7		 105.7 

  3,166.1			 121.4			 	 1,076.0		 1,968.7 

 

(millions of dollars)        2009

electric – generation 1,735.4  29.6   595.0  1,110.8 

electric – transmission and distribution 822.9  67.7   263.3  491.9 

development projects 194.2  -   -  194.2 

other 295.5  23.5   167.2  104.8 

  3,048.0  120.8   1,025.5  1,901.7 

as at december 31, 2010, the cost of assets under construction and therefore excluded from costs subject to 

amortization was $257.7 million (2009 - $200.9 million).

4. PETROLEuM AND NATuRAL GAS PROPERTIES
 

(millions of dollars)  2010 2009 

petroleum and natural gas properties  279.8  193.8 

less: accumulated depletion (10.6) - 

   269.2  193.8 

internal costs directly related to acquisition, exploration and development activities capitalized in 2010 were $0.6 

million (2009 - $0.2 million).
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as at december 31, 2010 $174.7 million (2009 - $193.8 million) of accumulated costs of petroleum and natural gas 

properties were not subject to depletion and depreciation.

oil and Gas properties include nalcor’s acquisition costs and proportionate share of exploration and development 

costs. nalcor has a 4.9% working interest in the Hebron oil field, a 5.0% working interest in the White Rose Growth 

project, a 10% working interest in the Hibernia southern extension and an average working interest of 67% in three 

onshore exploration permits in parsons pond on the Great northern peninsula.

Acquisitions
on February 16, 2010, oil and Gas signed formal agreements to acquire a 10% equity interest in the Hibernia 

southern extension subsea tie-back project for a purchase price of $30.0 million. 

5. REGuLATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

     remaining recovery
     settlement period 
(millions of dollars)  2010  2009  (years) 

regulatory assets       

 foreign exchange losses 66.8 68.9 31.0 

 deferred major extraordinary repairs 2.3 4.9 1.8 

 deferred study costs - 0.1 1.0 

 deferred energy conservation costs 0.6 0.2 n/a 

total regulatory assets 69.7 74.1   

 less current portion 3.8 4.8   

   65.9  69.3   

regulatory liabilities       

 rate stabilization plan 159.2 122.0 n/a 

 deferred purchased power savings 0.6 0.6 16.5 

total regulatory liabilities 159.8 122.6   

 less current portion 118.9 89.8   

   40.9  32.8   

nalcor’s subsidiary, Hydro, has operations that are regulated by the puB.

Regulatory assets represent future revenues associated with certain costs, incurred in current or prior periods that 

are expected to be recovered from customers in future periods through the rate-setting process. Regulatory liabilities 

represent future reductions or limitations of increases in revenues associated with amounts that are expected to be 

refunded to customers as a result of the rate-setting process. amounts deferred as regulatory assets and liabilities 

are subject to puB approval. the risks and uncertainties related to regulatory assets and liabilities are subject to 

periodic assessment. When Hydro considers that the value of these regulatory assets or liabilities are no longer 

likely to be recovered or repaid through future rate adjustments, the carrying amount is reflected in operations. 

the following is a description of each of the circumstances in which rate regulation affects the accounting for a 

transaction or event.  



Rate Stabilization Plan 
on January 1, 1986, Hydro, having received the approval of the puB, implemented a Rate stabilization plan (Rsp) 

which primarily provides for the deferral of fuel expense variances resulting from changes in fuel prices, levels of 

precipitation and load. adjustments required in retail rates to cover the amortization of the balance in the plan are 

implemented on July 1 of each year. similar adjustments required in industrial rates are implemented on January 1 

of each year.

Balances accumulating in the Rsp, including financing charges, are to be recovered or refunded in the following year, 

with the exception of hydraulic variation, which will be recovered or refunded at a rate of 25% of the outstanding 

balance at year-end. additionally, a fuel rider is calculated annually based on the forecast fuel price and is added to 

or subtracted from the rates that would otherwise be in effect.

Hydro recognizes the Rsp balances as a regulatory asset or liability based on the expectation that rates will be 

adjusted annually to provide for the collection from, or refund to, customers in future periods. in the absence 

of rate regulation, canadian generally accepted accounting principles require that the cost of fuel be recognized 

as an operating expense in the period in which it was consumed. in 2010, $23.3 million was recognized  

(2009 - $42.3 million) in the Rsp and $2.3 million (2009 - $18.3 million) was recovered through rates and included 

in energy sales, with a corresponding cost amortized in fuel expenses.

Deferred Foreign Exchange Losses
Hydro incurred foreign exchange losses related to the issuance of swiss Franc and Japanese Yen denominated debt 

in 1975 and 1985, respectively, which were recognized when the debt was repaid in 1997. the puB has accepted 

the inclusion of realized foreign exchange losses related to long-term debt in rates charged to customers in future 

periods. any such loss, net of any gain, is deferred to the time of the next rate hearing for inclusion in the new rates 

to be set at that time. accordingly, these losses are recognized as a regulatory asset. in the absence of rate regulation, 

canadian generally accepted accounting principles would require that Hydro include the losses in operating costs, 

in each year that the related debt was outstanding, to reflect the exchange rates in effect on each reporting date.

commencing in 2002, the puB ordered Hydro’s deferred realized foreign exchange losses be amortized over a 40-year 

period. this amortization, of $2.1 million (2009 - $2.2 million), is included in interest and finance charges (note 16).

Deferred Major Extraordinary Repairs
in its report dated april 13, 1992, the puB recommended that Hydro adopt a policy of deferring and amortizing 

the costs of major extraordinary repairs in excess of $0.5 million, subject to puB approval on a case-by-case basis.  

in 2005, Hydro started an asbestos abatement program at the Holyrood thermal Generating station (HtGs). this 

program was carried out over a three-year period. pursuant to order no. p.u. 2 (2005), the puB approved the deferral 

and amortization of these costs as a major extraordinary repair. accordingly, the costs incurred in each year of the 

program were recognized as a regulatory asset to be amortized over the subsequent five-year period. in 2006, Hydro 

incurred $2.3 million in expenses to repair a boiler tube failure at the HtGs. pursuant to order no. p.u. 44 (2006), 

the puB approved the deferral and amortization of these costs as a major extraordinary repair. accordingly, these 

costs are being amortized over a five-year period. in the absence of rate regulation, canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles would require that Hydro expense the cost of the asbestos abatement program and the boiler 

tube repairs in the year incurred. in 2010, $2.6 million (2009 - $2.7 million) of amortization was recognized in 

operations and administration expense.
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Deferred Study Costs
pursuant to order no. p.u. 14 (2004), the puB directed Hydro to conduct an independent study of the treatment of 

newfoundland power’s generation in Hydro’s cos, and an independent marginal cost study, and to accumulate these 

costs in a deferral account to be dealt with at the next general rate application. pursuant to order no. p.u. 8 (2007), 

Hydro received approval for recovery of these costs over a three-year period commencing in 2007. accordingly, 

these costs have been recognized as a regulatory asset. in the absence of rate regulation, canadian Gaap would 

require that Hydro include the cost of these studies in operating costs in the year incurred. in 2010, $0.1 million  

(2009 - $0.1 million) was recognized in operations and administration expense. 

Deferred Energy Conservation Costs
pursuant to order no. p.u. 14 (2009), Hydro received approval to defer costs associated with an electrical conservation 

program for residential, industrial, and commercial sectors and, accordingly, these costs have been recognized as a 

regulatory asset. in the absence of rate regulation, canadian generally accepted accounting principles would require 

that Hydro include this program as operating costs in the year incurred.  in 2010, $0.4 million (2009 - $0.2 million) 

was deferred.

Deferred Purchased Power Savings
in 1997, Hydro interconnected communities in the area of l’anse au clair to Red Bay to the Hydro-Québec electricity  

system. in its report dated July 12, 1996, the puB recommended that Hydro defer and amortize the benefits 

of a reduced initial purchased power rate over a 30-year period. these savings in the amount of $0.6 million  

(2009 - $0.6 million) are recognized as a regulatory liability. in the absence of rate regulation, canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles would require that Hydro include the actual cost of purchased power in operating 

costs in the year incurred.

Property, Plant and Equipment
the puB permits an allowance for funds used during construction (aFudc), based on Hydro’s weighted average 

cost of capital, to be included in the cost of capital assets and amortized over future periods as part of the 

total cost of the related asset. in 2010, Hydro’s aFudc of 7.6% (2009 - 7.6%) is higher than its cost of debt of  

7.2% (2009 - 7.2%) and the amount capitalized is higher and interest expense is lower by $0.1 million  

(2009 - $0.1 million) than that which would be permitted under canadian generally accepted accounting principles 

in the absence of rate regulation.

Hydro amortizes its hydroelectric generating assets and transmission assets using the sinking fund method, 

as approved by the puB. in the absence of rate regulation, these assets would likely be amortized using the  

straight-line method. during 2010, Hydro engaged an independent consultant to conduct an amortization study.  

the scope of this study included a review of Hydro’s amortization methods as well as a statistical analysis of service 

life estimates and calculation of appropriate amortization rates and annual and accrued amortization balances as at  

december 31, 2009. Based on the results of this study, management currently estimates that switching from the use 

of sinking fund rather than straight-line amortization for hydroelectric and transmission assets, as well as changing 

from unit based amortization to a group based method on a remaining life basis would result in an immaterial 

change in the annual amortization expense.



6. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS 

(millions of dollars)   2010  2009 

long-term receivables  (a)  25.7  24.8 

sinking funds  (b)  208.4  179.6 

reserve fund (c) 39.3 34.8 

derivative assets (d) -  1.3 

   273.4 240.5 

(a)  included in long-term receivables are two refundable deposits in the amount of $24.1 million  

(2009 - $23.9 million), associated with an application for transmission service into Québec, bearing interest 

at one-year Guaranteed income certificate (Gic) rates, a $0.1 million (2009 - $0.1 million) deposit associated 

with an application for transmission service in new Brunswick, bearing interest at the prime Rate, and two 

refundable deposits in the amount of $1.2 million (2009 - nil) associated with an application for transmission 

service into nova scotia, bearing interest at prime Rate less 1.0%. the remaining portion of $0.3 million  

(2009 - $0.8 million) is the 2004-2008 aeB receivable from Hydro-Québec bearing interest at 7.0%.

(b) sinking fund investments consist of bonds, debentures, promissory notes and coupons issued by, or guaranteed 

by, the Government of canada or any province of canada, and have maturity dates ranging from 2013 to 2033.  

Hydro debentures, which are intended to be held to maturity, are deducted from long-term debt while all 

other sinking fund investments are shown separately on the balance sheet as assets. annual contributions to 

the various sinking funds are in accordance with the bond indenture terms, and are structured to ensure the 

availability of adequate funds at the time of expected bond redemption. effective yields range from 3.86% to 

9.86% (2009 - 4.50% to 9.86%).

(c) pursuant to the terms of the 1999 shareholders’ agreement churchill Falls, in 2007, commenced the creation 

of a $75.0 million segregated reserve fund to contribute towards the funding of capital expenditures related to 

churchill Falls’ existing facilities and their replacement (note 19(j)). a summary of nalcor’s 65.8% share of the 

reserve fund is as follows:

  
(millions of dollars)  2010   2009 

opening balance  34.8  23.4 

Contribution 5.3   11.2 

Net interest (0.4)  (0.2)

Mark-to-market adjustment  (0.4)  0.4 

fair value of reserve fund  39.3  34.8 

(d) during 2009, nalcor entered into a series of 24 foreign exchange forward contracts to manage exchange rate 

risk on us dollar (usd) electricity sales. the nominal contract values range from $2.4 million to $6.0 million 

with an average exchange rate of 1.17 canadian to usd. during 2010, 12 (2009 - eight) of these contracts were 

settled with the effective portion of the gain, in the amount of $5.9 million (2009 - $2.4 million), reported 

as energy sales and the ineffective portion as other income. the fair value of the remaining four contracts 

outstanding as at december 31, 2010 is $2.0 million of which the entire amount is current (2009 - $5.7 million). 

these contracts have been designated as part of a hedging relationship (note 15).
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7. JOINT VENTuRE

the following amounts included in the consolidated Financial statements represent nalcor’s proportionate share of 

churchill Falls’ assets and liabilities at december 31 and its proportionate interest in churchill Falls’ operations for 

the year then ended.

(millions of dollars) 2010 2009 

Current assets  39.2 45.7 

long-term assets  375.8 374.5 

Current liabilities  15.6  38.8 

long-term liabilities  14.0 12.7 

revenues  74.1  58.8 

expenses  50.8 48.4 

Net income 23.3 10.4 

Cash provided by (used in)         

 operating activities 48.3 15.3 

 financing activities (27.9) 3.5 

 investing activities (0.4) (17.4)

income tax expense in the amount of $0.2 million (2009 - $0.2 million) related to a jointly controlled subsidiary, 

twin Falls, has been included in expenses.

8. LONG TERM DEBT

     Churchill    Churchill
   hydro falls total hydro falls total 

(millions of dollars)  2010   2009 

long-term debt 1,144.9		 -		 	 1,144.9   1,149.8   29.3 1,179.1 

less current portion 8.2		 -	 		 8.2   8.2   29.3 37.5 

   1,136.7		 -	 		 1,136.7	 1,141.6  -   1,141.6 

Nalcor
nalcor maintains an unsecured revolving term credit facility with its banker in the amount of $150.0 million canadian 

or us equivalent. Borrowings in canadian dollars may take the form of prime Rate advances, Bas and letters of 

credit. Borrowings in usd may take the form of Base Rate advances, liBoR advances and letters of credit. the 

facility also provides coverage for overdrafts on nalcor’s bank accounts, with interest calculated at the prime Rate. 

the terms of the credit facility allows for the expansion of the facility up to $300.0 million canadian or us equivalent 

as a non-revolving term credit facility, secured by the guarantee of the province. at year-end, the only drawing on 

the facility was one irrevocable letter of credit issued on behalf of nalcor’s subsidiary, oil and Gas. this letter of 

credit, in the amount of $1.5 million, was issued to the canada-newfoundland and labrador offshore petroleum 

Board (c-nlopB) to satisfy certain financial responsibility requirements specified in the accords acts with respect 

to the issuance of authorizations for petroleum related work or activities within the newfoundland and labrador 

offshore area.



Hydro
   face  Coupon  year of  year of
   value rate% issue Maturity     

(millions of dollars)     2010 2009 

v  *  125.0  10.50 1989 2014 124.6 124.5 

X  *  150.0  10.25   1992 2017 149.3 149.2 

y  * 300.0  8.40 1996 2026 293.3 293.1 

ab * 300.0  6.65   2001 2031 306.7 306.8 

ad * 125.0  5.70   2003 2033 123.6 123.6 

ae  225.0  4.30 2006 2016 223.8 223.7 

total debentures 1,225.0      1,221.3 1,220.9 

less: sinking fund investments 
 in own debentures       76.4 71.1 

         1,144.9 1,149.8 

less: payments due within one year       8.2 8.2 

         1,136.7  1,141.6 

* sinking funds have been established for these issues.

promissory notes, debentures and long-term loans are unsecured and unconditionally guaranteed as to principal and 

interest and, where applicable, sinking fund payments by the province. the province charges Hydro a guarantee fee 

of 1.0% annually on the total debt (net of sinking funds) guaranteed by the province, outstanding as of the preceding 

december 31. For the years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009, the guarantee fee was waived by the province.

Hydro uses promissory notes to fulfill its short-term funding requirements. as at december 31, 2010, there were no 

promissory notes outstanding (2009 - nil).

Hydro maintains a $50.0 million canadian or us equivalent unsecured operating credit facility with its banker. at 

year-end there were no amounts drawn on the facility (2009 - nil). advances may take the form of a prime Rate 

advance or the issuance of a Ba with interest calculated at the prime Rate or prevailing Government Ba fee. the 

facility also provides coverage for overdrafts on Hydro’s bank accounts, with interest calculated at the prime Rate. 

at year-end, Hydro had 24 letters of credit outstanding (note 19(g)) reducing the availability of the credit facility by 

$18.9 million (2009 - $7.5 million).

Required repayments of long-term debt and sinking fund requirements over the next five years will be as follows:

(millions of dollars) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

sinking fund requirement 8.2 8.2 8.2 8.2 8.2 

long-term debt repayment -  -  -   125.0 - 

   8.2   8.2 8.2 133.2 8.2 

Churchill Falls
(millions of dollars) 2010 2009 

bank of Nova scotia Credit agreement         

 4.4% due december 15, 2010          

 outstanding -   29.3 

 due within one year -   29.3 

total long-term debt -  - 

on december 15, 2010, churchill Falls repaid the Bank of nova scotia credit agreement in full.
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operating credit Facility

churchill Falls maintains a $10.0 million canadian unsecured operating credit facility with its banker and at year-end, 

there were no amounts drawn on the facility (2009 - nil). advances may take the form of a prime Rate advance or 

the issuance of Bas with interest calculated at the prime Rate or prevailing Government Ba fee. the facility provides 

coverage for overdrafts on churchill Falls’ bank accounts, with interest calculated at the prime Rate. at year-end, 

churchill Falls had two letters of credit outstanding (note 19(g)) reducing the availability of the credit facility by  

$1.0 million (2009 - $1.0 million).  

churchill Falls had an additional letter of credit outstanding with another schedule 1 chartered Bank in the amount 

of $1.0 million (2009 - $1.0 million). this letter of credit did not reduce the availability of the credit facility at  

year end.

9. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

during the year ended december 31, 2010, nalcor recognized an $11.4 million liability associated with retirement 

of portions of the HtGs and $3.8 million of retirement obligations associated with nalcor’s net ownership interest 

in petroleum and natural gas properties. the reconciliation of the beginning and ending carrying amount of asset 

retirement obligations is as follows:

(millions of dollars) 2010 2009 

asset retirement obligations, beginning of year -  - 

liabilities incurred 15.2	 - 

liabilities settled -  - 

accretion 0.1  - 

revisions (0.5) - 

asset retirement obligations, end of year 14.8 - 

the total undiscounted estimated cash flows required to settle the obligations as at december 31, 2010 is  

$25.3 million (2009 - nil). payments to settle the liabilities are expected to occur between 2017 and 2029. the fair 

value of the asset retirement obligations was determined using the present value of future cash flows discounted 

using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate ranging from 4.1% to 4.7%.

a significant number of nalcor’s assets include generation plants, transmission assets and distribution systems.  

these assets can continue to run indefinitely with ongoing maintenance activities. as it is expected that nalcor’s 

assets will be used for an indefinite period, no removal date can be determined and consequently, a reasonable 

estimate of the fair value of any related asset retirement obligation cannot be determined at this time. if it becomes 

possible to estimate the fair value of the cost of removing assets that nalcor is legally required to remove, an asset 

retirement obligation for those assets will be recognized at that time.



10.  LONG-TERM PAYABLE

the long-term payable to Hydro-Québec as at december 31, 2010, represents the accumulation of differences 

between energy delivered monthly and the aeB energy billed monthly, which will be tracked during the four-year 

period from september 1, 2008 to august 31, 2012.  currently, the full amount of $4.6 million (2009 - $4.3 million) 

is long-term bearing interest at 7.0%. the final amount will be determined on august 31, 2012, and will be paid or 

collected monthly beginning september 2012 and ending august 2016.

11.  EMPLOYEE FuTuRE BENEFITS

Pension Plan
employees participate in the province’s public service pension plan, a multi-employer defined benefit plan. the 

employer’s contributions of $5.8 million (2009 - $5.3 million) are expensed as incurred.

Other Benefits 
nalcor provides group life insurance and healthcare benefits on a cost-shared basis to retired employees, and in 

certain cases, their surviving spouses, in addition to a severance payment upon retirement. in 2010, cash payments 

to beneficiaries for its unfunded other employee future benefits was $2.4 million (2009 - $2.7 million). the most 

recent actuarial valuation was performed as at december 31, 2009 and extrapolated to december 31, 2010. the 

next actuarial valuation will be performed as at december 31, 2012.

(millions of dollars)  2010  2009 

accrued benefit obligation        

 balance at beginning of year  72.7	 52.3 

 Current service cost  2.6  1.6 

 interest cost 4.8 3.9 

 actuarial loss  9.8 17.6 

 benefits paid (2.4) (2.7)

balance at end of year 87.5 72.7 

plan deficit  87.5 72.7 

unamortized actuarial loss  (27.0) (18.1)

unamortized past-service cost (0.2) (0.2)

accrued benefit liability at end of year 60.3 54.4 

        

(millions of dollars)  2010  2009

Component of benefit cost         

 Current service cost 2.6 1.6 

 interest cost 4.8 3.9 

 actuarial loss  9.8 17.6 

   17.2  23.1 

difference between actuarial loss and amount recognized (8.9) (17.6)

benefit expense 8.3 5.5 

        

Notes to CoNsolidated fiNaNCial stateMeNts



NewfouNdlaNd aNd labrador Hydro        CHurCHill falls        oil aNd Gas        lower CHurCHill ProjeCt       bull arm fabriCatioN  

2010 Business and Financial RepoRt                    68 | 69  

the significant actuarial assumptions used in measuring the accrued benefit obligations and benefit expense are  

as follows:

 
   2010 2009 

discount rate – benefit cost 6.50% 7.50% 

discount rate – accrued benefit obligation  5.75%  6.50%

rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 

        

assumed healthcare trend rates:

        

   2010 2009 

initial health care expense trend rate 7.50% 7.50% 

Cost trend decline to  5.00% 5.00%

year that rate reaches the rate it is assumed to remain at 2016 2016 

        

a 1% change in assumed health care trend rates would have had the following effects:    

        

Increase 2010 2009 

Current service and interest cost 1.3   0.8 

accrued benefit obligation 15.1   11.1 

        

Decrease 2010 2009 

Current service and interest cost (1.0)  (0.6)

accrued benefit obligation (11.7)  (8.7)

12.  SHAREHOLDER’S EquITY
 

Share Capital
(millions of dollars) 2010 2009 

Common shares of par value $1 each         

 authorized: unlimited         

  issued and outstanding 122,500,000 (2009 – 122,500,000)  122.5  122.5 

Contributed Capital
(millions of dollars) 2010 2009 

total contributed capital  374.1		 333.5 

during 2010, the province contributed capital in the amount of $40.0 million (2009 - $142.0 million) and the 

churchill Falls (labrador) corporation trust (the trust) contributed $0.6 million (2009 - nil).



13.  ACCuMuLATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(millions of dollars)  2010 2009 

balance, beginning of year  22.0  16.5 

 Change in fair value of available for sale financial instruments  20.6  9.8 

 Change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  1.1   9.2 

 amount recognized in net income  (16.4) (13.5)

balance, end of year  27.3   22.0 

14. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

nalcor’s primary objectives when managing capital are to minimize nalcor’s cost of capital within the confines of 

established risk parameters, and to safeguard nalcor’s ability to continue as a going concern. nalcor’s approach to 

capital management is performed on a consolidated basis.  Management monitors the capital requirement for each 

subsidiary individually.

the capital managed by nalcor is comprised of debt (long-term debentures, promissory notes, bank credit facilities 

and bank indebtedness) and equity (share capital, contributed capital, accumulated other comprehensive income 

and retained earnings).

a summary of the capital structure is outlined below:

 
(millions of dollars) 2010  2009   

debt         

long-term debt 1,136.7   1,141.6   

Current portion of long-term debt 8.2   37.5   

sinking funds (208.4)   (179.6)  

   936.5  42.5%  999.5  46.7% 

equity         

share capital 122.5   122.5   

Contributed capital 374.1    333.5   

accumulated other comprehensive income 27.3   22.0   

retained earnings 741.5   664.0   

   1,265.4  57.5% 1,142.0 53.3% 

total debt and equity 2,201.9 100.0% 2,141.5  100.0% 

nalcor’s unsecured operating facility has covenants restricting the issuance of debt such that the unconsolidated 

debt to total capitalization ratio cannot exceed 70%. the covenants further stipulate that the debt service coverage 

Ratio should at all times be greater than 1.5 to 1.0 on an unconsolidated basis. as at december 31, 2010, nalcor 

was in compliance with these covenants. 
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Hydro
Hydro’s principal business requires ongoing access to capital in order to maintain the continued delivery of safe and 

reliable service to its customers. therefore, Hydro’s primary objective when managing capital is to ensure ready 

access to capital at a reasonable cost. 

Hydro’s approach to capital management encompasses various factors including monitoring the percentage of 

floating rate debt in the total debt portfolio, the weighted average term to maturity of its overall debt portfolio, its 

percentage of debt to debt plus equity and its earnings before interest and taxes (eBit) coverage of interest. 

For the regulated portion of Hydro’s operations a capital structure comprised of 75% debt and 25% common equity 

is maintained, a ratio which management believes to be optimal with respect to its cost of capital. this capital 

structure is maintained by a combination of dividend policy, contributed equity and debt issuance. the issuance of 

any new debt with a term greater than one year requires prior approval of Hydro’s regulator, the puB.

per legislation, the total of the short-term loans issued by Hydro and outstanding at any time shall not exceed a limit 

as fixed by the lieutenant-Governor in council. short-term loans are those loans issued with a term not exceeding 

two years. the current limit is set at $300.0 million. the balance outstanding as at december 31, 2010 was nil  

(2009 - nil). issuance of long-term and short-term debt by Hydro is further restricted by Bill c-24, an amendment 

to the newfoundland and labrador Hydro act of 1975. the Bill effectively limits Hydro’s total borrowings, which 

includes both long and short-term debt, to $1.6 billion at any point in time. 

Churchill Falls
churchill Falls’ objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern. churchill 

Falls’ requirements for capital in the future are expected to increase, coincident with the aging of the plant 

and related infrastructure and the execution of the long-term asset management plan. the focus of the capital 

management policy is to provide flexibility to ensure cash continues to be available to satisfy capital requirements. 

Managing the level of dividend payments is a key aspect of ensuring the availability of funding to maintain the 

plant and infrastructure. 

at present, the capital position of churchill Falls is comprised entirely of equity capital (share capital, contributed 

capital and retained earnings). the capital structure is adjusted through the amount of dividends paid to shareholders.

Oil and Gas
Future requirements for capital are expected to increase to fund oil and Gas’ share of project development costs. 

capital costs to date have been financed by equity. as projects reach the production stage, oil and Gas’ cash from 

operations will contribute to funding its capital requirements by reducing the reliance on nalcor to finance growth.

Bull Arm Fabrication
Bull arm Fabrication’s objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern. the 

focus of the capital management policy is to ensure the availability of sufficient cash to satisfy capital requirements. 

 



15.  FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Fair Value
the estimated fair values of financial instruments as at december 31, 2010 and 2009 are based on relevant market 

prices and information available at the time. Fair value estimates are based on valuation techniques which are 

significantly affected by the assumptions used including the amount and timing of future cash flows and discount 

rates reflecting various degrees of risk. as such, the fair value estimates below are not necessarily indicative of the 

amounts that nalcor might receive or incur in actual market transactions.  

as a significant number of nalcor’s assets and liabilities do not meet the definition of a financial instrument, the fair 

value estimates below do not reflect the fair value of nalcor as a whole.

   Carrying  fair  Carrying  fair
   value value value value 

(millions of dollars)  2010   2009 

financial assets         

 Cash and cash equivalents 44.5	 44.5 14.0 14.0 

 short-term investments 15.7	 	15.7  49.2 49.2 

 accounts receivable 93.9	 93.9 88.9 88.9 

 derivative assets (including current portion) 2.0	 2.0 7.0 7.0 

 sinking funds – investments in same hydro issue 76.4	 93.6 71.1   85.2 

 sinking funds – other investments 208.4	 208.4 179.6 179.6 

 reserve fund 39.3	 39.3 34.8 34.8 

 long-term receivable(1) 25.7	 n/a  24.8  n/a 

financial liabilities         

 accounts payable and accrued liabilities 152.1		 152.1	 125.2 125.2 

 derivative liabilities 0.3	 0.3 -  - 

 long-term debt including amount         

  due within one year (before sinking funds) 1,221.3	 1,589.7 1,250.2 1,471.0 

 long-term payable 4.6	 4.7 4.3 4.4 

the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities approximates their carrying values due to their short-term maturity.

(1) the fair value of the long-term receivable is subject to uncertainty regarding the timing of future cash flows and 

 as such, the fair value of the long-term receivable cannot be determined at december 31, 2010 and 2009.

establishing Fair Value

Financial instruments recorded at fair value are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the nature of the 

inputs used in making the measurements. the fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

level 1 -  valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

level 2 -  valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

level 3 -  valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs).
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the fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. a financial 

instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been considered in 

measuring fair value.

the following table presents nalcor’s fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities as at december 31. there 

were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the year:

   level 1 level 2 total 

(millions of dollars)  2010 

financial assets         

 Cash and cash equivalents 44.5	 -	 		 44.5 

 short-term investments 15.7		 -	 		 15.7 

 accounts receivable 93.9	 -	 		 93.9 

 derivative assets -  2.0	 2.0 

 sinking funds – investments in same hydro issue -		 	 93.6	 93.6 

 sinking funds – other investments -  208.4	 208.4 

 reserve fund -		 	 39.3	 39.3 

financial liabilities         

 accounts payable and accrued liabilities 152.1		 -		 	 152.1 

 derivative liabilities -  0.3	 0.3 

 long-term debt including amount         

  due within one year (before sinking funds) -  1,589.7		 1,589.7 

 long-term payable -  4.7	 4.7 

         

    2009 

financial assets         

 Cash and cash equivalents 14.0  -   14.0 

 short-term investments 49.2 -   49.2 

 accounts receivable 88.9 -   88.9 

 derivative assets -   7.0 7.0 

 sinking funds – investments in same hydro issue -   85.2 85.2 

 sinking funds – other investments -   179.6 179.6 

 reserve fund -   34.8 34.8 

financial liabilities         

 accounts payable and accrued liabilities 125.2 -   125.2 

 derivative liabilities -  -  - 

 long-term debt including amount         

  due within one year (before sinking funds) -  1,471.0 1,471.0 

 long-term payable -  4.4 4.4 

there were no financial assets or liabilities valued using level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as at december 31, 2010 

and 2009.

 



Risk Management
exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arises in the normal course of nalcor’s business.

credit Risk

nalcor is exposed to credit risk in the event of non performance by counterparties to its financial instruments. the 

majority of the receivables are from regulated utilities which minimizes credit risk. there is risk that nalcor will not 

be able to collect all of its remaining accounts receivable and amounts owing under its customer finance plans. 

these financial instruments which arise in the normal course of business do not represent a significant concentration 

of credit risk as amounts are owed by a large number of customers on normal credit terms. nalcor manages this 

credit risk primarily by executing its credit and collection policy including the requirement for security deposits from 

certain customers. as at december 31, 2010 security deposits of $0.1 million (2009 - $0.1 million) are included in 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

nalcor’s three largest customers account for 78.3% (2009 - 78.8%) of total energy sales and 59.6% (2009 - 67.5%) 

of accounts receivable. these customers are comprised of rate regulated organizations or organizations with 

investment grade credit ratings.

nalcor does not have any significant amounts that are past due and uncollectable for which a provision has not been 

recognized at december 31, 2010.

nalcor manages its investment credit risk exposure by restricting its investments to high-quality securities such as 

canada treasury Bills, Bankers’ acceptances drawn on schedule 1 canadian chartered Banks and term deposits 

issued by schedule 1 canadian chartered Banks. additionally, the investments held within the portfolios of churchill 

Falls do not exceed 10% with any one institution with the exception of the Government of canada. 

liquidity Risk

nalcor is exposed to liquidity risk with respect to its contractual obligations and financial liabilities. this risk is 

managed by maintaining borrowing facilities sufficient to cover both anticipated and unexpected fluctuations within 

the operations and by continuously monitoring cash flows. 

short-term liquidity is provided through cash and cash equivalents on hand, funds from operations, a $300.0 million 

promissory note program and credit facilities. 

long-term liquidity risk is managed by the issuance of a portfolio of debentures with maturity dates ranging from 

2014 to 2033. sinking funds have been established for these issues, with the exception of series ae. 
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the following are the contractual maturities of nalcor’s financial liabilities, including principal and interest, as at 

december 31, 2010:

(millions of dollars) <1  year 1-3 years 3-5 years >5 years total 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities 152.1		 -	 	 -	 	 -	 		 152.1	

derivative liabilities 0.3		 -	 	 -	 	 -	 	 0.3 

long-term debt including amount           

 due within one year -		 	 -		 	 125.0	 1,100.0	 1,225.0 

long-term payable -	 		 1.5	 2.3	 0.8		 4.6

interest 61.8	 181.3	 161.5		 752.4	 1,157.0

   214.2			 182.8	 288.8	 1,853.2	 2,539.0 

Market Risk 

Market risk refers primarily to the risk of loss resulting from changes in interest rates, commodity prices and foreign 

exchange rates. nalcor has a formal financial risk management policy that outlines the risks associated with the 

operations of nalcor and its subsidiaries outlining approaches and guidelines to be followed in the management of 

those risks. this policy is reviewed by nalcor’s Board of directors annually or more frequently if there is a material 

change to nalcor’s financial risks. the audit committee of the Board provides oversight on behalf of the Board with 

the exception of any items that specifically require Board approval. 

Interest Rates

interest rate risk is managed within the corporate financing strategy whereby floating rate debt exposures 

and interest rate scenarios are forecast and evaluated. a diversified portfolio of fixed and floating rate debt is 

maintained and managed with a view to an acceptable risk profile. Key quantitative parameters for interest rate risk 

management includes the percentage of floating rate debt in the total debt portfolio, coupled with an examination 

of the weighted average term to maturity of the entire debt portfolio.  By setting clear guidelines in respect to these 

quantitative parameters, nalcor attempts to minimize the likelihood of a material impact on net income resulting 

from an unexpected change in interest rates.

nalcor is exposed to interest rate risk related to the short-term debt portfolio, the sinking fund investment portfolios 

and reserve fund investment portfolios. interest rate risk on the long-term debt portfolio is mitigated through the 

use of fixed rate debentures.  the following table illustrates nalcor’s exposure to a 100 basis point (1%) change in 

interest rates: 
  

      Net income other Comprehensive income 

(millions of dollars)  1%  decrease  1% increase  1%  decrease  1% increase  

interest on short-term investments  (0.4) 0.4 - - 

interest on sinking fund  - - 29.3 (10.3)

interest on reserve fund  (0.1) 0.1 1.1 (0.9)

    (0.5) 0.5 30.4 (11.2)

         



Foreign Currency and Commodity Exposure

the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in the exchange rate 

between the foreign currency and the canadian dollar. nalcor’s primary exposure to both foreign exchange and 

commodity price risk arises within Hydro from its purchases of no. 6 fuel for consumption at the HtGs, certain 

electricity sales and oil sales which are denominated in usd.  

during 2010, Hydro had total purchases of no. 6 fuel of $104.1 million (2009 - $87.5), million denominated in usd. 

exposure to both the foreign exchange and commodity price risk associated with these fuel purchases is mitigated 

through the operation of the Rsp. the purpose of the Rsp is to both reduce volatility in customer rates as well as 

mitigate potential net income volatility from fuel price and volume variations. all variances in fuel prices including 

exchange rates, as compared to that approved in Hydro’s most recent cost of service study, are captured in the Rsp 

and are either refunded to or collected from customers through rate adjustments. Hydro also employs the periodic 

use of forward currency contracts to manage exposure to exchange rates on a particular day. 

during 2010, total electricity sales denominated in usd were $72.8 million (2009 - $41.8 million). nalcor mitigates 

this risk through the use of commodity swaps and foreign currency forward contracts. 

during 2009, Hydro entered into a series of 24 monthly foreign exchange forward contracts, in the amount of  

$87.8 million usd at an average exchange rate of 1.17 to hedge 75% of Hydro’s forecasted usd electricity sales, the 

last of which expires in april 2011. these contracts have been designated as part of a hedging relationship. 

during 2010, Hydro entered into 28 commodity swap contracts totalling $24.7 million, the last of which expired 

in december 2010. these contracts swapped floating market rates for fixed rates which ranged from $26 usd/MWh  

to $50 usd/MWh. these contracts have not been designated as part of a hedging relationship. during 2010, 24 of  

these were settled. the fair value of the four contracts outstanding as at december 31, 2010 is a liability of  

$0.3 million and $3.4 million in losses from these contracts is included in other gains and losses.

oil and Gas has sales denominated in us dollars that are based on prevailing market oil prices. Market risk 

associated with fluctuations in oil prices and foreign exchange rates is managed consistent with nalcor’s financial 

risk management policy.

 

Effect of Hedge Accounting on Financial Statements
    Net gains unrealized gains  Net gains  unrealized gains
   included in  included in   included in  included in
   Net income  oCi  Net income  oCi   

(millions of dollars)  2010   2009 

ineffective portion 0.2	 -  0.5 - 

effective portion 5.9	 1.3 2.4 6.2 

the ineffective portion of hedging gains and losses is included in net income through other gains and losses.
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16.  INTEREST AND FINANCE INCOME/CHARGES
 
(millions of dollars)  2010 2009 

interest and finance income         

 interest on sinking fund 15.2 13.9 

 interest on reserve fund 1.4 1.3 

 other interest income 1.4 3.0 

   18.0 18.2 

interest and finance charges         

 long-term debt 91.7 91.8 

 interest on rate stabilization plan 10.2 7.0 

 accretion of long-term debt 0.4 0.4 

 amortization of deferred foreign exchange losses 2.1	 2.2 

 other 1.9 1.7 

   106.3 103.1 

 interest capitalized during construction (1.2)  (0.8)

   105.1  102.3 

17.  SuPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
(millions of dollars) 2010 2009 

accounts receivable (5.0)  (11.7)

inventory (3.5)  (6.8)

prepaid expenses (1.4)  (1.7)

regulatory assets 4.4	 5.5 

regulatory liabilities  37.2  68.8 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities 26.9	 39.1 

employee future benefits 5.9	 2.8 

   64.5	 96.0 

income taxes paid 0.2   0.2 

interest received 2.2   2.6 

interest paid  92.4  93.0 



18.  SEGMENT INFORMATION 

nalcor operates in five business segments. Hydro Regulated encompasses sales of electricity to customers within the 

province. churchill Falls operates a hydroelectric generating facility and sells electricity primarily to Hydro-Québec. 

oil and Gas activities include exploration, development, production, transportation and processing sectors of the oil 

and gas industry. energy Marketing activities include the sale of electricity to markets outside the province. other 

encompasses industrial fabrication, some non-regulated electricity sales, development activities including the lower 

churchill Hydroelectric development and corporate activities. the designation of segments has been based on a 

combination of regulatory status and management accountability.  the segments’ accounting policies are the same 

as those described in note 2. 

   hydro Churchill oil and energy  inter-
   regulated  falls gas Marketing other    segment total

(millions of dollars)    2010 

revenue              

 energy sales 417.1			 76.0	 15.3	 77.5			 6.8	 (3.9)	 588.8	

 interest and finance income 16.1		 1.7	 -	 	 -		 	 0.5		 (0.3)	 18.0 

 other revenue 2.3	 0.3	 3.9	 -	 		 3.3			 3.5		 13.3 

   435.5	 78.0	 19.2	 77.5		 10.6		 (0.7)	 620.1 

expenses              

 fuels 140.3	 -	 		 -	 	 -	 	 0.1		 -		 	 140.4 

 power purchased 44.2	 -	 	 -	 		 4.1			 -	 		 (3.9)	 44.4 

 operations and administration 97.8	 40.5	 10.7	 21.4			 12.2		 -	 		 182.6 

 interest and finance charges 102.9	 1.6	 0.1			 0.5			 0.3		 (0.3)	 105.1 

 amortization 43.8	 12.6	 10.9	 -	 		 0.2		 -	 		 67.5 

 other gains and losses -	 	 -	 	 -	 		 2.6			 -	 	 -	 		 2.6 

   429.0	 54.7	 21.7	 28.6		 12.8	 (4.2)	 542.6 

Net income (loss) from operations 6.5	 23.3	 (2.5)	 48.9			 (2.2)	 3.5			 77.5 

preferred dividends -	 	 3.5	 -	 	 -	 	 -		 	 (3.5)	 - 

Net income (loss) 6.5	 26.8	 (2.5)	 48.9			 (2.2)	 -		 	 77.5 

Capital expenditures 55.5	 9.9	 82.8	 -	 		 48.1		 -	 		 196.3 

total assets 1,831.5	 417.1		 278.3	 7.4			 324.7		 (54.2)	 2,804.8 
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   hydro Churchill oil and energy  inter-
   regulated falls gas Marketing other    segment total

(millions of dollars)    2009 

revenue              

 energy sales 443.8  61.0  -  54.7  6.0 (3.9)  561.6 

 interest and finance income 16.4  1.4  -  -  0.4 -  18.2 

 other revenue 2.2  0.3  0.4  -  6.1  1.3 10.3 

   462.4  62.7  0.4  54.7  12.5 (2.6) 590.1 

expenses              

 fuels 155.2  -  -  -  -  -   155.2 

 power purchased 46.8  -  -  4.2 -  (3.9) 47.1 

 operations and administration 100.9  37.7  2.7  16.6 13.4 -  171.3 

 interest and finance charges 99.9  1.8  -  0.6 -  -  102.3 

 amortization 41.7  12.8  0.1  -  0.3 -  54.9 

 other gains and losses -  -  -  (0.7) -  -  (0.7)

   444.5  52.3  2.8  20.7  13.7  (3.9) 530.1 

Net income (loss) from operations 17.9  10.4  (2.4) 34.0 (1.2) 1.3 60.0 

preferred dividends -  1.3  -  -  -  (1.3) - 

Net income (loss) 17.9  11.7  (2.4) 34.0 (1.2) -  60.0 

Capital expenditures 54.1  3.7  82.6  -  37.7  -  178.1 

total assets 1,766.0  420.5  198.3  10.2 286.2 (50.5)  2,630.7 

Geographic Information
Revenues by geographic area:

(millions of dollars)  2010 2009 

Newfoundland and labrador 476.4 480.8 

Québec  71.9 69.2 

New brunswick 60.7 3.5 

Nova scotia 11.1 36.6 

   620.1 590.1 

all of nalcor’s physical assets are located in the province.



19.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) under the terms of a sublease with twin Falls, expiring on december 31, 2014, churchill Falls is required to 

deliver to twin Falls, at an agreed price, horsepower equivalent to the installed horsepower of the twin Falls 

plant and to maintain twin Falls’ plant and equipment. the costs associated with making the plant operational, 

if required, are not estimable at this time. in 2015, the physical assets of twin Falls will revert to churchill 

Falls, and churchill Falls is required to make this horsepower available to Hydro at rates that are commercially 

reasonable pursuant to the 1999 shareholders’ agreement.

(b) the results of an environmental site assessment (esa) conducted at the twin Falls Generating station indicated 

higher than acceptable concentrations of contaminants in the soil and waters adjacent to the powerhouse.  

Further testing was conducted to determine the extent of contamination. the recommendations arising from this 

testing indicate that remediation is not required, but that monitoring be carried out every five years. Monitoring 

was performed throughout 2010 with no remediation required.  Further monitoring will be performed in 2015.  

(c) Hydro entered into power sales agreements with third parties with respect to the energy previously sold to 

Hydro-Québec under a power sales agreement that expired on March 31, 2009. to facilitate market access, 

Hydro entered into a five-year transmission service agreement with Hydro-Québec transÉnergie to acquire 

access to 265 MW of transmission capacity from labrador through Québec. Hydro has the right to renew its 

transmission service contract at the end of the contract term. if at that time there is a competing service request 

for the same path, in order to renew the service agreement, Hydro must agree to accept a contract term that 

is at least equal to that of the competing request.   

 pursuant to Hydro’s five-year transmission service agreement with Hydro-Québec transÉnergie, the transmission 

rental payments to contract maturity are as follows:

2011   $19.4 million 

2012  $19.4 million

2013  $19.4 million

2014  $4.8 million

 

(d) nalcor and its subsidiaries have received claims instituted by various companies and individuals with respect 

to outages and other miscellaneous matters. although such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, 

management currently considers nalcor’s exposure to such claims and litigation, to the extent not covered by 

insurance policies or otherwise provided for, to be $0.1 million (2009 - $0.1 million).

 one of Hydro’s industrial customers commenced legal proceedings in 1997, claiming approximately  

$21.8 million (2009 - $21.9 million) related to outages and plant shutdowns. Hydro is defending this claim.  

While the ultimate outcome of this action cannot be ascertained at this time, in the opinion of Hydro’s 

management, following consultation with its legal counsel, no liability should be recognized.

(e) outstanding commitments for capital projects total approximately $41.6 million (2009 - $22.4 million). in 

addition, oil and Gas has committed to fund its share of all exploration and development projects.
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(f) Hydro has entered into a number of long-term power purchase agreements as follows:

type     rating   in-service date   term 

hydroelectric  175 kw  1988  Continual 

hydroelectric  3 Mw  1995   25 years

hydroelectric  4 Mw  1998   25 years

Cogeneration  15 Mw  2003   20 years

wind  390 kw  2004   15 years

wind  27 Mw  2008   20 years

wind  27 Mw  2009   20 years 

estimated payments due in each of the next five years are as follows:

(millions of dollars)  2011  2012  2013  2014  2015

power purchases  23.9  24.5 25.1 25.6 26.1

on december 16, 2008, the province licensed nalcor energy to manage and operate the star lake, Grand Falls 

and Bishop’s Falls hydro facilities on behalf of the province. the power purchase agreements that previously 

applied to these facilities were cancelled through legislation.

(g) nalcor has issued an irrevocable letter of credit, in the amount of $1.5 million, to the c-nlopB to satisfy certain 

financial responsibility requirements specified in the accords acts with respect to the issuance of authorizations 

for petroleum-related work or activities within the newfoundland and labrador offshore area. 

 Hydro has issued 23 irrevocable letters of credit to the new Brunswick system operator totalling $18.6 million 

as credit support related to applications for point to point transmission services. in addition Hydro has issued 

one letter of credit to the department of Fisheries and oceans in the amount of $0.3 million as a performance 

guarantee in relation to the Fish Habitat compensation agreement. 

 churchill Falls has issued three irrevocable letters of credit totalling $2.0 million to ensure satisfactory 

management of its waste management and compliance with a certificate of approval for the transportation of 

special hazardous wastes, granted by the provincial department of environment and conservation.   

(h) Hydro has received funding, in the amount of $3.0 million, from the atlantic canada opportunities agency 

in relation to a wind-hydrogen-diesel research and development project. this funding is repayable in annual 

installments of $25,000 per commercial implementation of the resulting product. as at december 31, 2010 

there have been no commercial implementations.

(i) on February 23, 2010, churchill Falls filed a motion against Hydro-Québec in the Québec superior court. the 

motion is seeking a modification to the pricing terms of the 1969 power contract as of november 30, 2009. the 

trial is scheduled for the fall of 2013. the outcome of this motion is not determinable at this time.



(j) pursuant to the terms of the 1999 shareholders’ agreement, in 2007, churchill Falls commenced the creation 

of a $75.0 million segregated reserve fund to contribute towards the funding of capital expenditures related to 

churchill Falls’ existing facilities and their replacement. churchill Falls invested $17.0 million in each of 2007, 

2008 and 2009, and $8.0 million in 2010. the remaining investments will be acquired during a 30-day period 

commencing on each of the following dates: 

january 1, 2011 $8.0 million

january 1, 2012 $8.0 million

this fund must remain in place until the end of the shareholders’ agreement in 2041. any amounts removed 

to fund capital expenditures must be replaced. Reserve fund holdings consist of securities issued by the 

Government of canada, various provinces of canada and schedule 1 canadian chartered Banks. nalcor’s share 

of this commitment is 65.8%.

20.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

nalcor enters into various transactions with its parents, subsidiaries and other affiliates. these transactions occur 

within the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of 

consideration agreed to by the related parties. Related parties with which nalcor transacts are as follows:

related party relationship

the province the province is a 100% shareholder of Nalcor energy.

Churchill falls Churchill falls is a jointly controlled subsidiary of hydro. 

twin falls twin falls is a jointly controlled subsidiary of Churchill falls.

the trust Churchill falls (labrador) Corporation trust was created by the province with  

   Churchill falls as the beneficiary.

board of Commissioners  the pub is an agency of the province.
of public utilities 

intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation. the amounts included in the 

financial statements for related party transactions are as follows:
     the other   
    province affiliates  total

(millions of dollars)    2010 

revenue (d)(f)(g) 7.2	 -	 	 7.2

expenses (a)(b)(c)(j)(k)  16.3	 1.3	 17.6

accounts receivable (b)(d)(f)(h) 0.9	 1.8	 2.7

accounts payable and accrued liabilities (c)(i)(j)(k) 10.5	 0.1		 10.6

deferred credits (e)(g) 2.5	 -	 	 2.5

          

(millions of dollars)   2009 

revenue (d)(f)(g) 3.9  -  3.9

expenses (a)(b)(c)(j)(k)  18.0  1.6  19.6

accounts receivable (b)(d)(h) 0.1  0.6  0.7

accounts payable and accrued liabilities (c)(i)(j)(k) 9.5  0.1  9.6

deferred credits (e)(f)(g) 1.1  -  1.1 

Notes to CoNsolidated fiNaNCial stateMeNts



NewfouNdlaNd aNd labrador Hydro        CHurCHill falls        oil aNd Gas        lower CHurCHill ProjeCt       bull arm fabriCatioN  

2010 Business and Financial RepoRt                    82 | 83  

(a) Hydro has entered into a long-term power contract with churchill Falls for the purchase of $6.0 million  

(2009 - $5.9 million) of the power produced by churchill Falls. 

(b) For the year ended december 31, 2010, approximately $3.7 million (2009 - $2.8 million) of operating costs 

were recovered from churchill Falls for engineering, technical, management and administrative services. at 

december 31, 2010, $1.7 million (2009 - $0.6 million) was receivable from churchill Falls.

(c) Hydro is required to contribute to the cost of operations of the puB as well as pay for the cost of hearings into 

applications it makes.  during 2010, Hydro incurred $0.6 million in costs related to the puB (2009 – $0.6 million) 

of which $0.1 million (2009 - $0.1 million) was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

(d) during 2010, Hydro received $0.4 million (2009 - $0.4 million) as a rate subsidy for rural isolated customers 

from the province and $1.6 million (2009 - $1.6 million) as an energy rebate to offset the cost of basic 

electricity consumption for labrador rural isolated residential customers under the northern strategic plan with 

$0.3 million (2009 - $0.1 million) recorded as accounts receivable at year-end. 

(e) during 2010, Bull arm Fabrication received $1.0 million (2009 - $2.0 million) in funding from the province. as 

at december 31, 2010, $0.3 million (2009 - $0.5 million) is included in deferred credits.

(f) petroleum exploration enhancement program (peep) was established as part of the newfoundland and labrador 

energy plan. peep is designed to boost new petroleum exploration in Western newfoundland through the 

acquisition and assessment of seismic data. Funding for peep is provided by the province and the program is 

administered by oil and Gas.  total funding available under peep is $5.0 million over five years. as at december 

31, 2010, $1.0 million of funds have been received to date and $0.6 million is recorded as due from the 

province (2009 - $0.4 million in deferred credits).

(g) the offshore Geoscience data project (oGdp) was established as part of the newfoundland and labrador 

energy plan. oGdp is designed to boost new offshore petroleum exploration in newfoundland through the 

acquisition and assessment of seismic data. Funding for oGdp is provided by the province and the program is 

administered by oil and Gas. total funding available under oGdp is $20.0 million over three years beginning 

in 2010. as at december 31, 2010, $5.0 million has been received from the province of which $2.1 million  

(2009 - nil) has been recorded as deferred credits.

(h) on February 3, 2010, the province established the trust with churchill Falls as the beneficiary. the purpose of 

this trust is to fund the external costs and expenses in relation to the motion filed by churchill Falls seeking 

a modification to the pricing terms of the 1969 power contract. to date, $0.8 million has been received and  

$0.2 million has been accrued as due from the trust.



(i) prior to January 1, 2009, the provincial Minister of Finance was authorized to invest any surplus from Bull 

arm Fabrication’s operations. each year, the surplus or deficit from operations was credited or charged to 

the distribution payable to the province, however, there are no set terms of payment. the balance contains 

the accumulated results of operations of Bull arm Fabrication since inception up to January 1, 2009, less any 

distributions paid to the province. effective January 1, 2009, earnings are to be retained and are reported as 

retained earnings. as at december 31, 2010, $0.8 million (2009 - $0.8 million) of distributions payable to the 

province are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Bull arm Fabrication also has a payable to 

the province of $0.3 million (2009 - $0.3 million) related to costs incurred prior to the transfer of Bull arm 

Fabrication to nalcor.

(j) nalcor, as the operator of the exploits assets, has a net payable to the province of $5.7 million  

(2009 - $6.0 million) which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. nalcor operates these assets 

on behalf of the province on a cost recovery basis.

(k) under the terms and conditions of the churchill Falls (labrador) corporation (lease) act, 1961, churchill 

Falls must pay rentals and royalties to the province annually. as at december 31, 2010, $5.6 million  

(2009 - $3.7 million) was payable.

(l) Hydro received contributions in aid of construction from the province related to wind feasibility studies. as at 

december 31, 2010, $0.1 million (2009 - $0.2 million) has been recorded as a deferred capital contribution.

21.  WATER MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

in June 2007, the province passed an amendment to the electrical power control act, 1994 (epca). the amendment 

requires parties, that utilize a common water resource in the province for power production, to enter into a water 

management agreement. the amendment provides that any resulting water management agreement will not 

adversely affect existing power contracts. churchill Falls shares the churchill River with a nalcor energy proposed 

hydro-electric generation development downstream from churchill Falls. on March 9, 2010, the puB issued a Board 

order establishing a water management agreement between the parties.

22. LOWER CHuRCHILL HYDROELECTRIC DEVELOPMENT

on november 18, 2010, a term sheet was executed between nalcor and emera inc. (emera) to develop Muskrat 

Falls, a hydroelectric development on the lower churchill River in labrador, and related transmission assets. the 

agreement will result in the development of the 824 MW Muskrat Falls site, with power being transmitted over a new 

transmission line (the labrador-island transmission link) to be constructed from labrador across the strait of Belle 

isle to the avalon peninsula on the island of newfoundland, and the development of a new transmission system 

(the Maritime transmission link) from newfoundland to nova scotia, for the provision of power to emera in nova 

scotia and the provision of market access to nalcor. nalcor will also obtain transmission access in nova scotia, new 

Brunswick, and Maine from emera. the project has a total estimated capital cost of $6.2 billion (excluding capitalized 

financing costs). emera will fund an estimated $1.8 billion representing a 49% interest in the transmission assets.  

the remaining estimated $4.4 billion will be funded by nalcor representing a 100% interest in the Muskrat Falls 

generating facility and its interest in the transmission assets.  
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the parties continue to work towards final agreements. completion of engineering, financing activities and regulatory 

approvals are required in order to make a final decision to proceed. 

23.  SuBSEquENT EVENTS

(a) in January 2011, Hydro entered into nine forward contracts with a notional value of $35.7 million to hedge the 

foreign exchange risk on usd electricity sales. in February 2011, Hydro also entered into 20 swap contracts with 

a notional value of $27.8 million to hedge the commodity price risk on electricity sales.

(b) in February 2011, oil and Gas entered into 11 swap contracts with a notional value of $17.4 million to hedge 

the commodity price risk on the sale of crude oil.

(c) on February 17, 2011, oil and Gas announced that it no longer intends to drill the third of a three well drilling 

program related to its exploration licenses in parson’s pond on the West coast of newfoundland. oil and Gas 

is currently evaluating the data obtained from the first two wells in determining its next steps in exploring in  

this area.

(d) in March 2011, nalcor renegotiated the terms of its credit facility with its banker in order achieve alignment 

with its revised short-term working capital needs. the facility has been converted to a demand operating 

facility with a limit of $100.0 million, with no change in the financial covenants (note 14). Borrowings will 

continue to be available in the form of prime Rate advances, Bas and letters of credit. Borrowings in usd may 

take the form of Base Rate advances and letters of credit. 

24. COMPARATIVE FIGuRES

the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the 2010 financial statement presentation including 

interest and finance charges, other gains and losses, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
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fiNaNCial statistiCs

Years ended December 31 (millions of dollars) 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

operatiNg results           

revenue           

 energy sales 588.8 561.6  563.3  567.5  541.8 

 interest and finance income 18.0  18.2  27.5  21.6  23.2 

 other 13.3	 10.3  7.0  5.9  6.2 

  620.1   590.1  597.8  595.0  571.2 

expenses           

 fuels and power purchased 184.8 202.3  205.8  197.6  193.4 

  operations and administration 182.6   171.3  148.2  143.1  130.4 

 interest and finance charges 105.1	 102.3  105.7  122.0  128.9 

 amortization and depletion 67.5  54.9  53.2  50.7  48.5 

 other gains and losses 2.6  (0.7)  -    -    - 

 write down of assets 	-     -    2.7   -    - 

  542.6  530.1  515.6  513.4  501.2 

Net income 77.5  60.0  82.2  81.6  70.0 

Contributions to net income            

 hydro regulated 6.5	 17.9  9.0  2.9  (6.7)

 energy Marketing 48.9	 34.0  47.8  49.9  48.6 

 Churchill falls 26.8 11.7  20.8  25.1  26.4 

 oil and gas 	(2.5)  (2.4)  (0.1)  -      - 

 other 	(2.2)  (1.2)  4.7   3.7   1.7 

fiNaNCial positioN           

total current assets 227.6	 225.4  210.9  187.5  196.4 

total current liabilities 282.1  255.6  280.0  355.3  201.5 

Net working capital (54.5) (30.2) (69.1) (167.8) (5.1)

property, plant and equipment 3044.7	 2,927.2  2,848.5  2,764.7  2,684.7 

accumulated depreciation 1,076.0  1,025.5  985.1  939.0  893.2 

property, plant and equipment, net 1,968.7  1,901.7  1,863.4  1,825.7  1,791.5 

petroleum and natural gas properties 269.2	 193.8  112.1   -     -   

sinking funds 208.4	 179.6  163.9  151.8  117.1 

other assets 130.9	 130.2  124.7  121.3  127.3 

long-term debt 1,136.7	 1,141.6  1,175.7  1,187.8  1,394.7 

other liabilities 120.6	 91.5  84.8  65.4  61.7 

shareholder’s equity 1,265.4  1,142.0  934.5  677.8  574.4 

Capital eXpeNditures 196.3	 178.1  205.5  86.5  60.9 

staffiNg levels           

full-time equivalents 1,263.0 1,241.0 1,185.0 1,173.0 1,147.0 



Years ended December 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
iNstalled geNeratiNg CapaCity (rated megawatts)     
Churchill falls  5,428  5,428 5,428 5,428 5,428
twin falls  225  225 225 225 225
hydro     
      hydraulic  939  939 939 939 939
      thermal  640  640 640 640 640
      diesel  58  58 56 56 56
Menihek*  19  19 19 19 -
wind** (ramea) 0.30  - - - -
total 7,309 7,309 7,307 7,307 7,289
eleCtriC eNergy geNerated, Net (gigawatt hours gwh)     
Churchill falls  33,781  30,361  34,847  33,254  34,663 
hydro     
      hydraulic  4,274  4,200  4,772  4,689  4,802 
      thermal  792  930  1,071  1,243  730 
      diesel   43  46  47  43  42 
Menihek*  37  40  41  13  -
wind ** (ramea) 0.06  - - - -
total 38,927  35,577  40,778  39,242  40,237 
eleCtriC eNergy sales (gwh)     
Churchill falls export  28,966   25,870   30,007   28,566   29,835 
hydro     
        utility  5,016  5,108  4,960  4,991  4,617 
        rural  884  931  909  888  834 
        industrial  729  576  1,124  1,136  1,145 
        export 	1,457  1,575  1,393  1,489  1,483 
Menihek* export  37  40  41  13  -
twin falls industrial  1,772  1,591  1,801  1,678  1,801 
total 38,861  35,691  40,235  38,761  39,715 
petroleuM aNd Natural gas properties     
oil production (thousands barrels of oil equivalent (boe)/day)     
        North amethyst*** 0.51 - - - -
remaining reserves (proven and probable) (Millions boe)     
        North amethyst 2.97 3.65 - - -
        west white rose 1.80 1.80 - - -
        hibernia southern extension 17.95 - - - - 
traNsMissioN liNes (kilometres)     
Churchill falls     
    735 kv 608  608  608  608  608 
    230 kv 431  431  431  431  431 
hydro     
    230 kv 1,608  1,608  1,608  1,608  1,608 
    138 kv 1,500  1,500  1,500  1,500  1,500 
       69 kv 634  634  634  634  634 
Menihek*     
       69 kv 39  39  39  39          -
total 4,820  4,820  4,820  4,820  4,781 
peaK deMaNd (megawatts)     
Churchill falls  5,604   5,515  4,501  5,575  5,587 
hydro system  1,305   1,390  1,323  1,323  1,310 
     
* operations commenced october 1, 2007.    ** three 100 kilowatt turbines installed in 2010.    *** first oil was may 31, 2010.     

operatiNg statistiCs
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Corporate goverNaNCe

Board of Directors
nalcor energy’s Board of directors is comprised of six members, including the chair of the Board and the president 

and ceo of nalcor energy. the Board, chaired by John ottenheimer*, has four active committees: audit, corporate 

Governance, compensation and safety, Health and environment.

the principal functions of the Board include:

(a)  developing nalcor’s approach to corporate governance;

(b)  reviewing and approving the business, financial, strategic and other plans to enable nalcor to execute  

its strategy;

(c)  adopting processes for monitoring the company’s progress toward its strategic and operational goals;

(d)  approving the audited financial statements and Management’s discussion and analysis;

(e)  ensuring that Management has a process for identifying the principal business risks;

(f)  overseeing the integrity of the internal control systems;

(g)  ensuring that nalcor has processes for operating within applicable laws and regulations;

(h) ensuring the company has a compensation philosophy and framework;

(i)  ensuring a process is in place to measure the performance of senior executives of nalcor;

(j)  ensuring Management creates a culture of integrity throughout the organization; and

(k)  ensuring that succession plans are in place for senior Management, including the president and ceo.

the Board met 12 times in 2010, in addition to committee meetings. director attendance at Board and committee 

meetings in 2010:

directors board audit Corporate Compensation  safety, health   
  of directors   governance  and environment

Number of Meetings Held 12 4 1 5 2

john ottenheimer* 11 4 1 5 2

ed Martin 12    

Cathy bennett 12  1  2

tom Clift 11  1 5 2

Ken Marshall 12 4  5 

gerry shortall 12 4 1  

*Resigned March 30, 2011

nalcor has the following subsidiary companies, each with their own independent Board of directors. in each case 

there is at least one independent member of the nalcor Board on the subsidiary Boards.

•  newfoundland and labrador Hydro

•  churchill Falls (labrador) corporation

•  nalcor energy - oil & Gas inc.

•  nalcor energy - Bull arm Fabrication inc.

the Board’s independent directors regularly meet as part of scheduled meetings at which non-independent 

directors including members of Management are not present.



Corporate goverNaNCe

Audit Committee
the audit committee is comprised of three independent directors. all members of the committee are required to 

have a basic understanding of finance and accounting and be able to read and understand financial statements, and 

at least one member of the committee shall have accounting or related financial management expertise at a level 

of sophistication similar to that of nalcor. the committee is comprised of Gerald shortall (chair), Ken Marshall and 

John ottenheimer.

the audit committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to:

(a)  monitor the integrity of nalcor’s financial statements, financial reporting process and systems of  

internal controls;

(b)  identify and monitor the management of the principal risks that could impact the financial reporting of  

the company;

(c)  appoint, approve compensation, and monitor the independence and performance of the external auditors;

(d)  provide oversight over the internal audit function;

(e)  monitor the compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

(f)  facilitate communication among the external auditors, nalcor’s internal audit department, Management and 

the Board.

the audit committee has the authority to conduct any investigation appropriate to fulfilling its responsibilities, and 

it has direct access to the independent auditors. subject to Board approval, the audit committee may retain, at 

nalcor’s expense, special legal, accounting, or other consultants or experts it deems necessary in the performance 

of its duties.

the committee regularly meets separately with the external auditor and nalcor’s internal audit department and 

Management. the committee also regularly meets in-camera with only the committee members present.

Corporate Governance Committee
the corporate Governance committee consists of three directors as determined by the Board, all of whom shall be 

independent. the committee is comprised of: tom clift (chair), cathy Bennett and Gerald shortall. the corporate 

Governance committee is responsible for the following:

(a)  developing governance principles for nalcor and its subsidiaries that are consistent with high standards of 

corporate governance;

(b)  identifying and recommending candidates for appointment to the Board for approval by the shareholder; and 

(c)  reviewing and recommending a process for director orientation and assessment.
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Compensation Committee
the compensation committee is comprised of three members, all of whom shall be independent directors. the 

committee provides oversight of all compensation and human resources issues for nalcor and its subsidiaries. the 

committee is comprised of: Ken Marshall (chair), tom clift and John ottenheimer. the primary responsibilities of the 

committee include:

(a)  undertake an annual performance review of the president and ceo;

(b)  review and assess nalcor’s succession planning policies and practices;

(c)  establish and maintain a compensation philosophy and framework;

(d)  review and assess compensation and benefit policies and programs and pension plans;

(e)  review collective bargaining mandates and any proposed tentative settlement; and

(f)  review performance management practices and procedures.

subject to the approval of the Board of directors, the committee may engage outside legal and technical specialists 

to assist the committee in the discharge of their duties and responsibilities.

Safety, Health and Environment Committee
the safety, Health and environment committee consists of three directors as determined by the Board, all of whom 

shall be independent. the committee is comprised of: cathy Bennett (chair), tom clift and John ottenheimer. the 

safety, Health and environment committee’s primary responsibilities include:

(a)  reviewing and reporting to the Board of directors on the company’s maintenance of safety, environment and 

health policies, procedures and practices; 

(b)  reviewing with Management whether the company’s safety, environment and health policies are being 

effectively implemented and are in compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements; 

(c)  reviewing the findings of reports arising from internal and external audits and assessments of safety, 

environment and health issues, together with Management’s response;  

(d)  reviewing with Management the impact of proposed legislation in matters of safety, environment and health 

on the operations of the company;

(e)  reviewing with Management and making recommendations to the Board of directors as appropriate, on the 

company’s safety, environment and health policies and procedures and any other matters relating to the safety, 

environment and health that it considers relevant.



Independence 
nalcor energy has a director independence policy consisting of:

(a)  a majority of the Board of directors, including the Board chair shall be independent;

(b)  all the members of the Board’s committees shall be independent;

(c)  directors are required to provide a formal declaration indicating that they satisfy the independence criteria;

(d)  directors have a responsibility to discuss any potential conflicts that might impact their independence with the 

Board chair or the chair of the corporate Governance committee;

(e)  if directors do not satisfy the independence criteria, they should not participate in any discussion or voting 

relating to matters that contribute to the independence issue.

Policy on Independence of External Auditors
nalcor energy has an auditor independence policy that governs all aspects of nalcor’s relationship with the external 

auditor, including:

(a)  establishing a process for determining whether various audit and other services provided by the external 

auditor affects their independence;

(b)  identifying the services that the external auditor may and may not provide to nalcor;

(c)  pre-approving all services to be provided by the external auditor to the company;

(d)  establishing a process for hiring current or former personnel of the external auditor in a financial oversight role 

to ensure auditor independence is maintained.

External Auditor’s Fees
the external auditor of nalcor and its subsidiaries is deloitte & touche llp. deloitte has been the external 

auditor since 2003. professional fees incurred in 2010 in connection with audit and audit-related service were  

$320,000 (2009 - $295,000) and fees related to non-audit services were $53,000 (2009 - $179,000).

Corporate goverNaNCe
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legend 
Hydroelectric 
Generation Station 

Thermal Plant

Diesel Plant

Wind Generation

Industrial Fabrication 

Offshore and Onshore 
Oil Projects

* Operated under license from the 
Government of Newfoundland 
and Labrador

key financial highlights

Years ended December 31 (millions of dollars) 2010 2009

Revenues  620.1  572.6

Net income 77.5			 60.0

Capital assets, net 2,237.9 2,095.5

Long-term debt 1,136.7	 1,141.6

Shareholder’s equity 1,265.4 1,142.0

Dividends -  -

Capital Expenditures 196.3	 178.1

Debt to capital 43.0% 47.0%

Return on capital employed 8.7% 7.7%

Funds from operations to debt 13.6% 10.2%

Vision: Our vision is to build a strong economic future for successive 

generations of Newfoundlanders and Labradorians. 

Values: At Nalcor Energy, our employees share a set of values that shape 

how we do business every day. Our core values set common direction on 

how to make decisions with a sense of pride and leadership. We recognize 

that it is not only what we achieve, but how we achieve it that truly makes 

us proud of our accomplishments. We believe our core values develop a 

culture based on high standards and expectations. We feel empowered to 

challenge the norms and seize new opportunities while working towards  

our corporate vision. 

Nalcor Energy is a proud, diverse energy company, whose people are 

committed to building a bright future for Newfoundland and Labrador, unified 

by our core values. 

open communication - Fostering an environment where information moves 

freely in a timely manner

accountability - Holding ourselves responsible for our actions and performance

safety - Relentless commitment to protecting ourselves, our colleagues and 

our community

honesty and trust - Being sincere in everything we say and do

teamwork - Sharing our ideas in an open and supportive manner to 

achieve excellence

Respect and Dignity - Appreciating the individuality of others by our words 

and actions

leadership - Empowering individuals to help guide and inspire others
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key accomplishments at a glance 

safety: to be a safety leader

• Safety lead/lag ratio target exceeded (ratio of safety observations to incidents).

• Lost-time injuries reduced 50% over 2010.

• Safe Workplace Observation Program (SWOP) reporting reached 6,883 SWOPs.

• Hydro’s Work Protection Code implemented and 100% of required personnel trained.

environment: to be an environmental leader

• Churchill Falls completed 100% of its Environmental Management System targets 

and milestones.

• takeCHARGE energy efficiency programs resulted in almost seven gigawatt hours 

of energy savings from Hydro retail customers and its own facilities.

Business excellence: through operational excellence, provide exceptional 
value to all consumers of our energy

• Implemented new asset management plan and structure.

• Hydro achieved almost 98% winter availability for key electricity generating assets. 

• Hydro achieved overall customer satisfaction rating of 92%, up from 91% in 2009.

• Long-term plan started in Churchill Falls for the renewal of production assets.

• The White Rose Growth Project – North Amethyst field commenced production 

from the first of its subsea wells. 

• Completed drilling of two onshore exploration wells in Parsons Pond, reaching a 

record depth of 3,160 metres.

• Arrangements concluded to develop the Muskrat Falls generating facility, the 

Labrador-Island Transmission Link and the Maritime Link, including execution of 

a Term Sheet with Emera.

• Initialled the Lower Churchill Impacts and Benefits Agreement and Upper Churchill 

Redress with the Innu Nation of Labrador. 

people: to ensure a highly skilled and motivated team of employees who 
are committed to nalcor energy’s success and future direction

• Signed collective agreements with International Brotherhood of Electrical 

Workers Locals 1615 (Hydro) and 2351 (Churchill Falls).

• Achieved 3.74 Employee Opinion Score, exceeding the target score of 3.65.

• Employee recognition programs resulted in 2,400 peer recognitions and 11 

employees presented with prestigious President’s Awards. 

• Rolled out new Code of Conduct and Business Ethics policy across the company.

community: to be a valued corporate citizen in newfoundland and labrador

• Awarded over $40,000 in scholarships to Newfoundland and Labrador youth.

• Nalcor and Hydro made major financial commitments to the Libra House 

emergency shelter, Ronald McDonald House Newfoundland and Labrador, 

provincial winter games and many other charitable organizations.

• Employees donated more than $50,000 to charitable organizations, supported by 

the company’s Employee Matching and Volunteer Contribution Programs.

nalcorenergy.com
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